
West Devon Development 
Management and Licensing 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 12th December, 2017

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Sanders
Vice Chairman Cllr Roberts

Members: Cllr Baldwin
Cllr Cann OBE
Cllr Hockridge
Cllr Mott

Cllr Moyse
Cllr Parker
Cllr Pearce
Cllr Yelland

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Kathy Trant  Specialist - Democratic Services 01803 861185



Page No

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable pecuniary 
interests, including the nature and extent of such interests they may have 
in any items to be considered at this meeting.

[If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination, bias or 
interests in items on this Agenda, then please contact the Monitoring 
Officer in advance of the meeting] 

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention
To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any).  

4.  Confirmation of Minutes
Development Management & Licensing Meeting held on 14 
November 2017

Licensing Sub Committee Meeting held on 28 September 2017

Licensing Sub Committee Meetings held on 8 November 2017

1 - 18

5.  Planning Applications
To see Letters of Representation and further supplementary 
information relating to any of the planning applications on the 
agenda, please select the following link and enter the relevant 
Reference number: http://westdevon.gov.uk/searchlanding

19 - 32

6.  Planning Appeals Update 33 - 36

7.  Approval of policy in relation to the licensing of Taxi 
drivers and vehicles 

37 - 124

http://westdevon.gov.uk/searchlanding


At a Meeting of the DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT & LICENSING 
COMMITTEE held at the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Kilworthy 
Park, Drake Road, TAVISTOCK on TUESDAY the 14th day of 
NOVEMBER 2017 at 10.00am 

 
Present:   Cllr P R Sanders – Chairman 
    Cllr A Roberts – Vice-Chairman 
     
   Cllr R E Baldwin  Cllr W G Cann OBE 
   Cllr L J G Hockridge  Cllr C Mott  
   Cllr D E Moyse  Cllr G Parker  
   Cllr T G Pearce  Cllr J Yelland 

    
    
   COP Lead Development Management (PW) 
   Planning Specialist (CS) 
   Solicitor (SN) 
   Specialist Assets (RJ) 
   Highways Officer (PT) 

Specialist Democratic Services (KT) 
 

In attendance: Cllrs B Lamb and T Leech 
 
 
*DM&L 31 DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business 
to be considered and the following were made: 

 
Cllr T G Pearce declared a personal interest in all applications, by virtue 
of being a Member of the Devon Building Control Partnership.  He 
remained in the meeting and took part in the debate and vote on each 
item; 
 
Cllr D E Moyse declared a personal interest in application 4161/16/OPA: 
Outline planning application with all matters reserved for construction of 
4 dwellings – Land at SX516892, opposite Springfield Park, Bridestowe, 
by virtue of the applicants being known to her and being related to one 
of the speakers.  She remained in the meeting and took part in the 
debate and vote; 
 
Cllr A Roberts declared a personal interest in application 4161/16/OPA; 
Outline planning application with all matters reserved for construction of 
4 dwellings – Land at SX516892, opposite Springfield Park, Bridestowe, 
by virtue of knowing the applicants.  She remained in the meeting and 
took part in the debate and vote; 
 
Cllr C Mott declared a personal interest in application 4161/16/OPA: 
Outline planning application with all matters reserved for construction of 
4 dwellings – Land at SX516892, opposite Springfield Park, Bridestowe, 
by virtue of being a member of Bridestowe Parish Council.  She 
remained in the meeting and took part in the debate and vote; 
 
 
 



Cllr P R Sanders declared a personal interest in application 
3080/17/FUL: Erection of rear extension to provide gymnasium and 
fitness studio, together with other alterations, to allow the upgrade and 
refurbishment of the Leisure Centre facilities – Meadowlands Leisure 
Pool, The Wharf, Tavistock, by virtue of being a member of Tavistock 
Town Council.  He had taken no part in the vote at the Town Council and 
therefore remained in the meeting and took part in the debate and vote. 

 
 
*DM&L 32 URGENT BUSINESS 

The Chairman advised that application 1987/17/FUL:  Erection of a 2 
storey 3 bedroomed house, a separate single garage and parking for 2 
vehicles – Hayfield House, Hayfield Road, Exbourne, was deferred from 
this meeting for further information and would be presented to the 
Committee on a later date. 

 
 
*DM&L 33 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Development Management and Licensing Committee 
Meeting held on 17 October 2017 were confirmed and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 

 
 
*DM&L 34 PLANNING PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The COP Lead Development Management presented the latest set of 
Performance Indicators and outlined the key information for Members 
consideration.  He advised Members that a Specialist had been 
appointed to the planning enforcement team. 

 
 
*DM&L 35 PLANNING, LISTED BUILDING, TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 

AND ENFORCEMENT REPORTS 
The Committee considered the applications prepared by the 
Development Management Specialists and considered also the 
comments of Town and Parish Councils together with other 
representations received, which were listed within the presented agenda 
reports and summarised below, and RESOLVED: 

 
(a) Application No:  4161/16/OPA  Ward: Bridestowe 

 
Site Address:  Land at SX516892, opposite Springfield Park, 

Bridestowe  
  
Planning application with all matters reserved for construction of 4 
dwellings 

 
Case Officer Update:  6 further letters of objection received since the 
agenda was published but no new issues raised 
 
Speakers included: Objector – Ms Rachel Colenutt:  Supporter – Mr Ed 
Persse:  Parish Council representative – Cllr John Leonard:  Ward 
Members – Cllrs Mott and Hockridge 

 
 



RECOMMENDATION:   That delegated authority be given to the CoP 
Lead in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee to approve the 
application subject to the conditions listed below and the prior 
satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Agreement. 
 
However, in the event that the Section 106 legal agreement remains 
unsigned six months after this resolution, that the application is reviewed 
by the CoP Lead, in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, 
and if no progress is being made delegated authority is given to the CoP 
Lead to refuse the application in the absence of an agreed s106 
Agreement. 
 
During discussion, one of the local Ward Members requested that 
additional conditions be applied to the permission, being a requirement 
for a Construction Management Plan (to regulate delivery times and 
hours of work) and removal of PD rights.  The additional conditions were 
PROPOSED, SECONDED and on being put to the vote declared 
CARRIED. 
 
COMMITTEE DECISION:   That delegated authority be given to the CoP 
Lead in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee to approve the 
application subject to the conditions listed below and the prior 
satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Agreement 
 
However, in the event that the Section 106 legal agreement remains 
unsigned six months after this resolution, that the application is reviewed 
by the CoP Lead, in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, 
and if no progress is being made delegated authority is given to the CoP 
Lead to refuse the application in the absence of an agreed s106 
Agreement. 
 

 
Conditions: 
1.  Standard time limit for outline permission 
2. Reserved matters details 
3. Adherence to plans 
4. Percolation testing/results and subsequent SuDS detail prior to 

commencement 
5. Fould disposal details prior to commencement 
6. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan prior to 

commencement 
7. Unsuspected contamination 
8. Completion of highways infrastructure works prior to first use 
9. Construction Management Plan to be agreed 
10. Removal of PD rights 

 
 
 

(b) Application: 3080/17/FUL Ward:  Tavistock North 
 

Site Address: Meadowlands Leisure Pool, The Wharf, Tavistock 
  
Erection of rear extension to provide gymnasium and fitness studio, 
together with other alterations, to allow the upgrade and refurbishment 
of the Leisure Centre facilities  



 
Case Officer Update: update to recommendation to refer any 
further conditions deemed necessary by DCC Archaeology 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   That delegated authority be given to the CoP 
Lead in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee to approve the 
application subject to the addition of any condition deemed necessary 
following receipt of comments from DCC Archaeologist 
 
During discussion, Members raised concerns over the impact of the 
construction of the proposal on surrounding car parking facilities.  
Members felt that a Construction Management Plan would assist and 
therefore a condition was added to that effect. 
 
COMMITTEE DECISION:  That delegated authority be given to the CoP 
Lead in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee to approve the 
application subject to the addition of any condition deemed necessary 
following receipt of comments from DCC Archaeologist 
 
Conditions: 
1. Time Limit 
2. Accord with plans 
3. Landscape scheme 
4. Recommendations of ecology report 
5. Construction Management Plan to be agreed 
6. Any condition deemed necessary by DCC Archaeologist 

 
 
(c) Application:  2691/17/HHO Ward:  Buckland Monachorum 
 
Site Address: Covert House, Yelverton 
  
Extension to dwelling and erection of machinery store 

 
Case Officer Update: None 
 
Speakers included: Supporter – Mr Kim Greeno 

 
RECOMMENDATION:   Conditional Approval 
 
During discussion, Members commented on the high quality design of 
the proposal.  One Member asked that an additional condition be 
included that a Landscaping Plan be agreed. 
 
COMMITTEE DECISION:  Conditional Approval 

 
  Conditions: 

1. Time limit 
2. Accordance to plans 
3. Materials samples to be submitted and agreed 
4. To be used ancillary to the main house, no commercial or business 

use 
5. Landscaping plan to be agreed 

 

  



  

*DM&L 36 PLANNING APPEALS UPDATE 
The Committee received and noted the updated list of Planning Appeals 
including enforcement appeals.   
 
 
 
 

(The Meeting terminated at 12.15pm) 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated this      
 

______________________ 
Chairman 

 





MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD 
AT THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL OFFICES, KILWORTHY PARK, 

DRAKE ROAD, TAVISTOCK ON THURSDAY 28 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

Present:       Cllr P Sanders  
                     Cllr J Yelland   
                     Cllr D Moyse 

Sue Nightingale, Solicitor 
Naomi Stacey, Specialist Licensing 
 
Kathy Hoare, Senior Case Manager 

 

 

 

Members also in attendance: 
 

Cllr J Moody 
 

Also in attendance and participating: 
 
Nicola Henderson- Police representative 
Mr Paul Matthews – Applicant 
Mr Steve Brennan – Applicant 
Cllr M Ewings (TTC) 

                       Mr Palfrey 
                       Mr Coombes 
                       Mrs Shulberg 

 
 

 

*LSC3           APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN RESOLVED 

That Cllr Sanders be appointed Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 

 

 

*LSC4        TO DETERMINE AN APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES 
LICENCE AT 8C WEST STREET, TAVISTOCK, PL19 8AD 

 

The Sub Committee considered a report that sought to determine an 
application for a new premises licence at 8C West Street, Tavistock. 
The Chairman read out the order of the process.  

 

The Licensing Officer proceeded to present the application and the 
contents of her report. She stated the police had concerns as to the 
opening times but with amendments they were satisfied and withdrew their 
concerns. However, there was no withdrawal of representation from 
neighbours. The Licensing Officer stated that the applicants would need to 
seek planning permission if the licence was granted & that the applicants 
were aware of this.  

 

 

 

1.   Address by Mr Paul Matthews, the applicant 
 

 

The applicants made the following points during his presentation: 



He had sent out letters to neighbouring properties explaining his intent 
in applying for a licence.   Although Tavistock Town Council had 
objected in regard to the fire escape not being suitable, the fire brigade 
had not raised any issues.  At this point the Chairman of the Licensing 
Sub-Committee stated that although as Mayor of Tavistock Town 
Council he could serve on the Town Council’s planning committee, he 
had chosen not to. The applicant went on to explain how the 
conservatory roof would be insulated to sound proof and that this part of 
the building would only be used as storage space. The building had 
previously been used as a sound studio and was therefore 
soundproofed. Deliveries would be taken from the front entrance located 
on West Street. 2 SIA door staff would be employed on a Friday and 
Saturday from 8pm until close.   
Drinkers would not be allowed to take drinks off the premises. 
 
In response to members’ questions they explained that the type of 
dancing was to be informal. He foresaw around 100 people maximum 
attending in the building on an evening. The PIR lighting system at the 
rear would only activate when the back door was opened. This door 
would only be used in case of an emergency.  

 
 

 

          2  Address by Mrs Shulberg, local resident & representing other 
residents  

 
           Concerns for residential properties neighbouring the premises. Already   
           dealing with problems of drunkenness, noise and people urinating and  
           vomiting in doorways of Garden Lane & West Street. Concerns for sound 
           proofing of conservatory roof in correct manner. Concern for possible 

                          noise from of the collection of empty bottles. 
                        In response, the applicant confirmed the roof would meet 
                       correct sound proofing recommendations. Empties would be collected  
                       from the front of the property at the same time as other premises in  
                       West Street receive their collections.  
              
 

 

 

         3   Address by Mr Coombes  
 

 

Mr Coombes raised concerned at the close proximity of his home to the 
premises. He also questioned the volume of music, the delivery and 
collection of bottles and the current issues with drunken behaviour in 
and around the residential area of Garden Lane. 
 

 

 

 

 

         4   Address by Mr Palfrey  
      
          The Chairman declared that he knew Mr Palfrey as they both served on  
          Tavistock Town Council.  
          Mr Palfrey spoke on behalf of himself as a resident. 



          He raised concerns of possible increased noise levels and  
                        the ongoing issues with anti-social behaviour in the area and the  
                       effect on residents. He also voiced concern as to the age of those  
                       the establishment would attract even though it was aimed at an older 
                       age range.  
                    
 
                       Further debate took place in regard to smokers and the lack of a 
                       designated smoking area on the premises. People smoking in 
                       doorways along the whole of West Street was deemed a problem.  
                       The Police and the Street Pastors were aware of issues of anti-social 
                       behaviour in West Street.  
                   

        

 

 

(At 11.50am, the Sub-Committee adjourned in the presence of Sue 
Nightingale to consider the application. The Sub Committee reconvened 
at 12.32pm) 

 

 

 

         5   The Decision 
 

         The Chairman read out the following statement: 
 

            “We have considered the application for a new premises licence.  
 

            We have considered the Statement of Licensing Policy, the government  
            guidance and our obligations that relate to the promotion of the     
            licensing objectives. 
 
            We have read carefully the written representations from all parties, plus 
            additional statements from persons here today. We have also  
            considered the additional conditions proposed by the Police and  
            accepted by the Applicant. 

          It is our decision to grant this application subject to the following  
         changes being incorporated into the operating schedule and to include 
         the additional conditions requested by the Police. We have determined 
         the changes to be appropriate to achieve the licensing objectives: 
 

1.     The rear door leading to the spiral staircase must be secured at all times and  
    only used in the case of emergencies. 

2.       The outside light must only be used in the case of emergencies.   

 

Thank you all” 
 
  
    
      

 

                                                                                                                                                           ______________ 

Chairman 



 



MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD 
AT THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL OFFICES, KILWORTHY PARK, 

DRAKE ROAD, TAVISTOCK ON WEDNESDAY 8 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

Present:       Cllr P Sanders  
                     Cllr T Pearce   
                     Cllr C Edmonds 
                     Cllr C Mott 
                     Cllr A Roberts 

Sue Nightingale, Solicitor 
                       Naomi Stacey, Specialist Licensing 

Kathy Hoare, Senior Case Manager 
 

 

Also in attendance and participating: 
 

                       The applicant 
                        
                      
 

*LSC5           APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN RESOLVED 

That Cllr Sanders be appointed Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 

 

 

*LSC6        TO DETERMINE WHETHER AN APPLICANT FOR A HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVING LICENCE IS A ‘FIT AND 
PROPER PERSON’ 

 

The Sub Committee considered a report that sought to determine 
whether an applicant for a hackney carriage and private hire licence is 
a ‘fit and proper person’. The Chairman read out the order of the 
process.  

 

The Licensing Officer proceeded to present the reasons why this 
application was brought to committee.  

 

 

 

1.   Address by the applicant 
 

 

The applicant made a number of points in his presentation and responded 
to questions from Members of the Committee. 

 

       
 

(At 10.45am, the Sub-Committee adjourned in the presence of the 
solicitor to consider the application. The Sub Committee reconvened at 
11.25pm) 

 

 

         2   The Decision 
 

         The Chairman announced the decision as follows: 
 

            “Members of the Licensing Sub-Committee have considered very  



             carefully your application for a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
             Driver Licence. 

 
 
 

The Committee has decided to REFUSE your application for a Joint  
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licence.  
 
 
                   

       

 
     
      

                                                                                                                                                           ______________ 

Chairman



 





MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD 
AT THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL OFFICES, KILWORTHY PARK, 

DRAKE ROAD, TAVISTOCK ON WEDNESDAY 8  NOVEMBER 2017 
 

Present:       Cllr P Sanders  
                     Cllr A Roberts 
                     Cllr C Mott 

Sue Nightingale, Solicitor 
Naomi Stacey, Specialist Licensing 
Ian Luscombe – Environmental Health Cop Lead 
Kathy Hoare, Senior Case Manager 

 

 

 

Members also in attendance: 
 

Cllr T Pearce 
Cllr C Edmonds  

 

Also in attendance and participating: 
 
Ms L Bronson– Applicant 
Mr K Bryant 
Mr R Prior  

                        
                        
                        

 
 

 

*LSC7           APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN RESOLVED 

That Cllr Sanders be appointed Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 

 

 

*LSC8        TO DETERMINE AN APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES 
LICENCE AT 76 WEST STREET, TAVISTOCK, PL19 8AJ 

 

The Sub Committee considered a report that sought to determine an 
application for a new premises licence at 76 West Street, Tavistock. 
The Chairman read out the order of the process.  

 

The Licensing Officer proceeded to present the application and the 
contents of her report. She confirmed that the applicant had met with the 
Police and agreed to changes in the licensing hours. There were 9 
representations, 5 in support and 4 objections. One objection was 
withdrawn on agreement that works would be carried out to insulate 
against noise. The shop would continue as a furniture shop.  

 

 

 

 

 

1.   Address by Ms Bronson, the applicant 
 

                               Ms Bronson said that objections received were for concern of noise.  
                       She confirmed the venue would be a lounge bar with a guitarist or a  



                       pianist playing and not rock or disco music. The bar would be at the rear  
                       of the building. CCTV cameras would be erected. Noise tests had been 
                       carried out using an application that registers decibels and the readings  
                       were not high and no break out noise was recorded. Objectors 
                       had been invited to view the establishment. Ms Bronson thanked the  
                       Police and the Licensing Specialist for their help with the application. 
                        
                                          

 
 

          2  Address by Mr Bryant – Landlord  
            
           Mr Bryant reiterated that sound tests had been taken to determine 

acceptable levels. He had taken on several renovation projects and was 
prepared to carry out the building works required. In reply to Committee 
members questions Mr Bryant confirmed that nearest residential neighbour 
was approximately 35 meters away. The building was Grade ll listed and 
was in a conservation area. Both Ms Bronson and Mr Bryant voiced their 
concerns that EH had not responded to emails they had sent. 

            
                                                                                                                        

                        
 

         3   Address by Mr Prior – in support of the application 
 
          Mr Prior spoke in support of the application. He confirmed that both Ms 

Bronson and Mr Bryant would take all reasonable steps to prevent noise 
nuisance. 

 
 

                       4   Address by Ian Luscombe – Cop Lead for Environmental Health 
                      

                     Mr Luscombe spoke of concerns about the potential for noise  

                      nuisance from music played at the premises. He explained that these  

                      concerns were based on the Environmental Health Officers’ knowledge 

                      of other establishments in the vicinity and complaints received in regard  

                      to noise. He said communication issues with the Applicant were  

                      unfortunate but was hopeful they could be resolved.  

                 
                        
 

(At 12.25pm, the Sub-Committee adjourned in the presence of Sue 
Nightingale to consider the application. The Sub Committee reconvened 
at 1.00pm) 

 

 

 

         5   The Decision 
 

         The Chairman read out the following statement: 
 

            “We have considered the application for a new premises licence.  
 

            We have considered the Statement of Licensing Policy, the government  
            guidance and our obligations that relate to the promotion of the     
            licensing objectives. 



            We have read carefully the written representations from all parties and  
            additional information given to us today. We have also  
            considered the amendments to hours and additional conditions  
            proposed by the Applicant in agreement with the Police and local  
            residents. 
             

          It is our decision to grant this application subject to the following  
         changes being incorporated into the operating schedule and to include 
         the additional conditions requested by the local resident. We have  
         determined the changes to be APPROPRIATE to achieve 
         the licensing objectives: 
 

1.     A scheme of noise insulation measures provided by an accredited acoustic  
    consultant must be carried out and approved by Environmental Health prior to      
    regulated entertainment being provided to address concerns about public  
    nuisance. 
 

2.    To include the amendments proposed by local residents and accepted by the  
   applicants. 
 
            In addition to being APPROPRIATE the Committee also believed the 
            amendments to be necessary.  

     

 

 

Thank you all” 
 
  
    
      

 

                                                                                                                                                           ______________ 

Chairman 



 



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT  
 
Case Officer:   Matt Jones             Parish:  Buckland Monachorum   Ward:  Buckland Monachorum 
 
Application No:  2844/17/FUL  
 

 

Agent/Applicant: 
Mr Marc Nash 

Floor 4 

Studio 5-11 

5 Millbay Road, Plymouth 

PL1 3LF 

 
 

Applicant: 
Mr & Mrs Liesching 
505 Tavistock Road 
Plymouth 
PL6 7AA 
 

Site Address:    Land at SX 510 668, South of Green Lane, Yelverton, Devon 
 
Development:  Erection of single residential dwelling with associated parking and residential 
amenity area.  
 

Reason item is being put before Committee  
 
The CoP Lead has requested that the application be put before Planning Committee due to the 
divergence from the pre-application advice that was previously given by Council Officers 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Recommendation: Refusal 
 
Reasons for refusal  
 

1. By reason of the site’s location and isolation from services, and the size and design of the 
proposed dwelling, the development constitutes a new residential intervention into the 
countryside which fails to provide safe and suitable access for all, would foster the growth in the 
need to travel by private car, fails to provide a sustainable solution and fails to respond to an 
identified local housing need. The proposal is therefore contrary to West Devon Development 
Plan policies SP1, SP8, SP24 and T5, emerging Joint Local Plan policies STP1, STP2, TTV31 
and DEV8 and paragraphs 7, 8, 9, 17, 32, 34, 35 and 55 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 

 
Key issues for consideration: 
 
The main issues are the principle of development, the access to services, the impact of the proposal 
upon the streetscene, rural character and the AONB designation, neighbour impact, access and 
parking, design and massing, drainage and ecology 
 

 
Site Description: 
 
The application site is an open paddock located within rural Buckland Monachorum Parish. The 
paddock has a relatively new and typically simple access. The highway borders the site to the north, 
with agricultural land to the south and west. To the east is the dwelling ‘Merrilyn’ which is large and 
detached. Merrilyn is the last of a small collection of dwellings located here, on an otherwise rural green 
lane with typical, sporadic residential development further afield. The paddock has typical boundary 
treatments formed of trees and vegetation.  
 
The site is within the Tamar Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and well away from the nearest 
settlement boundary, that being at Crapstone, which is approximately 1.2km to the north east, as the 
crow flies and further by road. 
In 2003 outline consent was refused for residential development under reference 4084/2003/TAV due 
to the impact upon the AONB and due to the site’s location within the countryside. In 2015 an appeal 
was also dismissed for three residential units on the land to the north, on the opposite side of Green 
Lane.  
 
There are notably a number of individual dwellings within the vicinity but this area has never been 
defined by the Council as a settlement as such, and continues to be regarded as an open countryside 
location. Trees on the northern and western boundaries are subject to a Tree Preservation Order.  
 
The Proposal: 
 
Planning consent is sought for the erection of a single 6 bedroom two storey residential dwelling with 
associated parking and residential amenity area.  
 
The proposal reuses and widens the existing vehicular access, and provides a tree lined vehicular 
access track on site, with a large detached 6 bedroom unit located within the north east corner of the 
plot, with the rest of the site given over as residential curtilage. The building is partially set down into 
the land and is finished in natural stone and cladding, under a natural slate roof.  
 
Consultations: 
 

• County Highways Authority   
 
No objection – standing advice  



 

• West Devon Strategic Planning 
 

Objection – ‘The Strategic Planning Team wish to OBJECT to the proposal for the following reasons: 
  
The proposal site is detached from a sustainable rural settlement, with no prospect of accessing local 
services and amenities without relying on use of the private car.  The proposal is in conflict with both 
adopted WD Core Strategy Strategic Policy 24 – Sustainable Rural Communities and the emerging JLP 
policy SPT2 – Sustainable Linked Neighbourhoods and Sustainable Rural Communities.  The aims of 
both of these policies is to deliver new homes in sustainable locations that have a positive relationship 
with the settlement hierarchy of West Devon, enabling safe and secure access to local services and 
facilities via a range of transport modes, in particular locations that enable access to services and 
amenities within a 10 minute walking time, which equates roughly to 800m from village centres.   
  
The proposal site adjoins a small collection of detached dwellings along Green Lane, which does not 
form part of identified sustainable rural settlement. There is no pavement or separate pedestrian 
infrastructure along Green Lane, which is a narrow rural road, and as such the location does not benefit 
from safe or secure walking access to local services or facilities.  The good range of services and 
facilities at Yelverton are around 1.6km away. The more limited services at Crapstone are over 2km on 
the rural road network. A shorter route via Buckland Monachorum footpath 31 means that Crapstone 
could be considered at best 1.5km away, but this involves using footpaths that cross open agricultural 
fields and will be vulnerable to seasonable deterioration, and is not considered to be a practical route 
of access. An examination of potential routes to the nearest settlements concludes that walking is not 
a realistic proposition to access local services and facilities from the proposal site, with little opportunity 
to mitigate for this level of detachment.  
  
The adopted 2011 WD Core Strategy seeks to promote new homes in sustainable locations, preferably 
within or adjoining identified sustainable settlements within the recognised West Devon settlement 
hierarchy. There is also provision for small-scale organic growth in a handful of smaller rural villages, 
as identified in policy H29.  The proposal site is not within or adjoining any identified sustainable village.   
  
Similarly, the emerging Plymouth and South West Joint Local Plan has used an extensive assessment 
framework to identify the most sustainable rural settlements that can support new homes to serve rural 
communities. These are identified in table 5.8, and the proposal site is not within or adjoining any of 
these settlements.  As such, the proposal should be judged against policy TTV31 – Development in the 
Countryside, and policy DEV8 - Meeting Local Housing Need in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy 
Area. 
  
Policy TTV31 does make provision for some small-scale, organic growth within or adjoining smaller 
rural settlements, requiring proposals to demonstrate that it meets an identified local need, and in a 
location that can be considered as sustainable. 
  
The characteristics of the proposal site have already been confirmed as inherently unsustainable, on 
account of its detachment from an identified sustainable settlement, and the over-reliance on the private 
car to access the nearest services and facilities. 
  
In order to understand how an application could meet a local need, DEV8 provides a framework to help 
deliver housing that responds to identified need groups.  The policy seeks to redress identified 
imbalances in the existing housing stock, and housing most suited to younger people, working families 
and older people who wish to retain a sense of self-sufficiency.   
  
The proposal does not seek to redress and imbalance within the local housing stock, as it seeks to 
replicate the large-detached dwellings that proliferate in the immediate area, although few are as large 
as the 6-bed dwelling proposed.   
  



Much has been made of appeal decision relating to adjacent site - APP/Q1153/W/3145211 – which 
concluded that the appeal site was in a sustainable location for new development.  However, the plan-
led system does not and should not make decisions based on individual appeal rulings, but on adopted 
and evidence-based planning policies appropriate to the local planning authority.  Without seeking to 
undermine the credibility of that particular appeal decision, the inspector in question conceded that local 
services and facilities could be accessed ‘by a short car trip’, and that it was unlikely that any resident 
living in this location would seek to walk to nearby settlements.  It is widely acknowledged, by the likes 
of the World Health Organisation, and Sustrans amongst others, that short car journeys are 
proportionately the worst type of journey for increasing carbon emissions, reducing air quality and 
negatively impacting on human health.  
 
As such, allowing a dwelling in this location, and understanding the travel patterns that will result from 
this, would have a disproportionately negative impact on the environment and human health.  The 
adopted CS and emerging JLP both identify sustainable rural locations for new homes, using an 
assessment framework consistently across the Local Planning Authority area, and this should inform 
decision makers to a greater degree than an isolated appeal decision.   
 
The proximity of other, existing dwellings should not be used as justification for permitting an additional 
dwelling that would contribute to an unsustainable pattern of development in this detached location’ 
 

• Buckland Monachorum Parish Council 
 
Neutral 
 
Representations: 
 
Approximately 60 letters of representation have been received at the time of writing this report, 4 in 
support of the scheme and 56 objecting. Comments made in support of the application are summarised 
as follows: 
 

• High quality design which will raise standards within the area 

• Brings bio-diversity enhancement 

• Complies with AONB policy 

• There is already housing within the area 

• There is a need for housing 

• The building will sit comfortably within its setting  
 
Comments made in objection to the application are summarised as follows: 
 

• The site is unsustainable  

• On greenfield land outside of the Settlement Boundary 

• The opposite site was recently refused 

• The 2015 appeal makes reference to the positive contribution of the application site to the AONB 

• The AONB has the highest status of protection  

• The landscaping will not be effective in the Winter  

• The design is not exceptional  

• There will be dependence on the private motorcar 

• The scheme provides no housing benefit and is not affordable 

• The proposed ecological work is not feasible  

• There are previous refusals on the land 

• Will lead to highway safety issues 

• Will lead to further ribbon development along Green Lane  

• The Inspector’s comments regarding sustainability are unusual and conflict with other appeal 
decisions 

 



Relevant Planning History 
 
Application site 
 
4084/2003/TAV – Outline application for residential use (single detached dwelling) – Refused  
 
Adjacent site 
 
00727/2015 - Outline planning application proposing the erection of 3 dwellings with means of access 
and layout to be considered – Refused and appeal dismissed 
 
Analysis 
 
The Development Plan 
 
The Framework states that for the purposes of decision-taking the policies in the Local Plan should not 
be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. 
Due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency 
with the Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).  
 
Case law confirms that even where a Council’s policies are considered out of date and paragraph 14 
of the Framework is engaged, the existing development plan policies are not disregarded, rather their 
weight must be carefully considered depending upon their conformity with the Framework. 
 
The 2016 appeal decision 
 
The land opposite the site to the north, ‘Land At Axtown Farm’, obviously shares a number of similarities 
to the application site and an application was refused at outline for three units in 2015 under reference 
00727/2015 and the appeal was dismissed in 2016. 
 
Although the appeal was dismissed, this was only on AONB grounds, and the Inspector made a number 
of interesting comments regarding sustainability, isolation, and access to services. Most notably, he 
took the view that the area is on the periphery of the settlement of Axtown, and stated in his decision 
that ‘Given the relatively close access to services in nearby villages, its bus service, and its physical 
relationship to Axtown, it would be unreasonable to describe the site as isolated in the terms of the 
Framework. Furthermore, the proximity to Yelverton and Crapstone, as a cluster of 3 settlements, 
suggests that the proposal could contribute to rural vitality in the other villages such that it would meet 
with paragraph 55 of the Framework in this respect. ’It is clear that, based on the information to hand, 
the Inspector did not consider this area around Green Lane to be isolated.  
 
Although Inspector’s decisions are generally and rightly given significant weight, it is also the case that 
different appeal decisions are not always entirely consistent in approach. Helpfully, an objector has 
submitted an appeal relating to a scheme near Roche in Cornwall which has relevant similarities with 
the appeal site. The Inspector in the Roche appeal takes a different approach to sustainability and 
dismissed the appeal due to its isolation from services. This appeal demonstrates to officers that the 
idea of sustainability and access can be considered differently by individual Inspectors and is ultimately 
a subjective judgment.  
 
In addition, officers note that the inspector in the 2016 ‘Land at Axtown Farm’ appeal gave weight to 
the proximity to a bus stop in his assessment, but this appears at odds with an appeal decision in 2015 
in West Devon, at Grenofen very close to Tavistock. In that decision, the inspector dismissed the 
benefits of proximity to a bus stop, stating that ‘I note that there currently appears to be a reasonably 
frequent bus service through the village, along the A386 corridor. However in my view, reliance on bus 
services alone would not make the appeal site sustainable in terms of its location. The bus would not 
be a realistic alternative for a large number of journeys, in particular at evenings and weekends. 



Moreover, rural bus services are vulnerable to cuts in services or changes to service patterns, which 
are likely to adversely affect prospective passengers’ ability to travel by public transport. Taking all of 
the above into account, the occupiers of the dwellings on the appeal site would therefore be likely to be 
largely reliant on the private car for the bulk of their journeys’ 
 
The inspector in the 2016 ‘Land at Axtown Farm’ appeal also made his decision on the understanding 
that this area is on the periphery of Axtown and maintains a physical relationship with it. However, this 
is not clear, and officers would politely disagree with the Inspector’s assessment in this regard. The 
dwellings on Green Lane are not considered to be a coherent part of Axtown, but are arguably an 
individual and anomalous and isolated collection of executive buildings which appeared in the C20, 
responding to the high quality of the natural environment.  
 
Officers would maintain that Axtown itself is formed of the small hamlet of older buildings some distance 
to the north east of Axtown Farm, as is indicated by road signage within the area. Officers also 
acknowledge that the wider area is punctuated by a dispersed number of other large detached dwellings 
sat in their own grounds, but would again state that these do not collectively form part of a recognisable 
settlement as such.  
 
Overall, although the comments of the inspector at the adjacent site are noted and are given weight in 
this assessment, for the above reasons this weight is diminished.  
 
The 2016 pre-application enquiry 
 
Although the current Development Plan makes clear the Council’s intention not to support new 
unsustainable residential development in this location in principle, the findings of the Inspector at the 
2016 appeal, the lack of a five year land supply following the Butcher Park Hill decision and the absence 
of any substantive and up to date work to the contrary obligated officers to concede in 2016, on balance, 
that this location is not isolated but is sustainable with regard to access to services. That concession 
led at that stage to the theoretical possibility that a dwelling could be supported in this location, if all 
other matter considerations were resolved to be acceptable. Positive pre-application advice was given 
on this basis. 
However, on the 31 July 2017 the Council submitted its emerging Joint Local Plan, and importantly, the 
Joint Local Pan has been supported by a contemporary evidence base which offers a more 
sophisticated analysis of issues of distance, isolation and sustainability. 
 
The submission of the Joint Local Plan and the value of its up to date evidence base marks a significant 
and material change in circumstances which necessitates a new assessment of this area and its 
potential to support small scale residential development on greenfield land.   
 
The evidence base, which has provided the basis for the Strategic Planning consultation response, 
indicates that the site is largely isolated from public services with an ensuing dependence on the 
motorcar. This isolation from services, coupled with the site’s physical distance from the nearest 
recognised sustainable settlement, leads officers to reaffirm the view that this site is in fact isolated 
within the countryside. The scheme meets none of the exceptional circumstances listed in paragraph 
55 of the Framework.  
 
Principle of Development/Sustainability: 
 
Evidence which has come to light which contradicts the Inspector’s approach to sustainability at the 
opposite site, combined with the submission of the Joint Local Plan and its evidence base, lead officers 
to object to the principle of development within this location.  
 
The scheme is in conflict with policies H31, SP1, SP5 and SP24, of the Development Plan and these 
polices weigh against this proposal. The scheme also conflicts with emerging polices SPT1, SPT2 and 
TTV31.  
 



In addition, the unsustainably of the site with regard to access to services also leads to conflict with 
policies SP1, SP14, SP24 and T5 of the Development Plan, and paragraphs 55 of the Framework..  
 
Design/Landscape: 
 
The existing, undeveloped paddock is itself well screened and is not considered to provide a significant 
contribution to the character nor appearance of the AONB.  
 
Officers note that the submission is accompanied by a comprehensive landscape scheme which notably 
incorporates a turned, planted driveway and a planting buffer. This will prevent any glimpsed view in 
from the access, which would have been the most prominent part of the site when viewed from the 
public realm.  
 
Overall, the specific design response and the retention and augmentation of existing boundary 
vegetation, reuse of the existing access and the design of the planted driveway will ensure that the 
dwelling is not harmful to the appearance of the Tamar Valley AONB. 
 
The building itself is, like its neighbours, a large and detached dwelling. It is considered to take adequate 
reference from the local vernacular, leading to a high quality design response and an acceptable 
addition to the streetscene in this regard. Although the quality of the scheme is noted, officers would 
politely suggest that it is not in any way exceptional, outstanding or innovative.  
 
Contribution to the housing stock 
 
The erection of a single dwelling will provide a limited social benefit through housing provision. However, 
current and emerging policy requires a tangible contribution to housing need within the locality.  
 
With regard to the existing housing stock, the Parish is faced with a quite clear and noticeable imbalance 
towards large detached housing. The rural area surrounding the application site is punctuated by single 
large detached executive style houses sat within their own grounds. In addition, the nearest village of 
Crapstone is clearly dominated by large houses.  
 
Officers would therefore conclude that there is no need for an additional house of this scale within the 
area and that the scheme therefore fails to provide an overriding community benefit or respond to 
housing need and instead perpetuates the existing imbalance. The application therefore conflicts with 
current development policies NE10, SP8, and emerging policies TTV31 and DEV8 
 
Neighbour Amenity: 
 
The height of the proposed dwelling, the distance between sites and intervening boundary planting will 
ensure that there is no unacceptable impact on neighbouring properties by way of dominance, light, 
noise or overlooking.  
 
Highways/Access: 
 
Officers note the presence of the existing access into the site, and vehicular use of the remodelled 
access serving a dwelling is not considered to be above and beyond that associated with the existing 
situation, and is therefore considered acceptable with regard to highways safety. The submission 
demonstrates adequate parking provision and on site turning.  
 
Other Matters: 
 
The size of the plot allows officers to conclude that acceptable on site attenuation and discharge of 
surface and foul water can be achieved. Had officers recommended approval, this would have been 
accompanied by relevant drainage conditions. Officers would also have included a planning condition 



securing the ecological mitigation measures identified within the associated ecological report. Officers 
are satisfied that the ecological measures provided are feasible and are deliverable.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The scheme is conflict with both the current Development Plan, the emerging Joint Local Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  Although the Inspector’s conclusions with regard to the dismissed 
appeal are noted, there is evidenced to be a degree of subjectivity and inconsistency between different 
Inspector’s approaches, which diminishes the reliance that the Council has on that particular appeal 
decision. In addition, there has been a significant and material change in circumstances through the 
preparation and submission of the Joint Local Plan, and consideration of the new policies and evidence 
base leads officers to conclude that the scheme is within an isolated rural location.  
 
By reason of the site’s location and isolation from services, and the size and design of the proposed 
dwelling, the development constitutes a new residential intervention into the countryside which fails to 
provide safe and suitable access for all, would foster the growth in the need to travel by private car, fails 
to provide a sustainable solution and fails to respond to an identified local housing need. The proposal 
is therefore contrary to West Devon Development Plan policies SP1, SP8, SP24 and T5, emerging Joint 
Local Plan policies STP1, STP2, TTV31 and DEV8 and paragraphs 7, 8, 9, 17, 32, 34, 35 and 55 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
The application is therefore recommended for refusal.  
 
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the development 
plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning and 
Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
The relevant development plan policies are set out below: 
 
West Devon Borough Council Core Strategy 2011 
 
SP1 – Sustainable Development 
SP5 – Spatial Strategy 
SP6 –Density of Housing Development 
SP7 – Strategic Distribution of Housing 
SP8 – Inclusive Communities 
SP14 – Accessibility Planning 
SP15 – Traffic Management 
SP16 – Safer Communities 
SP17 – Landscape Character 
SP18 – The Heritage and Historical Character of West Devon 
SP19 – Biodiversity 
SP20 – Promoting High Quality Design 
SP21 – Flooding 
 
West Devon Borough Council Local Plan Review 2005(as amended 2011) 
 
NE10 – Protection of the Countryside and Other Open Spaces 
BE13 – Landscaping and Boundary Treatment 



H31 – Residential Development in the Countryside 
T1 – Walking and Cycling 
T2 – Pedestrian and Cyclist Safety 
T8 – Car Parking 
T9 – The Highway Network 
PS2 – Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
PS3 – Sewage Disposal 
PS4 – Private Water Supply 
 
Emerging Joint Local Plan 
 
The Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan (the JLP) will replace the above as the statutory 
development plan once it is formally adopted. 
 
Annex 1 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) provides guidance on determining 
the weight in relation to existing and emerging development plan policies.   
  

• For current development plan documents, due weight should be given to relevant policies 
according to their degree of consistency with the Framework (the closer the policies in the plan 

to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).   
 

• For the JLP, which is an emerging development plan, the weight is to be determined by the 
stage of its preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved objections, and its degree of 
consistency with the Framework. 

 
The JLP is at a relatively advanced stage of preparation. The precise weight to be given to policies 
within the JLP will need to be determined on a case by case basis, having regard to all of the material 
considerations as set out on the analysis above. 
 
PLYMOUTH AND SOUTH WEST DEVON JOINT LOCAL PLAN -: PUBLICATION (as considered 
by the Full Councils end Feb/Early March 2017) 
 
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities 
SPT3 Provision for new homes 
SPT8 Strategic connectivity 
SPT9 Strategic principles for transport planning and strategy 
SPT10 Balanced transport strategy for growth and healthy and sustainable communities 
TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements 
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area 
TTV31 Development in the Countryside 
DEV1 Protecting amenity and the environment  
DEV8 Meeting local housing need in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area 
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment 
DEV24 Landscape character 
DEV27 Nationally protected landscapes 
DEV28 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV30 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows 
DEV31 Specific provisions relating to transport 
 
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 
 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account in 
reaching the recommendation contained in this report. 
 





  

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 7 June 2016 

by Robert Gully  MEng CEng MICE 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 30 June 2016 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/Q1153/W/16/3145211 
Land at Axtown Farm, Green Lane, Axtown, Yelverton, Devon PL20 6BW 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs S Taylor against the decision of West Devon Borough 

Council. 

 The application Ref 00727/2015 - OUTLINE, dated 23 February 2015, was refused by 

notice dated 22 October 2015. 

 The development proposed is the erection of 3 dwellings. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matter 

2. The planning application which is the subject of this appeal was for outline 

approval with appearance, landscaping and scale as reserved matters. 

Main Issue 

3. The main issues are: 

 the effect on character and appearance of the area, with particular regard 
to the landscape and scenic beauty of the Tamar Valley Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB); 

 whether or not the proposal, given its rural location, would constitute a 

sustainable location for access to facilities and services. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

4. The appeal site lies beyond The White House, which is the last in a continuous 
line of residences that clearly define the main coherent extent of existing 

settlement in Axtown on both sides of Green Lane.  Beyond The White House, 
running past the appeal site, the road narrows and rural hedges and trees 

prevail, with occasional views of the countryside giving way to open views 
further along the lane.  Although the property Martin’s Meadow lies to the west 
of the appeal site, the dwelling there is set much further back from the 

roadside than properties to the east.  The combination of its set-back and 
vegetation at the roadside mean that the existing dwelling does not undermine 



Appeal Decision APP/Q1153/W/16/3145211 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           2 

the strong open rural setting that commences at the appeal site and the field 

opposite.  The property White Willows lies further west and is also clearly 
distinct from Axtown by virtue of the intervening fields.    

5. The appearance of a definitive edge to the main body of Axtown is most 
marked when arriving from the west, whereby the end façade of The White 
House is the first readily appreciable residential development comprising part 

of an established settlement.  This property joins the evident and continuous 
development on both sides of Green Lane thereafter, away from the appeal 

site.  From this direction the appeal site makes a strong contribution to the 
continuation of the open countryside character, only briefly interrupted by 
sporadic dwellings on the approach to the village.  The appellants contend that 

the settlement extends beyond the appeal site.  However, I found the setting 
and separation of properties to the west significantly different, such that the 

appeal site does not appear as an infill plot bounded by these residences.    

6. The roadside bank and hedge to the appeal site, and a future landscape 
scheme, would provide some screening. However, any visibility of residential 

development, which would be more readily seen in winter, would create an 
urbanising effect, substantially altering the existing natural character, openness 

and attractive rural appearance of the site.  This would detract from the current 
views across the open field towards the hills in the distance.  It seems to me 
that the open, undeveloped nature of the appeal site, which also affords distant 

views, makes an important contribution to the AONB, which local and national 
policy seeks to protect.  

7. Nearby visibility of the proposal would be limited to roadside views over the 
embankment between vegetation, through the entrance and from nearby 
private property.  The appellants assert that there are no significant public 

vantage points from which the site could be seen.  However, I have found that 
the proposal would have a significant harmful effect when seen locally, 

particularly from Green Lane.  Furthermore, the appeal site is open to distant 
views from a relatively wide area, from where the appeal proposal would harm 
the undeveloped and open nature of the site, when seen against the backdrop 

of boundary vegetation on both sides of Green Lane.  

8. Strategic Policy (SP) 17(a) of the Core Strategy (CS)1 affords protection to the 

AONB in similar terms to the National Planning Policy Framework (‘the 
Framework’) at paragraph 115.  Despite not being referenced by the Council in 
their reasons for refusal, I note that the appellants have had the opportunity to 

consider this policy.  I find that it is directly applicable to this main issue in this 
case, alongside CS Policy SP1 criterion (i).  Both policies require that particular 

regard be given to the protection of the Tamar Valley AONB. 

9. Policy NE10 of the Local Plan2 is applied relative to settlement limits.  However, 

I find that criterion (ii), which seeks to avoid unacceptable harm to the 
character of the landscape and important natural features, is one that could 
apply generally outside any built up area.   

10. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the proposal would fail to 
conserve the landscape and scenic beauty of the Tamar Valley AONB, or the 

                                       
1 West Devon Borough Council Local Development Framework – Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2006-
2026, adopted 2011 
2 West Devon Borough Council Local Plan Review, as amended April 2011 



Appeal Decision APP/Q1153/W/16/3145211 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           3 

character and appearance of the area more generally.  The proposal would 

therefore be contrary to CS Policy SP17(a), CS Policy SP1 criterion (i) and Local 
Plan Policy NE10 criterion (ii).   

Sustainable location 

11. Policy H31 of the Local Plan addresses development within the countryside 
outside settlement limits.  The Local Plan pre-dates the Framework, which 

requires that policies are therefore given weight according to their degree of 
consistency with it (paragraph 215).  Policy H31 requires that development in 

the countryside is restricted through the need to comply with a number of 
criteria.  These criteria are somewhat reflective of the special circumstances set 
out in paragraph 55 of the Framework for ‘new isolated homes in the 

countryside’.  However, for homes that are not isolated, the Framework 
recognises that rural housing can contribute to sustainable development where 

it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities.  Policy H31 does 
not recognise this opportunity and is therefore significantly more restrictive in 
this respect.  Furthermore, the appellants have drawn my attention to the 

appeal case at Grenofen3 where the same policy was found to be inconsistent 
with the Framework.  Taking the above together, I find that Policy H31 should 

be given limited weight in this case. 

12. The CS also pre-dates the Framework.  Policy SP5 applies special 
circumstances, which are comparably restrictive to Policy H31 of the Local Plan.  

For the same reasons I therefore also give this policy limited weight.  

13. Notwithstanding the above, the appellants have not sought to demonstrate any 

of the circumstances set out in Policy H31 of the Local Plan, save for criterion 
(v).  Nor has an essential agricultural, horticultural or forestry need been 
identified in accordance with CS Policy SP5.  The appeal proposal would 

therefore be contrary to both of these policies.  However, paragraph 55 of the 
Framework, which addresses rural sustainable development, is a significant 

material consideration in this case.  The application of paragraph 55 turns 
significantly on the matter of whether the proposal is considered ‘isolated’.  

14. The appeal site lies on the periphery of Axtown, which is a small settlement 

with no facilities in its own right.  The settlements of Yelverton and Crapstone 
are both over a mile distant from the appeal site via the public highway.  

Yelverton possesses a range of facilities, whilst Crapstone has a more limited 
offering.  On my visit I found that the distance and nature of the route to those 
nearby settlements would act as some discouragement to walking, however, 

the distance involved would be readily achievable by bicycle or a short car trip.  
A bus service would also be available a reasonable walk from the appeal site.      

15. Although Axtown as a whole clearly sits within the countryside, the appeal site 
is immediately adjacent to the existing periphery of continuous roadside 

development there.  Given the relatively close access to services in nearby 
villages, its bus service, and its physical relationship to Axtown, it would be 
unreasonable to describe the site as isolated in the terms of the Framework.  

Furthermore, the proximity to Yelverton and Crapstone, as a cluster of 3 
settlements, suggests that the proposal could contribute to rural vitality in the 

other villages such that it would meet with paragraph 55 of the Framework in 
this respect.  I note the Council’s submissions regarding the limited economic 

                                       
3 APP/Q1153/W/15/3127880 



Appeal Decision APP/Q1153/W/16/3145211 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           4 

and social contribution that 3 houses would make, however, their contribution 

would be materially positive and therefore in accordance with this policy. 

16. On the basis of the above, I conclude that the proposal would constitute a 

sustainable location for development, in respect of access to services.  Whilst 
the proposal would be contrary to Policy H31 of the Local Plan and CS Policy 
SP5, this is outweighed by compliance with the more recent provisions of 

paragraph 55 of the Framework.  Furthermore, the criteria in the Local Plan 
and CS policies are of a type that the Framework only seeks to apply when new 

homes are isolated, which I have found is not the situation in this case.  

Other Matters 

17. Policy SP18 of the CS relates to heritage and historic character and is 

referenced in the Council’s reasons for refusal.  Although it is not directly 
applicable to this case, the Council’s planning officer report identifies that no 

heritage or archaeology constraints were found in relation to the larger site 
which they considered in their Land Availability Assessment.  No other 
submissions have been made on this matter by the Council.  As such I find that 

Policy SP18 is not directly applicable to the main issues in this case and have 
not considered it further.  

18. The appellants have included location plans of permissions that they state have 
been granted at Lamerton and Bratton Clovelly, and appeal decisions at 
Lewannick and Mawnan Smith.  These cases are submitted in respect of Policy 

H31 and development outside settlement limits more generally.  I have 
concluded favourably on the general location of the appeal site, where these 

cases might be relevant.  However, they are not readily applicable to the 
specific effect on character and appearance of the area and the AONB which is 
the other main issue in this case.  

19. A Section 106 Agreement was submitted with the appeal.  In the event that the 
appeal is allowed, the appellants agree to make a monetary contribution 

towards off-site affordable housing.  Whilst this contribution complies with CS 
Policy SP9, it would run counter to current national policy set out in the Written 
Ministerial Statement of 28 November 2014.  This policy requires that 

affordable housing contributions are not sought from small schemes.  
Nonetheless, I consider it is a positive element to which I give modest weight. 

Conclusion 

20. Whilst I have found in favour of the appellants in relation to the sustainability 
of the location, I conclude that the proposal would cause significant harm to 

the character and appearance of the area, including to the Tamar Valley AONB, 
contrary to the development plan policies set out above.  There would be a 

social and economic benefit associated with 3 new dwellings and a further 
benefit from the affordable housing contribution.  However, these 

considerations do not outweigh the identified environmental harm and as a 
result the proposal would not constitute sustainable development. 

21. I therefore dismiss the appeal.     

 R Gully 

 INSPECTOR 



1

West Devon Borough Council
PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 12-Dec-17

Appeals Update from 28-Oct-17 to 24-Nov-17

Ward Bere Ferrers
APPLICATION NUMBER : 1452/17/VAR APP/Q1153/W/17/3185443

APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL : Removal of condition number 6 following grant of planning permission

 00151/2013 to allow the development to be used as a permanent dwelling
LOCATION : Hewton House   Bere Alston   PL20 7BW
APPEAL STATUS : Appeal Lodged
APPEAL START DATE: 31-October-2017

APPEAL DECISION:

APPEAL DECISION DATE:
Ward Buckland Monachorum
APPLICATION NUMBER : 4005/16/FUL APP/Q1153/W/17/3180733
APPELLANT NAME: Sol Komfort, Lubricants SW, Valves Online
PROPOSAL : Three business units, 960sqm (1x384sqm 2x288sqm (576sqm) Use Class B1

(c ) light industrial /  Use Class B2 (general industrial) / Use ClassB8 Storage & 
Distribution), together  with associated access, parking and landscaping.

LOCATION : Land Adjacent To Yelverton Business Park  Yelverton Business Park Crapstone   
PL207LS

APPEAL STATUS : Appeal Lodged
APPEAL START DATE: 31-October-2017

APPEAL DECISION:

APPEAL DECISION DATE:
APPLICATION NUMBER : 4006/16/FUL APP/Q1153/W/17/3180732
APPELLANT NAME: The Trustees of the Compton meeting Hall
PROPOSAL : Meeting hall (152sqm – for Plymouth Brethren Christian Church) and

   associated access parking and landscaping.
LOCATION : Land Adjacent To Yelverton Business Park  Yelverton Business Park Crapstone   

PL207LS
APPEAL STATUS : Appeal Lodged
APPEAL START DATE: 31-October-2017

APPEAL DECISION:

APPEAL DECISION DATE:





 

 1 

 

 West Devon Borough Council 

 PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 12-Dec-17 
 Appeal Hearings/Public Inquiry  from 28-Oct-17  
 

 Ward Buckland Monachorum 
 
 APPLICATION NUMBER : 0147/17/OPA APP/Q1153/W/17/3177360 

 APPELLANT NAME: Mr M Scoot 
 PROPOSAL : Outline application with some matters reserved for development of up  to 22no. dwellings  
 (including 40% affordable housing), access,        parking, landscaping / open space and  
 associated infrastructure 
 LOCATION : Development site at SX 501 676  Abbey Meadows Crapstone   PL20 7FG 

 APPEAL STATUS : Appeal Lodged 

 APPEAL START DATE: 12-July-2017 

 TYPE OF APPEAL Public inquiry 

 DATE OF APPEAL HEARING OR INQUIRY: 09-January-2018 

 LOCATION OF HEARING/INQ: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 





Report to: Development Management and Licensing 
Committee  

Date: 12th December 2017 

Title: Approval of policy in relation to the licensing 

of Taxi drivers and vehicles. 

Portfolio Area: Customer First 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y / N 

Date next steps can be taken: 
(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 

implementation of substantive decision) 

 

  

Author: James Kershaw Role: Senior Specialist 

Environmental Health 

Contact: Telephone/email: 

01803 861287 / james.kershaw@swdevon.gov.uk    
01803 861268 / naomi.stacey@swdevon.gov.uk 

 
 

Recommendations:   

1. That the Licensing Committee recommends to Council that the draft 

Taxi Licensing Policy, is adopted at the next meeting, for 
implementation on the 1st April 2018. 

2. That the Licensing Committee recommends to Council that the fees and 
charges for Taxis are amended to the figure as shown in para 3.3 

 

 
1. Executive summary 

 
1.1.  West Devon Borough Council as the Licensing Authority has the power to 

issue licences to drivers of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles, 
whom they deem as being fit and proper.  
 

There is no legal definition of what makes a driver a fit and proper 
person, and it is therefore down to the licensing authority to determine 



what qualifications they require an applicant to meet in order to be 
licensed. This policy seeks to set the minimum requirements we will seek 

from new and existing drivers. 
 

The legislation also allows us to licence certain vehicles as either a 
Hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle. The legislation allows us to set 
standards that we expect vehicles to meet in order to be licensed.  

 
1.2. The Council’s current driver policy was adopted on the 1st January 2017 

and this draft seeks to amend this policy with revised good practice. The 
Council’s vehicle policy was issued in 1990’s, and is therefore out of date. 
Ideally a policy of this importance should be reviewed every 3-5 years.  

 
1.3. There have also been a number of pieces of national good practice 

guidance in relation to taxi licensing, and this policy seeks to adopt these. 
Also with the Council going through reforms in staffing the policy seeks to 
revise how we assess the appropriateness of vehicles to be licensed.  

 
2. Background 

 
2.1. In West Devon we currently have 103 Hackney Carriage Vehicles and 19 

Private Hire Vehicles licensed. A licence lasts for 1 year. All new vehicle 
owners are required to provide an MOT certificate and currently in the 
South Hams we will inspect the vehicle to ensure that we are happy it is 

safe and is in a respectable condition.  
 

2.2. Our current policies are outdated but good practice dictates that vehicles 
should be tested in accordance with the Freight Transport Association 
(FTA) standards. In West Devon we have been using two garages to test 

the suitability of vehicles. Due to restrictions requiring tendering for this 
type of arrangement it is proposed to open this work up to any VOSA 

approved garage.  
 

2.3.  Our policy should ensure compliance with Article 13 (2) of Directive 

2006/123/EC, given domestic effect by regulation 18(4) of the Provision 
of Services Regulation 2009 SI No 2999, in that the 'authorisation 

procedures and formalities' for applicants 'shall not be dissuasive…and 
any charges which the applicants may incur from their application shall 
be reasonable and proportionate to the cost of the authorisation 

procedures in question and shall not exceed the cost of the procedures'. 
 

When drafting the policy, we have taken into account best practice from 
other authorities in the wake of the recent incidents surrounding the taxi 
industry elsewhere in the country.  

 
The Policy has also been out for public consultation, meetings have been 

held with the taxi trade, and the policy was sent to various local and 
national representatives for comments. Comments received and 
alterations made to the policy can be viewed in Appendix A and explained 

later in this document.   
 

 



 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs 
 

3.1. This report seeks that the Committee recommend to the Council that the 
Taxi Licensing Policy be adopted for implementation on the 1st April 2018. 
 

3.2. We will assess the impact of the policy by reporting to the committee at 
the annual meeting the number of applications received that have been 

successful/refused, the number of penalty points issued in a 12 month 
period, the decisions taken by committee in relation to drivers brought to 
them in the previous 12 months, and the number of successful appeals 

brought against Council decisions.  
 

The policy will be reviewed in at least 3 years’ time, but sooner should 
circumstances require it.  
 

3.3.   Due to requirements that driver licences should be granted normally for 3 
years, and operator licences for 5 years unless there are exceptional 

circumstances we have reviewed the cost of delivering these licences. It 
is proposed that the committee recommend to Full Council that our fees 

for these are amended to as below. The fees proposed have been 
calculated based upon the cost of producing a plate, and officer time to 
evaluate documents: 

   
  

Licence Type Licence Fee Proposed 
Current 
Licence Fee 

1 Year Driver Renewal £105 £101 

3 Year Driver Renewal £266 £272 

New Driver Fee excluding knowledge test 
(1 Year) 

£109 
 

N/A 

Knowledge Test £50 £45 

DBS Check inc. admin fee £60 £50 

1 Year Hackney Carriage Vehicle £181 £168 

1 Year Private Hire Vehicle £160 £157 

Application for exemption of displaying a 
Private Hire Plate £60 

 
N/A 

1 Year Reduced Fee Vehicle Licence & 
replacement plate fee 

£20 
 

£117.60 

1 Year Trailer Fee £32.50 N/A 

1 Year Private Hire Operator £125 £118 

5 Year Private Hire Operator £472 £470 

 

The setting of fees for licences is governed by the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1974, s.70 states 

Fees for vehicle and operators’ licences. 

“(1)Subject to the provisions of subsection (2) of this section, a district 

council may charge such fees for the grant of vehicle and operators’ 



licences as may be resolved by them from time to time and as may be 

sufficient in the aggregate to cover in whole or in part— 

(a)the reasonable cost of the carrying out by or on behalf of the district 

council of inspections of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles for 

the purpose of determining whether any such licence should be granted 

or renewed; 

(b)the reasonable cost of providing hackney carriage stands; and 

(c)any reasonable administrative or other costs in connection with the 

foregoing and with the control and supervision of hackney carriages and 

private hire vehicles.” 

Having undertaken a review of the costs of delivering the service and 
based on the legislation above we believe the costs above are reflective 

of our services. 
 

4. Options available and consideration of risk 
 

4.1. When considering applications for either a driver or vehicle licence the 

Council consider the safety of passengers and the public at large, and to 
a lesser extent the image of the area that would be fostered by granting 

a licence. A person aggrieved by refusal, suspension or revocation of a 
licence can appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of that 
decision.  

 
Decisions made by the Council need to be defendable. This policy seeks 

to set a minimum standard that we will expect our licensees to meet. 
However, notwithstanding this Policy, the Licensing Authority will consider 
each application and enforcement action on its own merits.  

 
4.2. The importance of the taxi trade in providing an essential service in a 

rural community such as West Devon is recognised, and imposing unduly 
stringent restrictions may adversely impact the adequate supply of taxis.  

 
Therefore the policy seeks to strike a decent balance between protecting 
the safety of taxi users and ensuring that the policy does not 

unnecessarily restrict the ability of applicants to obtain a licence. 
 

4.3. When drafting the policy a public consultation was held from the 19th July 
until 30th September. During this period the Environmental Health 
Community of Practice held meetings with the taxi trade on the 1st and 3rd 

August. The feedback from this consultation and amendments made to the 
draft policy can be viewed in the appendices.  

 
Based on the feedback received the following amendments were made 
and paragraphs considered: 

 



Driver Medicals: A comment was received stating that they felt the 
policy was too lenient and that medicals should be done at least every 5 

years no matter the age of the driver. We do not suggest amending as 
we are in line with current government guidance in relation to PSV and 

HGV driver medicals. 
 
24.4: This paragraph was added at the request of drivers, the purpose is 

to allow properly tinted windows where the tint is being done to return 
the vehicle back to its original manufacturers’ standards. This may be in 

relation to a repair, or where tinted windows were removed by a previous 
owner. 
 

25.2 & Appendix K: These paragraphs have been amended to change 
the testing garages from ones approved by the Local Authority to any 

VOSA approved garage. Concerns were raised by drivers over access to 
garages for testing and the cost of testing. In order to have designated 
garages we would need to undertake a procurement exercise and it was 

not felt a good use of our resources to do this.  
 

25.4 To overcome our concerns about the control of the standard of 
testing, we have added the ability to request a re-test at a garage of our 

choice should we deem it necessary. 
 
26.2: Comments were made about the safety of having ownership 

documents in the vehicle, this was initially designed to help us with 
enforcement on the rank but we believe it can be achieved through having 

access to the vehicle files out on site. We will therefore investigate this 
with our IT services and CIVICA. 
 

28.3: Drivers do not believe there is a need for the newly proposed 
internal stickers, but prefer them to an external sticker. We are still 

working with a supplier on the design to make it serve the function of 
allowing the passengers to obtain the vehicle licence details, whilst not 
impacting on the aesthetics of the vehicle. 

 
Section 30: Concerns were raised over the content of this paragraph, 

stating that they do not agree and feel that it imposes additional cost 
burden to the drivers. The control of CCTV is not under the control of the 
licensing authority but the Information Commissioner. We were proposing 

to check that the CCTV complies with this guidance, and we still believe 
that we should, and do not agree that it is an unreasonable cost burden as 

it is a legal requirement. 
 
31.4: As we are no longer requiring vehicles to be tested at our test 

centres, we have relaxed the requirement also for trailers. 
 

31.5: It is proposed that the licensing fees for a trailer should be set at 
£32.50 this is based upon the cost of producing the plate, and checking 
the documents. 

 
32.1: Comments were made about banning idling on the ranks and the 

impact that this would have on the temperature of the vehicles and the 



batteries. We have softened the language used to request the co-
operation of the drivers in minimising their impact. 

 
36: The policy in relation to fire extinguishers was changed following 

discussion with the Fire Authority. Without proper training a driver may 
put himself at risk by trying to tackle a fire with an extinguisher. During 
the consultation we have had comments both in support of this change 

and against it. We have therefore determined not to amend the policy 
from the draft as this we believe provides flexibility. 

 
37: As above it is good practice to carry first aid kits but the drivers would 
need to be trained. It is therefore felt appropriate to have it in the policy 

as a recommendation. 
 

38: We did receive comments in regards to the proposals to exempt the 
need to display a plate for private hire vehicles undertaking contract work. 
We do not envisage many applications for these exemptions being 

successful due to the criteria proposed to consider applications. 
 

47.2: Following comments by the trade this paragraph was removed. The 
idea was to make private hire vehicles more noticeable and to help 

prevent illegal plying for hire by PHVs. We do not have evidence that this 
is a major problem in our area and therefore justifying the policy could be 
difficult. We will keep this under review and if evidence dictates the need 

we may include it in the next iteration of the policy. 
 

51: The section on lost property has been amended to allow the 
companies greater flexibility on reuniting the goods with the correct 
owner. This was driven by the closure of a number of enquiry desks across 

the county. 
 

 
5. Proposed Way Forward  

 

5.1. This report seeks that the Committee recommend to the Council at the 
meeting on the that the Taxi Licensing Policy be adopted for 

implementation on the 1st April 2018.  
 

5.2. That the fees proposed in 3.3, amended as necessary following the 

outcome of consultation as required by the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1974, be adopted. 

 
6. Implications 

 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 The Town Police Clauses Act 1847 gave the Local 
Authority the power to grant licences to Hackney 

Carriages for the purpose of plying for hire within 
the district. 



 

The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 amended the powers above to state that 
a licence can only be granted to someone who is a 

fit and proper person and has held authorisation to 
drive a motorcar (drivers licence) for at least 12 

months.  
 
There is no definition of ‘fit and proper’ and this 

policy will help to ensure consistency when 
determining applications and other determinations 

such as when to suspend or revoke a licence. 
 
Whilst we may have a policy each application will 

still need to be determined on its own merits. 
 

Legally we are only allowed to charge a fee for the 
cost of administering the granting of the licence. 
Other Councils have been successfully challenged 

and have had to pay back fees to drivers and 
vehicle owners where they have charged more than 

this.  
 

Financial 
 

 The policy does not have direct financial impacts on 
the authority. The proposed fees will have a 
marginal impact on income, if every driver decided 

to get a 3 year licence there would be a £756 
budget pressure.  

 
However this pressure is offset by the other fees 
increasing for the first time since 2014. 

 

Risk  A determination by a licensing authority to refuse, 

revoke or suspend a licence can be appealed as can 
conditions attached to a licence. An appeal is made 

to the magistrates.  
 

Failure to having made a determination that is 
defendable could lead to costs being awarded 
against us. 

 
As has been found across the country where the 

taxi trade has been implicated in criminal actions 
there has been a negative reputational impact on 
those licensing authorities. The proposed policy has 

been developed taking into account learning from 
these scandals and other good practice. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 The policy will hopefully have a positive impact on 
equality and diversity by promoting good practice 



 in disability awareness amongst the taxi trade. 

 

Safeguarding 

 

 The policy will hopefully have a positive impact on 

safeguarding by ensuring that an essential trade 
are well regulated, and drivers who have access to 
vulnerable children and adults are aware of the 

signs of abuse and how to report these. 
 

Community 
Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 
 

 A positive impact by ensuring that drivers who 
have access to sensitive information about people 

and their homes are thoroughly vetted. 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 No overarching concerns foreseen 

Other 
implications 

 None foreseen 
 

 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: 
 

Consultation feedback 
Draft Taxi Policy 
 

 
Background Papers: 

 
Taxi and PHV Licensing Councillors Handbook (England and Wales), Local 
Government Association 

 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance, Department for 

Transport, 2010. 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy 
 
 
 

Date of commencement: 1 April 2018 
 
 
 

Version no. 1.0 
Date of Review: April 2021 

 

 

   

 



 

2 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Section Item Page 

 Preface and contact details 4 
 Foreword 5 

1 Introduction 6 
2 Licensing Objectives & Related Legislation 7 
3 Consultation 8 
4 Departure from Policy 8 

PART ONE Drivers 
5 Drivers’ Licensing Requirements  9 
6 Driver Knowledge and Proficiency 9 
7 Medical Examinations and Exemptions 11 
8 Disclosure and Barring Service, Criminal 

Disclosures and Certificates of Good Conduct 
12 

9 DVLA Licence Checking 13 
10 Relevance of Convictions, Cautions, Fixed 

Penalties and other relevant information 
13 

11 Grant and Renewal of Driver Licences 14 
12 Code of Good Conduct  15 
13 Penalty Point System 15 
14 Assisting Wheelchair Users  16 
15 Duty to carry Guide and Assistance Dogs 17 
16 Smoking 17 

PART TWO Vehicles 
17 Vehicle Licensing Requirements 18 
18 Vehicle Proprietor Requirements 18 
19 Vehicle Type 19 
20 Imported Vehicles 19 
21 Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) 19 
22 Vehicle Passenger Lifts and Platforms 20 
23 Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) 21 
24 Tinted Windows 21 
25 Certificate of Compliance (MOT)/Inspection 21 
26 Documentation 22 
27 Advertising 23 
28 Signage 23 
29 Meters 24 
30 CCTV 24 
31 Towing Trailers 25 
32 Emissions 26 
33 Dual Plating 26 
34 Out of District Work 26 
35 Duty to carry Guide and Assistance Dogs 26 
36 Fire Extinguishers 26 
37 First Aid Kits 27 
38 Licence Plate Exemptions for Private Hire Vehicles 27 
39 Stretch Limousines and Specialist Vehicles 28 
40 Penalty Point System 28 

PART THREE Private Hire Operators 
41 Operator Licensing Requirements 30 



 

3 

 

42 Radio Equipment 30 
43 Insurance 30 
44 Touting and Soliciting 30 
45 Changes and Amendments 30 
46 Business Premises 31 
47 Operators Signs and Logos (Vehicle Sign) 31 
48 Bookings 32 
49 Sub-Contracting 32 
50 Controllers 33 
51 Lost Property 33 
52 Vehicle Records 33 
53 Driver Records 33 
54 Penalty Points 34 
55 Section 46 – Licences 34 
56 Section 56 – Procedure/Contract and Records 34 
57 Section 62 – Suspension, Revocation and Refusal 

of an Operator’s Licence 
35 

58 Section 73 – Obstruction of Authorised Officers 35 
59 Penalty Points System 36 

APPENDICES  
A Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Criminal Convictions Policy 
37 

B Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Code of 
Conduct 

51 

C Penalty Points System – Drivers and Proprietors 56 
D Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver 

Licensing Application Process 
59 

E Spoken English Assessment Test Procedure 63 
F Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) 66 
G Euro NCAP Star Safety Rating 70 
H Towing Trailer Requirements 72 
I Limousines and Novelty Vehicles 74 
J Vehicle Testing 77 
K Penalty Points System – Private Hire Operators 79 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

4 

 

 
Preface 
 
This section does not form part of the policy and is for information purposes only. 
 
This Policy will guide the Council, as the “Licensing Authority” when considering applications 
under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, Town Police Clauses Act 1889 and Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which places on West Devon 
Borough Council the duty to carry out their licensing functions in respect of hackney carriages 
and private hire vehicles.  
 
This is a general guide that has been prepared for the assistance and guidance of Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Drivers, Vehicle Proprietors, Private Hire Operators and any other 
person with an interest in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing in the West Devon 
area. It does not stand on its own and West Devon Borough Council, its Officers and Agents, 
do not accept any responsibility for any loss caused by any person acting as a result of the 
material enclosed here. 
 
If you have any questions or queries about this document: 
 
Write to us at: 
West Devon Borough Council, 
Kilworthy Park, 
Drake Road, 
Tavistock, 
Devon 
PL19 0BZ 
 
Or contact us by email or via our website on: 
 
Phone:  01822 813600 
Email: licensing@swdevon.gov.uk  
Website: www.westdevon.gov.uk  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

5 

 

Foreword 
 
Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles are an important mode of local transport, and as 
such have a specific role to play in a united transport system.  They are able to provide safe, 
secure and comfortable transport, providing an on-request door-to-door service in various 
circumstances, including where public transport may not be available (e.g. in very rural areas), 
or for those with mobility difficulties. 
 
The aim of the Policy is to control the provision of a robust taxi and private hire licensing 
system, which makes sure the public travel safely, receive a good level of service and drivers 
and operators are not overloaded by unnecessary conditions.   
 
In setting out its Policy, the Licensing Authority seeks to promote the following objectives: 
 

• The safety and health of drivers and the public; 

• Vehicle safety, comfort and access; 

• To prevent crime and disorder and to protect the public; 

• To encourage environmental sustainability. 
 

Public safety is vital, and the authority seek to make sure through licensing that all taxi and 
private hire vehicles are fit for purpose and that their drivers and/or operators are fit and proper 
persons.  
 
This policy provides information and guidance to licence applicants, clarity for licensed vehicle 
owners, drivers and operators and the public as to the way that the Licensing Authority will 
undertake its licensing functions.   In addition, the policy document looks to help the Licensing 
Authority in reaching a decision on a particular application or a particular enforcement issue, 
setting out those matters that will normally be taken into account.  
 
This Policy will be reviewed periodically to take into account information gathered over a period 
of time, together with the outcomes of any updates in legislation or associated government 
guidance.  Supporting appendices to the Policy may be updated from time to time, and 
therefore, applicants and all other interested persons are advised to contact the Licensing 
Department for up-to-date information.  
 
In the preparation and publication of this policy the Licensing Authorities have had regard to 
the following: 
 

• Guidance issued by the Department for Transport (“Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best Practice Guidance” – Edition March 2010).  

• Law Commission Taxi and Private Hire Services Paper No 347 – May 2014 

• Local Government Association Taxi and PHV Licensing Councillor’s Handbook 
(England and Wales) – August 2017 

•  LGA example Taxi and PHV Licensing Criminal Convictions’ Policy – December 2016 

• Freight Transport Association best practice guide to inspection of Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Vehicles – August 2012 

• Guidance issued by the Disclosure and Barring Service 

• Information Commissioners Office CCTV Code of Practice – 2017 

• BPG1 - Transporting People Seated in Wheelchairs - 2013  

• Benchmarking with other Authorities 

• Consultation with Taxi Trade 
 
Nothing in this policy document should be regarded or interpreted as an indication that 
any requirement of licensing or other law may be overridden.  



 

6 

 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This Policy is written pursuant to the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, 

Town Police Clauses Act 1889, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976, as amended, Transport Acts of 1980 and 1985, which places on The Council 
the duty to carry out their licensing functions in respect of hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles.  

 
1.2 It is recognised that other legislation exists which impacts on taxi licensing, such as 

the Equality Act 2010 and therefore, aspects of this Policy pay regard to these 
additional legislative requirements. 

 
1.3 It is intended that the Policy will take effect from 1 January 2017 1 April 2018.  
 
1.4 The Policy relates to hackney carriage and private hire licensing of drivers, vehicles 

and operators.  
 

1.4 The purpose of this Policy is to assist the Licensing Authority in reaching a decision on 
any particular application, and in setting out those matters that are normally taken into 
account.  Additionally, the document seeks to provide clear advice for licence holders 
in terms of the standards expected, and also to provide general advice to service users 
and the general public.  

 
1.5 The Policy is subject to review every three years.  Any major changes to policy made 

between review periods will be preceded by public consultation.  

 
Licensing Authority Area 



 

7 

 

2. Licensing Objectives & Related Legislation 
 
2.1 The Licensing Authorities are committed to ensuring the provision of a professional 

hackney carriage and private hire service, by continued monitoring and improvement 
of standards and procedures, and seeks to promote the following objectives when 
considering applications, or when assessing the extension of an existing licence: 
 

• The safety and health of drivers and the public; 

• Vehicle safety, comfort and access; 

• To prevent crime and disorder and to protect the public; 

• To encourage environment sustainability. 
 

2.2 In promoting these objectives, considerations such as those set out at paragraphs 2.3 
and 2.4 will be taken into account by the Licensing Authority, and applicants and 
licence holders will be expected to continuously show they can meet or exceed 
specifications set by the Licensing Authority. 

 
2.3 Safety and Health of Driver and the Public: 
 

• Consideration of history of convictions and cautions; 

• Driver training, qualification and performance; 

• Health and fitness of applicant for driver licence, or existing licence holder; 

• Knowledge of West Devon Borough Council area. 
 
2.4 Vehicle Safety, Comfort and Access: 

 

• Standards of vehicle appearance and comfort; 

• Use and location of ranks;  

• Provision of disabled facilities;  

• Provision for all age groups; 

• Provision of safe and comfortable premises for customers to use if applicable. 
 
2.5 To Prevent Crime and Disorder and to Protect the Public: 
 

• Vetting, qualification, training and monitoring of licence holders; 

• Operating rules and disciplinary processes; 

• Measures to prevent noise nuisance from taxi activities; 

• Commitment to work with Licensing Authority, Police and other statutory 
authorities. 

 
2.6 The Licensing Authority is aware that applying licensing requirements which are unduly 

severe may unreasonably limit the supply of taxi and private hire services, and can 
lead to negative safety implications.  Therefore, the Licensing Authority has considered 
each of its licensing requirements in relation to the proportion of risk it aims to address.  

 
2.7 The Licensing Authority also recognises that the licensing function is only one means 

of securing the delivery of the above objectives.  The Licensing Authority will therefore 
continue to work in partnership with other relevant agencies, such as the Police, Crime 
& Disorder Partnerships and the Vehicle and Operator Services Agency (VOSA) 
towards the promotion of the objectives. 

 
2.8 In undertaking its licensing function, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 

following legislation:  

• Town and Police Clauses Act 1847 



 

8 

 

• Town Police Clauses Act 1889 

• Transport Act 1980 & 1985 

• Road Traffic Acts 

• The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 

• Health Act 2006 

• The Smoke-free (Premises and Enforcement) Regulations 2006 

• The Smoke-free (Vehicle Operators and Penalty Notices) Regulations 2007 

• The Equality Act 2010 

• The European Convention on Human Rights, which is applied by the Human Rights 
Act 1998 

• The Race Relations Act 1976, as amended by the Race Relations (Amendment) 
Act 2000 

• The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) (Amendment) Order 2002 
 
2.6      The Licensing Authority will also have regard to other legislation, strategies, policies 

and a range of guidance in its decision-making. 
 

3. Consultation 
 
3.1 Before determining this Policy, the Licensing Authority has consulted with numerous 

persons and organisations including the following:  
 

• Taxi Trade within the West Devon area 

• Taxi Trade Representative/s 

• Department for Transport (including VOSA) 

• Devon County Council Highways Transport Services 

• Driving Standards Agency 

• Chief Officer of Police, Devon & Cornwall Constabulary 

• Town and Parish Councils in the West Devon Borough Council Area 

• Citizens Advice Bureau  

• Age UK 

• Local and National Representatives of Child Safety Groups 

• Living Options Devon 

• Local and National Representatives of Disability Groups 

• Home Office 
 
3.2 Consultees were permitted to make representations in writing or via electronic means 

e.g. email response.  All consultation responses have been taken into account when 
finalising the policy. 

 
4. Departure from Policy 
  
4.1      In exercising its discretion in carrying out its functions, the Licensing Authority will have 

regard to this Policy and the objectives set out within.  However, notwithstanding this 
Policy, the Licensing Authority will consider each application and enforcement action 
on its own merits.  

 
4.2      Where it is necessary for the Licensing Authority to depart significantly from this Policy, 

clear and substantive reasons for doing so will be given. Such a decision will not set a 
precedent for other applications of a similar nature. 

 



 

9 

 

PART ONE – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 
 
5. Drivers’ Licensing Requirements 
 
5.1 Sections 51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

require that a district council will not grant a licence to drive a private hire or hackney 
carriage vehicle unless they are satisfied that the applicant is  a ‘fit and proper person’ 
to hold a driver’s licence.  
 

5.2 The term ‘fit and proper person’ for the purposes of hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing is not legally defined. However, in deciding whether a person is fit and proper’ 
to hold a licence, the Licensing Authority will use the test of: 
 
Would you allow your son or daughter, spouse or partner, mother or father, 
grandson or granddaughter, or any other person for whom they care, to get into a 
licensed vehicle with the applicant alone?  
 
The wording of this test originates from Button, J. T. H. (1999), Taxis –  
Licensing Law and Practice, Butterworths, London. 
 

5.3 When determining whether a person is “fit and proper”, the Licensing Authority will 
consider the applicant’s knowledge of the local area and matters related to the work of 
a licensed driver; their driving experience; driving qualifications; medical fitness; 
criminal record; previous history as a licensed driver or operator; any other matter 
considered relevant to the protection of the public or driver. In addition, the Licensing 
Authority may also consider further information from other sources, including the 
Police, other Licensing Authorities and Statutory Agencies. 
 

5.4 A driver will be required to maintain their ability to be a ‘fit and proper person’ while 
licensed and must report any driving offences, changes to medical conditions, civil or 
criminal offences for which they have been interviewed or charged within 5 working 
days. 

 
5.5 If the Licensing Authority suspects that a driver may no longer meet the standards 

required, Officers may need to conduct further enquiries to verify any information 
provided as to the fitness of a person to hold a licence. By submitting an application 
for a licence or holding a licence, the applicant gives their consent to the release of 
data where necessary. 

 
5.6 Applicants should note that to make a false statutory declaration is a serious criminal 

offence, punishable upon conviction by imprisonment for a term not exceeding two 
years or to a fine to be decided by the court or both. This statutory declaration may in 
certain circumstances, be forwarded to the police for examination. 

 
5.7 The Licensing Authority issues a dual Hackney Carriage and Private Hire driver licence 

to give the holder the flexibility to drive either type of vehicle. Licence holders are 
required to obey with any conditions or byelaws that are relevant to the work they are 
carrying out at any time, which will be dependent on the licensed vehicle being used. 

 
6. Driver Knowledge and Proficiency 

 
6.1 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers must hold a valid full UK driving licence 

(licence issued in accordance with Part III of the Road Traffic Act 1972 (as amended)) 



 

10 

 

and this licence must have been held for no less than 12 months at the time of 
application. 
 

6.2 An applicant who meets the licensing requirements by benefit of an acceptable non-
UK driving licence must obtain a full UK driving licence within 12 months of issue of 
the Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver Licence. 
 

6.3 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers are expected to have a good working 
knowledge of West Devon and the surrounding area, as well as the Highway Code and 
relevant legislation. Applicants will be tested on their knowledge of the above and must 
pass a test to a set standard. The test will be conducted in English only at the Council 
Offices. Failure to attend without prior notice will mean forfeiture of any monies paid. 
Oral tests will only be conducted under exceptional circumstances which can be 
discussed when initially applying. 

 
6.4 Applicants must demonstrate an adequate and reasonable level of spoken English and 

be able to converse with authorised officers and members of the public. The purpose 
of the requirement is to ensure that members of the public and drivers are safeguarded 
by making sure that licensed drivers can communicate and give and understand most 
instructions. Applicants who cannot demonstrate an adequate or reasonable level of 
spoken English and/or a suitable qualification will be required to undertake an 
independent assessment of their spoken English. The procedure for the English 
assessment is detailed at Appendix E. 

 
6.5 If the Licensing Authority has concerns that an existing driver cannot demonstrate an 

adequate or reasonable level of spoken English and/or a suitable qualification may be 
referred to the Licensing Committee with the recommendation that they undertake an 
independent assessment of their spoken English. 

 
6.6 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers, as a profession, have a responsibility for the 

safe transportation of fare-paying passengers.  Therefore, the Licensing Authority as 
part of its application procedure requires that an assessment of the drivers’ ability must 
be obtained by all new applicants.  Similarly, where an existing licensed driver receives 
an endorsement/s or penalty points the Licensing Authority may require that person to 
undertake the same assessment.  

 
6.7 The driving assessment is achieved by successful completion of a standard taxi driving 

assessment, as approved by the Licensing Authority.  The test is reflective of modern 
driving practices; the standard is set at a level suitable for the full driving licence holder, 
which is therefore of a higher level than the learner driver test.  
 

6.8 It is a requirement that all drivers must have completed training on assisting 
passengers with disabilities, as approved by the Licensing Authority. New drivers must 
complete the training within 12 months of their licence being granted; currently licensed 
drivers must present proof of completion of the training with their renewal application.  
Failure to do so will result in the licence being suspended or not renewed. 
 

6.9 As part of the Licensing Authority’s commitment to protecting the safety of those most 
vulnerable in our communities, and recognising the important role that taxi drivers play 
as eyes and ears within the community there is an additional requirement that all driver 
renewal applications shall be accompanied by evidence that the applicant has 
attended a Safeguarding Awareness Workshop relating to Children and Vulnerable 
Adults. 
 



 

11 

 

6.10 All new drivers must attend a Safeguarding Awareness Workshop within 12 months of 
their licence being granted. Failure to do so will result in the licence being suspended 
or not renewed. 

 
6.11 To ensure that training has been completed within the specified timescales, new driver 

licences will normally be granted for a maximum of one year only. A three year driver 
licence may be requested upon renewal. 
 

6.12 The Licensing Authority, at its discretion, may require specific training to be undertaken 
by an applicant or a licensed driver where considered suitable.   

 
7. Medical Examination and Exemptions 
 
7.1 The Licensing Authority requires that all new drivers complete a medical examination 

and will require further medical assessments as detailed below. The medical 
examination will make sure that the applicant/licence holder satisfies all the 
requirements of the DVLA Group II medical standards of fitness to drive and must be 
provided before a licence can be granted 
 

7.2 The medical assessment may be undertaken by either a Licensing Authority approved 
medical centre or the driver’s own GP surgery. The applicant will be responsible for 
making sure that their medical records are available to the medical practitioner so that 
the medical assessment can be completed. A medical certificate in the agreed format 
must be provided to the Licensing Authority following the assessment, no older than 
three months at the time of the application being completed. 

 
7.3 The requirements for applicants/licensed drivers regarding medical examination are 

as follows: 

• Upon new driver application 

• Every 5 years from the  driver’s 45th birthday (in intervening years, licence holders 
are required to declare that there has been no change in their medical standard) 

• Every year from the driver’s 65th birthday.  

• Or any time as required by the Licensing Authority or medical practitioner 
  
7.4 Drivers who suffer from certain medical conditions may be required to provide more 

frequent medical assessments in relation to the specific medical condition. 
 

7.5 Where there is any doubt as to the medical fitness of the applicant, the Licensing 
Authority may ask the applicant to undertake a further medical examination at a 
Licensing Authority approved medical centre at the applicant’s/licence holder’s own 
expense. 

 
7.6 Where there remains any doubt about the medical fitness of the applicant/ licence 

holder, following the additional assessment described in the previous paragraph, the 
Licensing Committee will review the medical evidence. They will then make a final 
decision as to the suitability of the applicant/licence holder to drive a hackney carriage 
or private hire vehicle in light of the medical evidence available.  

 
7.7 All licence holders are required to inform the Licensing Authority of any illness, 

condition or any other matter that affects their ability to drive.  
 
7.8 Exemption from carrying guide, hearing and certain other assistance dogs 

accompanying disabled persons, can only be sought on medical grounds.  Therefore, 



 

12 

 

applicants will need to show any allergies or phobias by providing medical evidence to 
the Licensing Authority.  

 
7.9 It is important that applications for the exemption are made before taking a medical 

examination.  
 
7.10 If an application for exemption is successful, the Licensing Authority will issue the 

driver with a Notice of Exemption.  This Exemption must be exhibited in the vehicle by 
fixing it, facing outwards, either on the windscreen or in a prominent position on the 
dashboard. 

 

8. Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS), Criminal Disclosures, and Certificates of 
Good Conduct 

 
8.1  Due to the nature of their role, Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers are included 

as ‘exceptions’ from the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975. 
Therefore, all applicants and licensed drivers must reveal on their application form any 
caution or conviction, even if it is ‘spent’ for other purposes. All offences will appear on 
an Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificate. There are certain 
circumstances where old or minor cautions and convictions may be ‘protected’ and will 
not appear on a DBS certificate, more information on this can be found in the ‘DBS 
Filtering Guide’ available on the DBS website. 
 

8.2 The Licensing Authority requires that all new applicants submit an enhanced DBS 
check upon application for a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire driver licence, which 
includes a check of the child and vulnerable adult barring lists. The check must be 
made through the Licensing Authority’s approved electronic DBS checking service 

 
8.3       All new applicants and current licence holders must subscribe to the DBS Update 

Service for the required annual fee as set by the DBS. If the subscription remains up-
to-date, the licence holder will not be required to complete another DBS application 
unless there are changes to their criminal record status 
 

8.4       If the applicant or licence holder has subscribed to the ‘Update Service’, their 
subscription is up-to-date and written authorisation to do so has been given, the 
Licensing Authority will be able to access the online Update Service to carry out a 
‘Status Check’. The status will be checked annually, but may also be checked at any 
time while the licence holder is licensed, if there is reason to do so. For example, if 
there is the reasonable belief that the licence holder has obtained a criminal conviction 
which has not been notified to the Licensing Authority. 
 

8.5       If the subscription lapses, a new DBS application must be completed within one month, 
including payment of the full DBS application fee. Failure to do so may result in the 
suspension of the licence. Proof of identity will be required for the enhanced DBS 
check, the full requirements of which may be found on the DBS website. 
 

8.6 Under the Immigration Act 2016, applicants must prove that they have the right to work 
in the UK, before being granted a licence. Applicants must provide documentary 
evidence of their immigration status. A full list of acceptable documents will be provided 
to new applicants, this includes a passport, birth certificate and proof of National 
Insurance Number where applicable. The Licensing Authority will operate its 
application procedures in line with guidance issued by the Home Office. 

 
8.7 For new driver applications, if you have lived outside of the UK for a continuous 

period of 6 months or more at any time since your 18th birthday, you must obtain a 



 

13 

 

Certificate of Good Conduct which must be under 6 months old. A Certificate of Good 
Conduct (or equivalent) authenticated and translated by the relevant embassy is 
required.  The GOV.UK website provides information about obtaining these 
certificates, or similar documents from other countries. 
 

8.8 Asylum seekers who hold a Home Office issued application registration document 
together with a positive verification letter from the Home Office's Employer Checking 
Service stating that the named individual is permitted to work in the UK will be 
exempt from the requirement to submit a recent certificate of good conduct. We will 
require to see any Certificate of Good Conduct that you may have regardless of the 
age of the document. 

 
8.9       Failure to inform the Licensing Authority, without delay, of any convictions, cautions 

and fixed penalty notices during the licensing application and/or licensing period (i.e. 
once the licence is granted) may result in the application being refused or the licence 
being suspended or revoked.  Similarly, where convictions, cautions or fixed penalty 
notices are notified, depending on the nature of the incident, this may result in 
suspension or revocation of the driver licence.  

 
8.10 All applicants for the grant/renewal of a licence requiring a DBS check, or by request 

during the licence period, shall be responsible for the costs of gaining the DBS 
certificate.  

 
9. DVLA Licence Checking  
 

9.1 The Licensing Authority will need an applicant to sign a mandate form in order that a 
DVLA licence check can be carried out at any time while licensed as a Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire driver. This will allow the Licensing Authority to access 
information relating to DVLA driving licence entitlements and endorsements.   

 
9.2 DVLA driving licence records will be checked annually, but may also be checked at 

any time while the driver is licensed, if there is reason to do so. For example, if there 
is the reasonable belief that the driver’s licence has been endorsed since the previous 
check.   

 
9.3 A licence will not normally be granted to new applicants with more than 6 unspent 

penalty points on their DVLA driving licence. 
 
10. Relevance of Convictions, Cautions, Fixed Penalties and other relevant  
            information 

 

10.1 When considering convictions and cautions recorded against an applicant or an 
existing licence holder, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the “Convictions & 
Cautions Policy” set out in Appendix A. 

 
10.2 In assessing whether an applicant or licence holder is a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold 

a licence, the Licensing Authority will consider each case on its own merit.   
 
10.3 The Licensing Authority will take account of cautions, whether spent or unspent, fixed 

penalty notices and other information, but only if they are relevant to an application for 
a licence or impact on the continuance of an existing driver licence.  Upon receipt of 
the DBS check, the Licensing Authority will consider whether any, or all, of the spent 
convictions have any real relevance to the issue of whether the applicant or licence 
holder is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. In certain cases, the matter may be 
referred to the Licensing Committee for a decision.   



 

14 

 

 
10.4 The Licensing Authority will have regard to fixed penalties when considering if an 

applicant is a fit and proper person.  Failure to inform the Licensing Authority of any 
fixed penalty notices obtained during the application or licence period may result in 
possible refusal of the application or suspension or withdrawal of the licence. 
 

10.5 In relation to cautions, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the nature of the 
incident when considering its relevance to an application or continuance of an existing 
driver licence.  
 

10.6 In relation to previous convictions, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 
following: 

 

• Whether the conviction(s) are spent or unspent; 

• The nature of the offence(s); 

• The age of the offence(s); 

• The apparent seriousness, as gauged by the penalty applied. 
 
10.7 In general terms, the more recent, serious and relevant to the Licensing Authority’s 

licensing objectives the offence is, the less likely the application will be granted or that 
an existing licence will be permitted to remain in effect. 

 
11. Grant and Renewal of Driver Licences 
 
New Applications 
 
11.1 The Licensing Authority will normally issue a three-year licence unless a reasonable 

request for a licence of a shorter period is made. The Licensing Authority retain 
discretion to issue licences of a shorter period if it considers appropriate. 

 
Renewal Applications  
 
11.2 The Licensing Authority will normally issue a three-year licence upon renewal, unless 

a reasonable request for a licence for a shorter period is made.  The Licensing 
Authority retains discretion to issue licences of a shorter period if it considers this to 
be reasonable given the individual circumstances.   

 
11.3 Applications must be made on the specified application form, which is available to 

download from the Council’s website or upon request to the Licensing Team.   The 
Licensing Authority will not accept the application as being served until all prescribed 
supporting documentation is provided.  
 

11.4 Renewal applications will not be accepted more than 2 months before the expiry date 
of the licence. 
 

11.5 Although there is no statutory duty placed on the Council to issue reminders, holders 
of existing driver licences will be reminded in advance of their licence expiring and the 
requirement to renew. It is recommended that drivers note their licence expiry date and 
apply to renew in good time. It remains the licence holder’s responsibility to ensure 
that licences are renewed in time. 
 

11.6 As the reminder service is not a statutory requirement, failure to receive a reminder is 
not a valid reason for not renewing a licence in time or for supplying the Council with 
a required document. 



 

15 

 

 
11.7 Failure to renew a licence before the expiry date will result in the applicant being 

required to make an application for the grant of a new licence and comply with all the 
associated requirements of the new application process. If the licence renewal is 
submitted late as a result of exceptional circumstances it may be accepted. 
‘Exceptional’ in this instance will only apply where failure to renew on time is due to 
unforeseen circumstances, for example where the applicant has been unable to apply 
due to an emergency situation. 

 
12. Code of Good Conduct  
 
12.1 The Licensing Authority has introduced a Code of Good Conduct for Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire drivers, which serves to promote the Licensing Authority’s licensing 
objectives. Failure to meet with these standards may lead to the Licensing Authority 
determining that a licensed driver is no longer a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold a licence. 

 
12.2 The Code is provided at Appendix B and should be read together with the other 

statutory and policy requirements in this document. By accepting a licence from the 
Licensing Authority, licensed drivers will be deemed to have read and accepted the 
Council’s Code of Good Conduct, therefore agreeing to follow its contents. 

 
13. Penalty Point System 
 
13.1 The introduction of the Penalty Points System is to provide an effective enforcement 

process for Licensing Officers for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver and 
Vehicle Licence holders who are found to be in breach of local or national licensing 
conditions and policies. 

 
13.2 The importance of the Penalty Points System is to increase and guarantee the safety 

and wellbeing of members of the public as well as compliance with legal requirements. 
The system is only intended to ensure compliance by those licence holders who it is 
proved have breached or are in breach of the rules and regulations that they should 
be obeying. 

 
13.3 The system operates in line with penalty points endorsed on a driving licence and that 

where 12 unspent penalty points are collected this will result in automatic referral to a 
Licensing Committee. Where a referral is made to a Licensing Committee, it will be 
that Committee’s decision on what further action if any should be taken. 

 
13.4 The Licensing Committee is an independent body made up of elected councillors 

who listen to matters about the suitability of a person to hold a licence. The Members 
are presented facts and evidence about an application for a licence or to decide if a 
current licence holder is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. The Members will 
also ask questions of the applicant or licence holder who will be given an opportunity 
to present his/her case. 

 
13.5 A licence holder has the right to appeal against a Licensing Committee decision to 

the Magistrates Court within 21 days of notification of the Committee’s decision. 
 
13.6 Where penalty points have been given and the licence holder wishes to appeal, the 

licence holder may make a formal complaint through the Council’s complaint system 
for further investigation. 

 
13.7 Any licence holder has the right to appeal against a Licensing Committee decision to 

the Magistrates Court within 21 days of notification of the Committee’s decision. 



 

16 

 

 
13.8 Details on when penalty points may be given are found at Appendix C. 
 
13.9 The issuing of penalty points does not stop the Licensing Authority from taking further 

enforcement action where there has been a breach of any of the regulations of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or the Town Police Clauses 
Acts 

 
14. Assisting Wheelchair Users 
 
14.1 The Licensing Authority encourages the licensing of wheelchair accessible vehicles 

(WAVs) and have reduced fees for these types of vehicle. Please see Appendix F for 
information on our requirements for WAVs. 

 
14.2 Sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 make it a criminal offence for drivers of 

‘designated’ taxi and private hire vehicles to refuse to carry passengers in wheelchairs, 
to fail to provide them with appropriate assistance, or to charge them extra. 

 
14.3 The Licensing Authority has a list of designated WAVs, which is available on the 

council website www.westdevon.gov.uk . Drivers of those vehicles on the list must 
carry passengers in wheelchairs, provide assistance to those passengers and must 
not charge them extra. These requirements do not apply to drivers who have a valid 
exemption certificate and are displaying a valid exemption notice in the set manner. 
Exemption certificates will only be issued on medical grounds or because the driver’s 
physical condition makes it impossible or unreasonably difficult for the driver to comply 
with these duties. 

 
14.4 Section 165 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the duties placed on drivers of designated 

wheelchair accessible taxis and PHVs. The duties are:  
 

• To carry the passenger while in the wheelchair;  

• Not to make any additional charge for doing so;  

• If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheelchair;  

• To take such steps as are necessary to make sure that the passenger is carried in 
safety and reasonable comfort; and  

• To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required.  
 
14.5 The Act then goes on to define mobility assistance as assistance:  
 

• To help the passenger to get into or out of the vehicle;  

• If the passenger wishes to remain in the wheelchair, to help the passenger to get 
into and out of the vehicle while in the wheelchair;  

• To load the passenger’s luggage into or out of the vehicle;  

• If the passenger does not wish to remain in the wheelchair, to load the wheelchair 
into or out of the vehicle.  

 
14.6 Wheelchair users who do not wish to travel in their wheelchair should be assisted 

wherever possible to do so. In which case the wheelchair must be stored securely as 
luggage. Drivers should offer all reasonable assistance to the wheelchair user to make 
sure that they are carried safely and in comfort. This is applicable to drivers of all 
licensed vehicles, not only those designated as WAVs.  

 
 
 



 

17 

 

15. Duty to carry Guide and Assistance Dogs 
 
15.1 The Equality Act 2010, places a duty on hackney carriage and private hire drivers to 

carry guide and other assistance dogs. Drivers that cannot carry assistance dogs must 
get a certificate of exemption confirming that they have permission to refuse on medical 
grounds. Exemptions cannot be made for anything other than medical conditions. 

 
15.2 Unless such an exemption has been obtained, guide and assistance dogs must be 

carried in the vehicle and must be allowed to stay with their owner. 
 
15.3 No extra cost may be charged to those travelling with a guide or an assistance dog. A 

booking cannot be refused due to someone having an assistance dog with them. 
 
16. Smoking  
 
16.1 Smoking in a smoke-free place is banned under the Health Act 2006. A ‘smoke-free 

place’ includes a licensed Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle. In the context of 
the Health Act, smoking relates to the smoking of cigarettes and other tobacco 
products. 

 
16.2 The driver of a licensed vehicle must not smoke in the vehicle at any time, including 

when the vehicle is being used for social, domestic and pleasure purposes. 
 
16.3 The driver of a licensed vehicle must not allow any other person or fare-paying 

passengers to smoke in a licensed vehicle. 
 
16.4 This also includes a ban on electronic inhaler type cigarettes or vaporisers, which 

mimic the action of smoking, known as ‘vaping’ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

18 

 

PART TWO – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles  
 
17.  Vehicle Licensing Requirements 
 
17.1 To make sure a reliable Hackney Carriage or Private Hire service of an acceptable 

standard is provided within the District, a person to be considered for a Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle licence on the first or following occasions will: 

 
 Have a vehicle which is in satisfactory mechanical order and body condition and in 

operational order in every respect, which, according to the manufacturer’s unaltered 
specification has; 

 
a) Seats for 8 passengers or less 

 
b) 4 or 5 Star NCAP Safety Rating  
 
c) Doors next to and allowing direct access to and from the seats (with exception to 

MPV style vehicles)  
 
d) The number of seats that a vehicle will be licensed for will only include seats that 

are provided with a three point harness (i.e. cross body and lap belt) 
 
e) Only forward or rear facing seats may be licensed 

 
f) Right hand drive (except limousines)  

 
g) Suitable luggage accommodation  

 
h) The inside and outside of the vehicle shall be clean and free from damage, well 

maintained and every way fit for public service 
 

17.2 Vehicles that are smaller than a ‘Large Family Car’, as stated in their Euro NCAP 
Safety Rating, may not be licensed to carry passengers in all their seats. This 
depends upon the space available for passengers and will be judged on a case-by-
case basis. 

 
17.3 All currently licensed vehicles must fulfil the vehicle requirements and specifications 

detailed above by 1st January 2023.  
 
17.4 All new vehicles must comply with the vehicle requirements from 1st January 2018. 
 
18.  Vehicle Proprietor Requirements  
 
18.1 On all new and renewal applications, all applicants named as individuals or partners, 

must provide a basic criminal record check (through Disclosure Scotland) dated within 
one month of the date of application.  

 
18.2 Currently licensed drivers that hold a valid Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check 

do not need to comply with section 18.1 above. 
 
18.3 On all new and renewal applications, all applicants, current named licence holders, 

partners, directors and company secretary must complete a Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Vehicle Licence Declaration of Convictions form. 

 



 

19 

 

18.4 All new applicants and current licence holders must inform the Licensing Authority of 
any convictions or cautions they have received at any time. These will be considered 
in line with the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Convictions Policy, see Appendix 
A. 

 
19. Vehicle Type 
 
19.1 The ‘European Transport Safety Council: Making Taxis Safer’ guidance recommends 

that Licensing Authorities should consider the Euro NCAP Star Safety Rating when 
licensing a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle.  

 
19.2 Only vehicles that have a 4 or 5 star Euro NCAP Star Safety Rating would be 

considered to be licensed as a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle. Please see 
Appendix G for further information on the Euro NCAP Star Safety Rating.  

 
19.3 All existing Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicles that do not have a 4 or 5 star 

Euro NCAP Star Safety Rating may continue to renew their licences until 31st 
December 2022.  

 
19.4 A vehicle that has previously been ‘written off’ may only be presented for 

consideration to be a licensed Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle, if it was a 
category D write off. 

 
20. Imported Vehicles  
 
20.1 Imported vehicles up to 10 years old at the time of first GB registration must produce 

one of the following vehicle type approval certificates: 
 

• European Community Whole Vehicle Type Approval (ECWVTA) 

• National Small Series Type Approval (NSSTA) 

• Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) 
 
21.  Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) 
 

21.1 The Licensing Authority encourages the licensing of wheelchair accessible 
vehicles (WAVs) and have reduced fees for these types of vehicle 

 
21.2 The requirement for type approval for factory built WAVs became mandatory in April 

2012. Prior to this date, certification was on a voluntary basis. There are four types of 
certification: 

 

• EC Whole Vehicle Type Approval (ECWVTA) 

• ECSSTA (EC Small Series Type Approval)  

• NSSTA (National Small Series Type Approval)  

• IVA (Individual Vehicle Approval)  
 
21.3 For vehicles already holding one of the above Type Approval Certifications after 

modification: 
 

a) The ECWTVA (Full M1 or M1 Stage 2 Certification), ECSSTA, NSSTA or IVA 
certification must be provided. The document must have been issued after the 
modifications were made and the DVLA logbook (V5) must have been issued or 
updated after modification. 

 



 

20 

 

b) Documentation concerning the vehicle conversion should be obtained from the 
organisation that converted the vehicle where possible. 

 
c) The vehicle will go through a physical inspection at one of the vehicle testing garages 

to identify and assess the condition of the modifications made to the vehicle. This is 
in addition to the standard Vehicle Inspection Test and MOT requirement. 

 
21.4 For vehicles without Type Approval after modification: 
 

a) Documents with details about the vehicle conversion or alteration from the 
organisation that converted the vehicle must be provided. This is to identify what 
changes have been made and when they were made. 

 
b) Certificate of Conformity from the original manufacturer (e.g. Citroen, Peugeot) this 

may be found by contacting the company directly or through a local dealership. This 
gives an overview of the vehicle in its original state and helps in identifying what 
changes have been made. 

 
c) Voluntary IVA certification, this can be found through the Driver and Vehicle 

Standards Agency (DVSA.) In line with DVSA recommendations, applicants must 
get ‘Voluntary IVA’ certification under class P (Personal Import) and (if fitted with a 
Disabled access and seating positions) class D (Disabled persons vehicle). The 
tests have to be taken under the Voluntary scheme because registered vehicles 
cannot be tested under a statutory test. Once Voluntary IVA certification is issued, 
the DVLA V5 logbook must also be updated to recognise the changes. 

 
d) The vehicle will go through a physical inspection at one of the designated vehicle 

testing garages to assess the condition of the changes made to the vehicle. This is 
in addition to the standard Vehicle Inspection Test and MOT requirement. 

 
21.5 Please see Appendix F for further information on our requirements for Wheelchair 

Accessible Vehicles. 
 
22. Vehicle Passenger Lifts and Platforms 
 
22.1 Vehicle passenger lifts and platforms come in a number of styles and designs to suit 

different applications and types of vehicles, including motorised ‘tail lifts’.  
 
22.2 The owner of the vehicle should carry out a comprehensive risk analysis to establish 

any limitations that may need to be placed on the use of a lift. This risk analysis 
should take into account the wheelchair user’s requirements, the type and weight of 
the wheelchair and the type and capacity of the lift and vehicle. Contact between 
users and wheelchair service providers, before journeys are taken, should provide 
the required details of combined weight for a wheelchair and user. A risk 
management plan should then be made to reduce and manage risks for everyone. 

 
22.3 Vehicle passenger lifts are regulated by the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment 

Regulations 1998 (LOLER). Such devices must comply with statutory regulations. An 
appropriate and current LOLER certificate must be provided before the vehicle may 
be licensed. 

 
22.4 If such a device is fitted to a currently licensed vehicle, the vehicle shall not be used 

as a licensed vehicle until the above requirements are met, a Voluntary IVA will be 
needed in order to assess the alteration to the vehicle. 

 



 

21 

 

22.5 Regard should be given to the BPG1 Transportation of People Seated in Wheelchairs 
(2013), Guidance on the Safe Transportation of Wheelchairs (2001) and where 
relevant the Guidance on the Safe Use of Wheelchairs and Vehicle-Mounted 
Passenger Lifts (2001). 

 
23.  Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) 
 
23.1 A Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle owner converting their licensed vehicle to 

run on Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) must tell the Council of such change and 
meet the following conditions. These conditions will also apply to owners buying a 
new or used vehicle that runs on LPG. 

 
a) The installation of a LPG tank be fitted by an LPGA approved installer as 

recommended by the Liquid Petroleum Gas Association. 
 

b) The owner produces a certificate of compliance by an approved LPGA installer. 
 

c) The LPG tank fitted must be a multi-valve tank and be fitted with a sealed tank box 
made from aluminium and vented to the atmosphere. 

 
d) The vehicle displays on the front and rear screens a sticker stating that the vehicle 

has been fitted with a LPG tank for the purpose of the emergency services in the 
event of an accident. 

 
e) That if a doughnut tank is fitted in the spare wheel well of the boot, the spare 

wheel must be securely fixed in a position not blocking the whole luggage space. 
If no spare wheel is to be fitted then a means of repairing a puncture (puncture kit) 
must be present. 

 
f) The proprietor must notify DVLA Swansea, of the change in fuel from petrol to both 

LPG and petrol. 
 

g) The vehicle must be serviced by a person experienced in LPG powered vehicles. 
 
24. Tinted Windows 
 
24.1 The minimum light transmission for glass in the front windscreen is 75%, and in 

windows either side of the driver is 70%, as per national guidelines. 
 
24.2 Vehicles may be manufactured with glass that has less than 70% light transmission 

fitted to windows rearward of the driver only. 
 
24.3 Tinted film is not allowed and where currently licensed vehicles have had a ‘tinted 

film’ fitted after being licensed, the film must be removed. 
 
24.4 Tint may only be added to windows, where it is in line with the manufacturer’s original 

standard. This may be when a repair is required or where tint has been removed by a 
previous owner. In these circumstances permission must be sought from the 
Licensing Authority prior to carrying out the work and if approved the above 
paragraph will not apply. 

 
25. Certificate of Compliance (MOT)/inspection 
 
25.1 The Certificate of Compliance inspection of the vehicle will be carried out in line with 

the Freight Transport Association: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 



 

22 

 

National Inspection Standards Best Practice Guidance. Please see www.fta.co.uk for 
the full FTA Guidance document, it is also available on our website 
www.westdevon.gov.uk or by contacting the Licensing Authority. 

 
25.2 All vehicles to be licensed must have a Certificate of Compliance at one of the 

Council’s approved testing centres from a VOSA approved testing centre in 
accordance with the FTA standards. The certificate template will be provided by the 
Licensing Authority. Vehicles must be tested; 

 
a)  Prior to the first licence being issued and this must remain in force for the length 

of the vehicle licence. 
 

b)  All vehicles to be tested yearly up to 3 years of age. 
 

c)  After 3 years of age all vehicles to be tested six monthly. 
 

d)  All vehicles over 10 years of age must be inspected yearly by a Licensing Officer 
at WDBC Offices prior to the vehicle licence being granted or renewed.   

 
e)  After any repair made necessary by an accident affecting the safety, performance 

or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or convenience of passengers. 
 

f)  When a vehicle fails an inspection examination for serious body damage or 
mechanical faults it will be subject to a written prohibition notice. Until the damage 
or fault has been corrected and the vehicle has got a new Certificate of 
Compliance, the vehicle cannot be used as a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage 
vehicle. 

 
g)  Any change made to a vehicle must be formally agreed by the Licensing 

Department prior to the change being made.  
 
25.3 The applicant shall provide the vehicle for mechanical and/or such other inspection 

as the Council may require. Vehicles submitted for test/inspection shall be in such a 
condition as to be suitable for inspection including:  

 

• Vehicles should be free from excessive oil leaks  

• All vehicles should be thoroughly clean inside and out 

• Vehicle not meeting these conditions will not be inspected 
 
25.4 The Licensing Authority may request a re-test of a vehicle at a chosen testing centre 

where it deems necessary to do so. This will be at the cost of the Licensing Authority. 
 
25.5 Where a vehicle fails a test, suspension or revocation of the licence will be 

considered. 
 
25.6 Please see Appendix J for further information on the vehicle testing process. 
 
26. Documentation 
 
26.1 The applicant shall produce the following original documents prior to the issue of the 

licence which must be current at the time the licence commences; 
 



 

23 

 

a)  An Insurance Certificate / Cover Note which specifies insurance cover for Public 
Hire (applicable to Hackney Carriage) or Private Hire / Hire and Reward 
(applicable to Private Hire). 

 
b)  A Public Liability Insurance Certificate / Cover Note which gives insurance cover 

for a minimum of £5 million.  
 

c)  The vehicle registration document (V5) showing the current owner’s name and 
address. 

 
d)  The Certificate of Compliance (Council MOT) issued by one of the Council’s 

approved garages from a VOSA approved testing centre in accordance with the 
FTA standards. The certificate template will be provided by the Licensing 
Authority. 

 
26.2 All vehicle licence holders must carry either the original, photocopy or electronic 

version of the following in their vehicle at all times; 
 

• Driving licence  

• Insurance 

• Certificate of Compliance. 

• V5 Registration Document 
 
27. Advertising  
 
27.1  Before any advertising is placed on a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage vehicle it 

must be formally approved by the Licensing Department.  
 
27.2  Requests for advertising must be made in writing with a scaled drawing, design or 

photograph of the proposed advertisement, to the Licensing Manager for formal 
approval before being applied to the vehicle. 

 
27.3 Each proposal will be considered on its own merits. 
 
27.5 Any new, revised or amended advertisement must be sent to the Licensing Manager 

for formal approval. 
 
27.6 If advertising is placed on a licensed Private Hire or Hackney Carriage Vehicle 

without agreement, the vehicle licence may be suspended or not renewed. Where it 
is placed on an unlicensed vehicle, the vehicle licence may not be granted. 

 
27.7 The decision to suspend or to not grant/renew a vehicle licence may be referred by 

the Licensing Manager to the Licensing Committee if necessary. 
 
27.8 Where any applicant is unhappy with a decision of the Licensing Authority he/she 

may appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of written notification of the 
decision. 

 
28. Signage 
 
28.1 The Hackney Carriage / Private Hire vehicle licence plate shall be securely affixed to 

the outside rear of the vehicle at all times, regardless of whether or not the vehicle is 
being used for Hackney Carriage Private Hire purposes. 

 



 

24 

 

28.2 The Hackney Carriage / Private Hire vehicle licence plate should not be concealed or 
damaged and must be kept clean so that it is clearly visible at all times. 

 
28.3 The Hackney Carriage / Private Hire vehicle internal licence plate (sticker) provided 

by the Licensing Authority must be displayed on each passenger window. 
 
28.4 Hackney Carriage vehicles must display an illuminable roof sign. 
 
28.5 For further information on signage on Private Hire vehicles, please see section 47 of 

this document. 
 
29. Meters  
 

29.1 Although not a requirement, the Licensing Authority recommends that all Hackney 
Carriage Vehicles are fitted with a meter which is calibrated to the company’s own fare 
table. 

 
30. CCTV  
 
30.1 The Licensing Authority supports the installation of CCTV systems in licensed 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles, where the system installed meets the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Information Commissioner’s 
Code of Practice. 

 
30.2 The Data Protection Act 1998 controls the holding and processing of personal 

information of living individuals including information contained in or related to images 
captured using CCTV. 

 
30.3 Under the Data Protection Act 1998, the vehicle licence holder is the data controller 

for any CCTV images caught on cameras in their vehicles which can be used to 
identify an individual. The licence holder must make sure that all CCTV images that 
can be used to identify an individual are captured on camera, used, stored and 
released in line with the data protection principles. 

 
30.4 Signs must be displayed within the vehicle explaining that CCTV is in operation, 

including the purpose of the system and contact details. Other than in exceptional 
circumstances any sound recording function on the CCTV system should be 
disabled. Further guidance is available in the Information Commissioner’s Office 
(ICO) Code of Practice.  

 
30.5 Vehicle licence holders that have CCTV installed in their vehicles must notify as a 

data controller to the ICO and pay an annual fee. 
 
30.6 The Data Protection Act 1998 allows for CCTV images which can be used to identify 

an individual to be handed over for the prevention of detection of crime, the 
prosecution or apprehension of offenders or where the disclosure is required by law. 
Where CCTV images are provided to the police, such disclosure should be 
necessary for investigating or preventing a crime or apprehending or prosecuting an 
offender.  

 
30.7 The Licensing Authority recommends that CCTV installed in licensed vehicles should 

meet the following minimum requirements: 
 



 

25 

 

a)  The person responsible for the system must notify the Information 
Commissioner’s Office annually.  

 
b)  CCTV systems should not provide continual sound recording; sound recording 

activated by way of a panic button installed in the vehicle can be used in 
exceptional circumstances. 

 
c)  All vehicles which have CCTV systems must display signs in prominent positions 

advising passengers that a CCTV system is in operation, reasons for operation 
and contact details.  

 
d)  Drivers should position cameras within the vehicle in suitable places, as a poorly 

positioned camera may record inappropriate imagery.  
 
e)  Cameras must be fixed and not able to be moved. This will prevent accidental 

recording of inappropriate material.  
 
f)  Cameras and storage units must be secured to prevent tampering and vandalism 

by customers.  
 
g)  Before installing CCTV within a licensed vehicle, drivers and proprietors are 

advised to familiarise themselves with the Information Commissioner’s Code of 
Practice and the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998. A copy of the 
Code of Practice can be obtained from the ICO website: www.ico.org.uk . 

 
30.8 Information relating to any CCTV systems installed in licensed vehicles must be 

detailed on the vehicle licence application form and will be checked as part of the 
Council’s approved vehicle test. 

 
31. Towing Trailers 
 
31.1 Licensed hackney carriages and private hire vehicles may tow trailers, providing it is 

a pre-arranged journey where passengers’ luggage cannot be safely stored within the 
vehicle. 

 
31.2 The trailer must be roadworthy at all times, fulfil all requirements of the current Road 

Traffic legislation (including speed restrictions applicable to trailers) and the towing 
weights stated by the vehicle’s manufacturer. 

 
31.3 The vehicle insurance must include cover for towing a trailer for hire and reward and 

the driver must hold the appropriate licence category on their DVLA driving licence to 
tow a trailer. 

 
31.4 An inspection of the trailer must be undertaken by a VOSA approved testing centre 

one of the Council’s approved testing centres as part of the specified vehicle’s 
Certificate of Compliance inspection (see section 25 of this document). 

 
31.5 Approval must be given by the Licensing Authority, before the use of the trailer. Once 

agreed an additional licence plate will be issued which must be fixed to the rear of the 
trailer whenever the trailer is towed by the licensed vehicle. There is an additional fee 
for the issue of a licence plate for a trailer. 

 
31.6 Please see Appendix H for further information on the requirements for towing 

trailers. 
 



 

26 

 

32. Emissions 
 
32.1 To help reduce their environmental impact, all hackney carriages stood at the rank 

should not have their engines running unnecessarily while waiting for a fare. 
Exceptions would be for the purposes of demisting the vehicle in order to achieve all 
round visibility to safely leave the taxi rank or for heating purposes on excessively cold 
days. 

 
32.2 Also, in line with guidelines produced by the National Institute for Health and Care 

Excellence (NICE), hackney carriage and private hire vehicles should not keep their 
engines running unnecessarily while waiting elsewhere, particularly where vulnerable 
groups meet, such as outside schools, hospitals and care homes. Exceptions would 
be for the purposes of demisting the vehicle in order to move on safely or, in the 
interests of passenger comfort, for heating purposes on excessively cold days. 

 
32.3 The Licensing Authority encourages the use of vehicles which use cleaner technology. 

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicles (i.e. is a vehicle that produces less than 75g/km of CO2) 
have reduced licence fees. 

 
33. Dual Plating 
 
33.1 Any vehicle that is licensed with another Licensing Authority as a hackney carriage or 

private hire vehicle cannot be licensed. 
 
33.2 Vehicles found to be licensed with another Licensing Authority will have their vehicle 

licence automatically revoked. 
 
34. Out of District Work 
 
34.1 When carrying out pre-booked work, hackney carriages must predominantly be used 

for journeys where either the pick up or drop off point is within the boundary of West 
Devon. 

 
34.2 All hackney carriage owners must make sure that records are maintained for all pre-

booked work carried on both within and outside the boundary of West Devon. Such 
records must be made as soon as a booking is received and be made available to an 
authorised officer upon request. Records must be kept for 6 months after the booking 
was made. The following details should be included: 

   a) Date and time of booking 
   b) Name of customer 
   c) Details of booking – pick-up and drop-off point 
   d) Driver’s name and licence number 
 
35. Duty to carry Guide and Assistance Dogs 
 
35.1 The owner must make sure the driver of the vehicle meets the requirement to carry a 

Guide, Hearing or Assistance Dog when requested, unless the driver is a holder of an 
Exemption Certificate (see section 15 of this document). 

 
36. Fire Extinguishers 
 
36.1 The Licensing Authority recommends that a fire extinguisher is carried in licensed 

hackney carriage and private hire vehicles to help tackle minor incidents where 
appropriate and that the extinguishers are kept in a position to be readily available for 
use if the need arises. The Licensing Authority advises that any driver that carries a 



 

27 

 

fire extinguisher should be trained in how to use it before attempting to use it to put out 
a fire. 

 
36.2 The Licensing Authority recommends that drivers evacuate themselves and their 

passengers from the vehicle immediately and contact the emergency services for 
anything other than a minor incident. 

 
36.3 Please contact the Licensing Team for further information on the appropriate type of 

fire extinguisher and recommended training in the use of fire extinguishers. 
 
37. First Aid Kits 
 
37.1 The Licensing Authority recommends that a first aid kit is carried in licensed hackney 

carriage and private hire vehicles for use on minor injuries or illnesses for both 
themselves and their passengers. The Licensing Authority advises that any drivers 
carrying first aid kits should be appropriately trained in first aid before administering 
any care to their passengers. 

 
37.2 The Licensing Authority recommends that drivers contact the emergency services 

immediately in the event of a medical emergency. 
 
37.3 Please contact the Licensing Team for further information on the recommended level 

of first aid training. 
 
38. Licence plate exemptions for Private Hire Vehicles 
 
38.1 It is possible to apply for an exemption from the requirement to display the vehicle 

licence plate on a Private Hire Vehicle, depending upon the nature of the business. 
Plate exemption will only be granted where there is a genuine operational reason and 
business requirement and where the safety of the public will not be affected. 

 
38.2 Where a vehicle is exempt from the need to display an external licence plate, the 

vehicle will also be exempt from the need to display the window stickers, advance 
booking stickers, and the private hire operator’s name and contact details. 

 
38.3 An exemption can be requested by completing the appropriate application form and 

providing details of the vehicle in addition to clear reasons for the request, written proof 
of contracts and any other documentary evidence in support of the application showing 
that the vehicle will be used for ‘executive work’. Each exemption is for one specific 
vehicle only and if approved the appropriate fee is payable and must be requested 
annually. 

 
38.4 The following minimum requirements must be met before an exemption certificate will 

be issued:- 
 

• The vehicle must be used for account work only with written contracts (no cash 
jobs). 

• The vehicle must be of an executive type. 
 
38.5 Once an exemption certificate has been granted, the vehicle licence holder must make 

sure that:- 
 

a) The private hire licence plate must be kept within the vehicle at all times and be 
made available for inspection; 

 



 

28 

 

b) The exemption certificate must be carried in the vehicle at all times and must be 
produced upon request to an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or any 
Police Officer. 

 
c)  While driving the exempted vehicle, the driver will not need to wear the Private Hire 

driver’s identification badge, but must have it available for immediate inspection by 
an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or any Police Officer. 

 
d) The owner must notify the Licensing Authority in writing of any change in use of the 

vehicle. 
 

e) The exempted vehicle must not be used for any other purposes than for executive 
use. 

 
f)  The exemption will end on selling or transferring the vehicle to another party. The 

person holding the exemption must inform the Licensing Authority of the 
sale/transfer of ownership in writing and must provide details of the new owner. The 
exemption certificate must be returned to the Licensing Authority. The private hire 
vehicle identification plate must also be returned if the vehicle is sold to an operator 
which is licensed by a different Licensing Authority. 

 
38.6 Whether or not an exemption certificate is granted, the first certificate will expire on the 

same day as the expiration of the vehicle’s private hire licence, unless it is otherwise 
surrendered or revoked. Any renewed exemption certificate will last for a period that 
falls in line with the vehicle’s private hire licence, unless the certificate is surrendered 
or revoked. 

 
39. Stretch Limousines and Specialist Vehicles 
 
39.1 Section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 states that 

a District Council shall not grant a licence unless they are satisfied that the vehicle is 
suitable in size type and design for use as a Private Hire vehicle not of such design 
and appearance as to lead any person to believe that the vehicle is a Hackney 
Carriage, in a suitable mechanical condition, safe and comfortable and that there is in 
force in relation to the use of the vehicle a policy of insurance. For the purposes of 
this policy and licence conditions a stretch limousine shall be defined as follows: 

 
A motor vehicle that has been lengthened by the insertion of an additional body 
section and modified by a coachbuilder to contain luxury facilities and fixtures that is 
capable of carrying up to but not exceeding 8 passengers. 

 
39.2 Specialist vehicles that do not meet the requirements of this Policy will be treated 

individually and application will be put to the Licensing Committee for determination. 
 
39.3 The Council will not license these vehicles as Hackney Carriages as their length 

makes them unsuitable to operate from a taxi rank. 
 
39.4 The conditions at Appendix I are seen as a good model to make sure the safety of 

the public and regulated standards for Private Hire operators and to make sure that a 
minimum standard is set in the licensing of these particular vehicles. 

 
40. Penalty Point System 
 
40.1 The introduction of the Penalty Points System is to provide an effective enforcement 

process for Licensing Officers in respect of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver 



 

29 

 

and Vehicle Licence holders who are found to be in breach of local or national licensing 
conditions and policies. 

 
40.2 The importance of the Penalty Points System is to increase and guarantee the safety 

and wellbeing of members of the public as well as compliance with legal requirements. 
The system is only intended to ensure compliance by those licence holders who it is 
proved have breached or are in breach of the rules and regulations that they should 
be obeying. 

 
40.3 The system operates in line with penalty points endorsed on a driving licence and that 

where 12 unspent penalty points are collected this will result in automatic referral to a 
Licensing Committee. Where a referral is made to a Licensing Committee, it will be 
that Committee’s decision on what further action, if any, should be taken. 

 
40.4 The Licensing Committee is an independent body made up of elected councillors who 

will sit to hear matters relating to the suitability of a person to hold a licence. This will 
involve the members being presented facts and evidence relating to an application for 
the grant of a licence or to decide if a current licence holder is a fit and proper person 
to hold a licence. The members will also ask questions of the applicant or licence 
holder who will be given an opportunity to present his/her case. 

 
40.5 Any licence holder has the right to appeal against a Licensing Committee decision to 

the Magistrates Court within 21 days of notification of the Committee’s decision 
 
40.6 Where penalty points are administered by an Officer and the licence holder wishes to 

appeal, the licence holder may make a formal complaint through the Council’s 
complaint system for further investigation. 

 
40.7 Details on when penalty points may be given are found at Appendix C. 
 
40.8 The issuing of penalty points does not stop the Licensing Authority from taking further 

enforcement action where there has been a breach of any of the regulations of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or the Town Police Clauses 
Acts 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

30 

 

PART THREE- Private Hire Operator 
 
41. Operator Licensing Requirements  
 
41.1 The Operator shall renew their Operators licence annually or every 5 years, prior to 

the expiry date of the licence. 
 
41.2 On all first and renewal applications, all applicants named as individuals or partners, 

must provide a basic criminal record check (through Disclosure Scotland) dated within 
one month of the date of application.  

 
41.3 Existing licence holders that have a valid Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check 

do not need to fulfil section 41.2 above. 
 
41.4 On all first and renewal applications, all applicants, current named licence holders, 

partners, directors and company secretary must complete a Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Vehicle Licence Declaration of Convictions form. 

 
41.5 All new applicants and current licence holders must inform the Licensing Authority of 

any convictions or cautions they have received at any time. These will be considered 
in line with the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Convictions Policy, see Appendix 
A. 

 
42.  Radio Equipment 
 
42.1 The Operator shall be (if applicable) in possession of a licence to transmit issued by 

the Radio Communications Agency/Department of Trade and Industry. The licence 
will be displayed on the company premises and a copy given yearly to the Licensing 
Authority at the time of application/renewal. 

 
43.  Insurance 
 
43.1 The Operator will have in force a current public and employees liability insurance 

policy. This will be displayed on the premises. A copy of the certificate will be 
submitted to the Licensing Authority at the time of application/renewal. This will not 
apply to single vehicle operators. 

 
44.  Touting and Soliciting 
 
44.1 An Operator shall not cause or allow any person to tout or solicit any person to hire 

or be carried for hire in any Private Hire vehicle. 
 
44.2 The Operator shall not cause or permit the words ‘taxi’ or ‘cab’ on any Private Hire 

vehicle operated by them or operating under their Operators licence. 
 
44.3 The Operator’s licence must be displayed on the business premises and the 

Operator will, on the request of an authorised officer or any police constable, produce 
their operator’s licence for inspection. 

 
45. Changes and Amendments 
 
45.1 The Operator must notify West Devon Borough Council, in writing, details of any 

convictions, cautions or motoring offences imposed on them (or if the Operator is a 



 

31 

 

company or partnership, on any of the directors or partners) during the period of the 
licence within 7 days of the date of conviction or caution. 

 
45.2 The licence holder must notify West Devon Borough Council, in writing, of any 

transfers in ownership/additional partners or changes in company name within 7 days 
of such change taking place. 

 
45.3 Any change of operating base address must be notified to the Licensing Office in 

writing before moving premises. Failure to update the Operator licence with the 
correct premises address invalidates the licence and any business activities carried 
on at the new address will be conducted illegally. 

 
46.  Business Premises 
 
46.1 West Devon Borough Council will not usually issue an Operator‘s licence to any 

business who’s operating base is located outside of the West Devon Borough. 
Applications for an operating base in an immediate neighbouring Borough/District 
may be considered.   

 
46.2 The Health Act 2006: from 1st July 2007 smoking is banned in all premises where an 

operator’s licence is held. More information regarding this can be found on 
www.smokefreeengland.co.uk. 

 
46.3 Any customer waiting area must have enough seating and be adequately heated and 

ventilated in addition to being kept clean and tidy. 
 
47.  Operators Signs and Logos (Vehicle Sign) 
 
47.1 Before any advertising is placed on a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage vehicle it 

must be formally approved by the Licensing Department.  
 
47.2 Private Hire Operators that are licensed to operate more than 1 vehicle must display 

advertising on licensed Private Hire vehicles used or employed in their business. 
Advertisement must contain: 

 
I) The name of the operator and or company logo 

II) Operators contact information  
III) The wording ‘Advanced Bookings Only’ or, 
IV) ‘Private Hire Vehicle - Advance Bookings Only’ 

 
47.3 Advertisements must not contain the wording ‘Taxi’, ‘Hackney Carriage’, ‘For Hire’ ’or 

‘Cab’ or any other wording that may suggest that the vehicle is available for 
immediate hire. 

 
47.4 Requests for advertising must be made in writing with a scaled drawing, design or 

photograph of the proposed advertisement, to the Licensing Manager for formal 
approval before being applied to the vehicle. 

 
47.5 Each proposal will be considered on its own merits. 
 
47.6 Any new, revised or amended advertisement must be given to the Licensing 

Manager for formal approval. 
 



 

32 

 

47.7 Where in the opinion of the Licensing Manager, the proposed advertisement is 
thought unsuitable, the applicant may ask for the application to be referred to a 
Licensing Committee for determination. 

 
47.8 Where any applicant is unhappy by a decision of the Licensing Committee he may 

appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of written notification of the decision. 
 
48.  Bookings 
 
48.1 The Operator must keep a legible manual or computerised record, of every booking 

accepted, either from the hirer or at the request of another licensed operator. The 
record shall be completed before the commencement of each journey and shall show 
the following particulars for each booking:- 

 
(a) The date and time the booking was received 

 
(b) The address at which the hiring is to start 

 
(c) The date and time the hiring is to be started 

 
(d) The name of the person making the hiring 

 
(e) The address at which the hiring is to end 

 
(f) The licence number or call sign of the vehicle allocated 

 
(g) The name or the licence number of the driver of the vehicle allocated 

 
48.2 The records shall be kept for a period of 6 months. These records must be 

accessible at all reasonable times for inspection by any authorised officer or Police 
Constable. Any computer program used must be able to reproduce a printed record. 

 
49.  Sub-Contracting 
 
49.1 The Operator must keep legible manual or computerised record of every booking that 

is sub-contracted to another licensed Operator or Hackney Carriage within or outside 
of the District. The record shall be completed before the booking is sub-contracted 
and shall show the following particulars for each booking:- 

 
(a) The date and time the booking was received 

 
(b) The address at which the hiring is to start 

 
(c) The date and time the hiring is to be started 

 
(d) The name of the person making the hiring 

 
(e) The address at which the hiring is to end 

  
(f) The name and licence number of the Operator accepting the booking (if 
applicable) 

 
(g) The name and licence number of the Hackney Carriage driver and vehicle (if 
applicable)  

 



 

33 

 

50.  Controllers 
 
50.1 The Operator must keep a legible manual or computerised record detailing the name, 

address and contact telephone number of every controller working for the Operator 
and keep a log of who is controlling every shift and the time periods they are working. 
The Operator shall be totally responsible for the conduct, appearance and actions of 
controllers operating under their licence. 

 
51.  Lost Property 
 
51.1 If a driver has found any property accidentally left in their vehicle they must notify 

their operator who must make every attempt to contact the owner. If the passenger 
contacts the operator arrangements must be made for the passenger to collect the 
goods within 48 hours, alternatively, hand in to a Police station as soon as possible. 

 
52.  Vehicle Records 
 
52.1 The Operator must keep a legible manual or computerised record of all current 

Private Hire and Hackney Carriage vehicles used by them or operating under their 
Operator’s licence and shall show the following particulars for each driver:-  

 
(a) The Private Hire or Hackney Carriage vehicle licence number 

 
(b) The name, address and telephone number of the vehicle licence holder 

 
(c) The make and registration of the vehicle 

 
(d) The date the vehicle was accepted under the Operator’s licence 

 
(e) The date the vehicle ceased to accept work under that Operator’s licence 

 
52.2 The Operator must make sure that every vehicle working under their Operator’s 

licence is covered by a valid certificate of insurance and a valid Certificate of 
Compliance (MOT). A legible manual or computerised record of the following must be 
maintained:- 

 
(a) Current insurance certificate/cover note for all vehicles accepting work under their 
Operator’s licence, including expiry dates 

 
(b) Certificates of Compliance (MOT) including expiry date. Should the insurance 
cover for any vehicle working under the Operator’s licence be cancelled, suspended 
or lapse, or the Certificate of Compliance (MOT) expire, without a new valid one 
being provided, then the vehicle must be immediately stood down. The Licensing 
Department should be told immediately of this action. 

 
52.3 The records shall be kept for a period of 6 months. These records must be 

accessible at all times for inspection by any authorised officer or Police Constable. 
Any computer program used must be able to reproduce a printed record. 

 
53.  Driver Records 
 
53.1 The Operator will keep a list of all drivers currently working under their Operator’s 

licence. The list must include:- 
 

(a) The full name, address and telephone number of the driver 



 

34 

 

 
(b) Details of the vehicle that the driver uses including licence number and 
registration 

 
(c) The date the driver started working under the Operator’s licence 

 
(d) The date the driver stopped working under that Operator’s licence 

 
(e) The call sign of all drivers 

 
53.2 This list must sent to the Licensing Authority yearly or accompany any renewal 

application. The records shall be kept for the entire period the driver is working for 
the operator and reviewed every 6 months to make sure that the details are up to 
date. These records must be available at all reasonable times for inspection by any 
authorised officer or Police Constable. Any computer program used must be able to 
reproduce a printed record. 

 
53.3 When an operator is in possession of an Operator’s licence from more than one 

licensing authority, then the records of the drivers, vehicles and bookings must be 
kept separately. 

 
54.  Penalty Points 
 
54.1 The Operator’s Licence is subject to the penalty points system and the licence holder 

is required to read and obey the provisions of the system at all times (see penalty 
points system at section 59 of this document and Appendix C).  

 
54.2 Special attention should be taken of the following provisions laid down in the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. Copies of the Act can be found 
online at www.legislation.gov.uk . 

 
55.  Section 46 - Licences 
 
55.1 No person shall in a controlled district operate any vehicle as a private hire vehicle 

without having a current operator’s licence. 
 
55.2  No person holding a current operator’s licence shall in a controlled district operate 

any private hire vehicle:- 
 

(a) If the vehicle has not been licensed by the district council; or 
 

(b) If the driver has not been licensed by the district council. 
 
55.3 If any person knowingly contravenes the provisions of this section he shall be guilty 

of an offence. 
 

Note: 3 Licence Rule - To trade legally the three private hire licences (Operator, 
Driver and Vehicle) must be issued by the same Licensing Authority i.e. West Devon 
Borough Council 
 

56.  Section 56 - Procedure/Contract and Records 
 
56.1 Every contract for hire of a licensed private hire vehicle shall be deemed to be made 

with the Operator who accepted the booking for that vehicle whether or not they 
provide the vehicle. 



 

35 

 

 
56.2 Every Operator shall keep a record and shall enter therein before the 

commencement of each journey such particulars of every booking of a private hire 
vehicle invited or accepted by him/her, whether by accepting the same from the hirer 
or by undertaking it at the request of another Operator and shall produce such record 
on request to any authorised officer of the Council or to any constable for inspection. 

 
56.3 Every licenced Operator shall keep such records as the Council may, by conditions 

appended to the grant of the licence, prescribe of the particulars of any private hire 
vehicle operated by him/her and shall produce the same on request to any 
authorised officer of the Council or to any constable for inspection. 

 
56.4 If any person without reasonable excuse contravenes the provisions of this section 

he shall be guilty of an offence. 
 
57. Section 62 - Suspension, Revocation and Refusal of an Operator’s Licence 
 
57.1 The District Council may suspend or revoke or refuse to renew an operator’s licence 

on any of the following grounds:- 
 

(a) Any offence under non-compliance with the provisions of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; 

 
(b) Any conduct on the part of the operator which appears to the District Council to 
render him unfit to hold an operator’s licence; 

 
(c) Any material change since the licence was granted in any of the circumstances of 
the operator on the basis of which the licence was granted; or 

 
(d) Any other reasonable cause. 

 
58.  Section 73 - Obstruction of Authorised Officers 
 
58.1.  Any person who:- 
 

(a) Wilfully obstructs an authorised officer or constable acting in pursuance of this 
Act;- or 

 
(b) Without reasonable excuse fails to comply with any requirement properly made to 
him by such officer or constable; or 

 
(c) Without reasonable cause fails to give such an officer or constable so acting any 
other assistance or information which he may reasonably require of such person for 
the purposes of the performance of his functions under this part of the Act or the Act 
of 1847; shall be guilty of an offence. 

 
58.2 Section 77 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides a 

right of appeal to a Magistrates Court in respect of any requirement, refusal or any 
other decision of a District Council against which a right of appeal is conferred by the 
Act. A person wishing to exercise their right under this provision should make 
representation with 21 days of the date of the licence to the Magistrates Court. 

 
 
 
 



 

36 

 

59. Penalty Points System 
 
59.1 The introduction of the Penalty Points System is to provide an effective enforcement 

process for Licensing Officers in respect of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver 
and Vehicle Licence holders, as well as Private Hire Operators who are found to be 
in breach of local or national conditions and policies relating to the licensing 
functions. 

 
59.2 The importance of the Penalty Points System is to increase and ensure the safety 

and wellbeing of members of the public as well as compliance with legal 
requirements. The system is only intended to ensure compliance by those licence 
holders who it is proved have breached or are in breach of the rules and regulations 
that they should be complying with. 

 
59.3 The system operates in line with penalty points endorsed on a driving licence and 

that where 12 unspent penalty points are accumulated this will result in automatic 
referral to a Licensing Sub-Committee. Where a referral is made to a Licensing 
Committee, it will be that Committee’s decision on what further action if any should 
be taken. 

 
59.4 The Licensing Committee is an independent body made up of elected councillors 

who will sit to hear matters relating to the suitability of a person to hold a licence. This 
will involve the members being presented facts and evidence pertaining to an 
application for the grant of a licence or to decide if a current licence holder is a fit and 
proper person to hold a licence. The members will also ask questions of the 
application or licence holder who will be given an opportunity to present his/her case. 

 
59.5 Any licence holder has the right to appeal against a Licensing Committee decision to 

suspend, revoke or refuse to renew an operator licence to the Magistrates Court 
within 21 days of notification of the Committee’s decision. 

 
59.6 Where penalty points are administered by an Officer and the licence holder wishes to 

dispute the matter, the licence holder may submit a formal complaint through the 
Council’s complaint system for further investigation. 

 
59.7 Details on when penalty points may be given are found at Appendix K. 
 
59.8 The issuing of penalty points does not preclude the Licensing Authority from taking 

further enforcement action where there has been a breach of any of the regulations 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or the Town Police 
Clauses Acts 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

37 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Criminal Convictions Policy 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance on the criteria taken into account by 

the Licensing Authority when deciding whether or not an applicant or an existing 
licence holder is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage and/or private hire 
driver or operator licence. 

 
1.2 The prime aim of the licensing authority is to protect the safety of the public. The 

licensing authority is concerned to ensure: 
 

• That a person is a fit and proper person 

• That the person does not pose a threat to the public 

• That the public are safeguarded from a dishonest person 

• The safeguarding of children, young persons and vulnerable adults 
 
1.3 This policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in taxi and private hire 

licensing. In particular, but not exclusively: 
 

• Applicants for drivers’ licences 

• Existing licensed drivers whose licences are being reviewed 

• Licensing Officers 

• Members of the licensing committee/ panel (or other relevant decision making 
body) 

• Magistrates hearing appeals against local authority decisions 
 
1.4 Where officers under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, have powers to grant 

licences, they will use these guidelines when making a decision to grant a licence. In 
all other cases, applications for licences will be referred to the licensing 
committee/panel (or other relevant decision-making body). While officers and the 
committee/panel will have regard to the guidelines contained in the policy, each case 
will be considered on its individual merits and, where the circumstances demand, the 
committee/officer may depart from the guidelines.  

 
2. General policy 
 
2.1 Whilst the committee/panel may consider that a person with a conviction for a serious 

offence need not be automatically barred from obtaining a licence, it would normally 
be expected that the applicant would be required to: 

a. Remain free of conviction for an appropriate period as detailed below; and 
b. Show adequate evidence that he or she is a fit and proper person to hold a licence 

(the onus is on the applicant to produce such evidence). Simply remaining free of 
conviction may not generally be regarded as satisfactory evidence that a person is a 
fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

 
2.3 The standards and criteria set out below are those that would normally be applied to 

applications and licences. Each case will be considered on its own merits, and the 
Licensing Authority may depart from these criteria, however it must only do so in 
exceptional circumstances. The otherwise good character and driving record of the 



 

38 

 

applicant or licence holder will not ordinarily be considered as exceptional 
circumstances. 

 
2.4 Where an applicant has been convicted of a criminal offence, the licensing authority 

cannot review the merits of the conviction. 
 
3. Appeals 
 
3.1 Any applicant refused a driver’s licence on the grounds that the Licensing Authority is 

not satisfied he is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence has a right to appeal 
to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the notice of refusal [Local Government 
Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976, s 77 (1)].  

 
3.2 Any applicant refused an operator licence on the grounds that the Licensing Authority 

is not satisfied he is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence has a right to appeal 
to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the notice of refusal. 

 
3.3 Any licence holder whose licence is suspended or revoked has a right to appeal to the 

Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the notice of suspension or revocation. 
 
4. Powers 
 
4.1 Section 61 and Section 62 of the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 

1976 allow the Licensing Authority to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a licence if 
the application/licence holder has been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, 
indecency, violence; failure to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses 
Act 1847; failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; or any other reasonable cause. 

 
4.2 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 2002, 

allows the licensing authority to take into account all convictions recorded against an 
applicant or the holder of a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage driver’s licence, 
whether spent or not. Therefore the licensing authority will have regard to all relevant 
convictions, particularly where there is a long history of offending or a recent pattern 
of repeat offending.  

 
4.3 In this policy the term “disqualification” refers to the period served, in order to take 

account of the fact that a court may reduce the period of disqualification from driving. 
An applicant must provide evidence in advance to prove that the court agreed a 
reduction in the period of disqualification.  

 
5. Consideration of disclosed criminal history 
 
5.1 Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55, and 59, Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976, the Licensing Authority is required to make sure that an applicant 
for the grant or renewal of a hackney carriage and/or a private hire vehicle drivers’ 
licence and/or private hire vehicle operator’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold 
such a licence. However, if an applicant has any convictions, warnings, cautions or 
charges awaiting trial, the Licensing Authority will look into: 

 

• How relevant the offence(s) are to the licence being applied for 

• How serious the offence(s) were 

• When the offence(s) were committed 

• The date of conviction 



 

39 

 

• Circumstances of the individual concerned 

• Sentence imposed by the court 

• The applicant’s age at the time of conviction 

• Whether they form part of a pattern of offending 

• Any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references) 

• Any other factors that might be relevant  
  
5.2 Existing holders of drivers’ licences are required to tell the licensing authority in 

writing within 5 working days of receiving a driving licence endorsement, fixed 
penalty notice or criminal conviction (including cautions).   
 

5.3 Applicants can discuss further what effect a caution/conviction may have on any 
application by contacting the licensing officer in confidence for advice. 

 
5.4 The Licensing Authority conducts enhanced disclosures from the Disclosure and 

Barring Service (DBS) of any applicant for a driver licence. The Licensing Authority 
follows the DBS’s Code of Practice on the fair use and storage of disclosure 
information. A copy is available on request.  

 
5.5 Applicants applying for the grant or a renewal of a drivers’ licence will be required to 

get an enhanced disclosure at their own expense.  The Licensing Authority follows the 
DBS’s Policy on the secure storage, handling, use, retention and disposal of disclosure 
information, which is available on request. 

 
5.6 So that the Licensing Authority receives relevant information as quickly as possible in 

order to take appropriate and proportionate action to protect public safety, it is the 
Licensing Authority’s policy to require applicants to register for the DBS’s update 
service and to nominate the Licensing Authority to receive the updates. Registration 
last for 1 year and costs £13 per year. Licence holders are expected to provide 
evidence of continuous registration and nomination throughout the duration of their 
licence. 

 
5.6 More information about the DBS can be found on their website. 
 
5.7 The Licensing Authority is also entitled to use other records and information that may 

be available to it in deciding applications or an entitlement to continue holding a 
licence.  This may include information held by the Licensing Authority or other 
Licensing Authorities, and information provided by the police.   

 
5.8 It is an offence for any person, knowingly or recklessly, to make a false declaration or 

to omit any material particular in giving information required by the application for a 
licence. Where an applicant has made a false statement or a false declaration on their 
application for the grant or renewal of a licence, the licence will normally be refused. 

 
6 Serious offences involving violence 
 
6.1 Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A firm line is to be taken 

with those who have convictions for offences involving violence. An application will 
normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an offence that involved the 
loss of life.  

 
6.2 Unless there are exceptional circumstances a licence will not normally be granted 

where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as:  
 



 

40 

 

• Murder 

• Manslaughter 

• Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving 

• Terrorism offences 

• Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences 
which replace the above 

 
6.3 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an 

offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below and the conviction is 
less than 10 years prior to the date of application: 

 

• Arson 

• Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially aggravated  

• Actual bodily harm which is racially aggravated  

• Grievous bodily harm with intent  

• Robbery 

• Possession of firearm 

• Riot 

• Assault Police 

• Common assault with racially aggravated  

• Violent disorder 

• Resisting arrest 

• Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences 
which replace the above 
 

6.5 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an 
offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below and the conviction is 
less than 5 years prior to the date of application: 

 

• Racially-aggravated criminal damage  

• Racially-aggravated offence  

• Common assault 

• Assault occasioning actual bodily harm 

• Affray 

• S5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress) 

• S4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear or provocation of violence) 

• S4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or distress) 

• Obstruction 

• Criminal damage 

• Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences 
which replace the above 

 
6.7 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 

an offence of a violent nature. 
 
6.8 In the event of a licence being granted, not revoked or suspended, a strict warning 

both verbally and in writing should be administered. 
 
7. Possession of a weapon 
 
7.1 If an applicant has been convicted of possession of a weapon or any other weapon 

related offence, this will give serious concern as to whether the person is fit to transport 
the public. 



 

41 

 

 
7.2 Depending on the circumstances of the offence, an applicant should be free of 

conviction for 3 years (or at least 3 years must have passed since the completion of 
the sentence, whichever is longer), before a licence is granted. 

 
8. Sex and indecency offences 
 
8.1 As licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, the 

Licensing Authority will take a strong line in relation to applicants or existing licence 
holders with convictions for sexual offences. All sexual and indecency offences will be 
considered as serious. Applicants with convictions for sexual or indecency offences 
that involve a third party will normally be refused a licence.  

  
8.2 Unless there are exceptional circumstances, an application will normally be refused 

where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 
 

• Rape 

• Assault by penetration 

• Offences involving children or vulnerable adults 

• Sexual assault 

• Indecent assault 

• Exploitation of prostitution 

• Trafficking for sexual exploitation 

• Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc 

• Indecent exposure 

• Soliciting (kerb crawling) 
• Or any sex or indecency offence that was committed in the course of 

employment as a taxi or PHV driver 

• Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences 
which replace the above 

 
8.3 In addition to the above the Licensing Authority will not grant a licence to any applicant 

who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register. 
  
9. Dishonesty 
 
9.1 A licensed PHV or taxi driver is expected to be a trustworthy person. They deal with 

cash transactions and valuable property may be left in their vehicles. Taxi drivers are 
required to deal with such property in accordance with the standards set out in 
Appendix B in relation to lost property. Taxi drivers are required to deposit such 
property with the police within 24 hours as soon as possible, or to make alternative 
arrangements as appropriate. PHV drivers must pass lost property to the operator. The 
widespread practice of delivering unaccompanied property is telling of the trust that 
business people place in licensed drivers. Furthermore, it is fairly easy for a dishonest 
driver to deceive the public by demanding more than the legal or agreed fare, etc. 
Overseas visitors can be confused by our currency and may be vulnerable to a 
dishonest driver. For all these reasons, a serious view is taken of any conviction 
involving dishonesty. 

 
9.2 In general, a minimum period of 5 years free of conviction or at least 3 years from 

completion of sentence (whichever is longer) should be required before granting a 
licence. Offences involving dishonesty include: 

 

• theft 



 

42 

 

• burglary 

• fraud 

• benefit fraud 

• handling or receiving stolen goods 

• forgery 

• conspiracy to defraud 

• obtaining money or property by deception 

• other deception 

• taking a vehicle without consent 

• any similar offences 

• Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences 
which replace the above 

 
9.3 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 

a dishonesty offence. 
 
9.4 Applicants or existing licence holders that are found to have intentionally misled the 

council, or lied as part of the application process, will not be issued with a licence. 
 
10.  Drugs 
 
10.1 A serious view is taken of any drug related offence. The nature and quantity of the 

drugs, whether for personal use or supply are issues which should be considered. 
 
10.2 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an 

offence related to the supply of drugs and has not been free of conviction for 5 years. 
 
10.3 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has more than one 

conviction for offences related to the possession of drugs and has not been free of 
conviction for 5 years. 

 
10.4 An applicant who has an isolated conviction for an offence related to the possession 

of drugs (other than for supply) within the last 3-5 years may be granted a licence, but 
consideration should be given to the nature and quantity of the drugs.  

 
10.5 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency a specialist medical 

examination (in accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) may be required 
before the licence is granted. If the applicant was an addict then they would normally 
be required to show evidence of 5 years free from drug taking after detoxification 
treatment. 

 
10.6 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 

a drugs related offence. 
 
11 Driving offences involving the loss of life 
 
11.1 A very serious view is to be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a driving 

offence that resulted in the loss of life. 
 
Unless there are exceptional circumstances a licence will not normally be granted 
where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 

 

• Causing death by dangerous driving 

• Causing death by careless driving while under the influence of drink or drugs 



 

43 

 

• Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured  

• Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences 
which replace the above 

 
12 Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a mobile phone while 

driving 
 
12.1 As licence holders are professional vocational drivers, a serious view is taken of 

convictions for driving, or being in charge of a vehicle while under the influence of drink 
or drugs. A single incident would not necessarily exclude an applicant from continuing 
on the regaining of their DVLA driving licence but s/he should be warned as to the 
significant risk to his/her licence status in the event of re-offending. Normally at least 3 
years, after the regaining of the driving licence following a drink driving conviction 
should pass before an application may be considered. If there is any suggestion that 
the applicant is alcohol or drug dependent, a satisfactory special medical report must 
be provided before the application can be allowed to proceed. 

 
12.2 Applicants should also be aware of the serious risk posed by driving while using a 

mobile phone. There is a large body of research which shows that drivers who use a 
mobile phone suffer physical and cognitive distraction which means they: 

 

• are much less aware of what’s happening on the road around them  

• fail to see road signs 

• fail to maintain proper lane position and steady speed 

• are more likely to ‘tailgate’ the vehicle in front 

• react more slowly, take longer to brake and longer to stop 

• are more likely to enter unsafe gaps in traffic 

• feel more stressed and frustrated 
 
12.3 There is evidence to show that drivers who use a mobile phone have slower reaction 

times than those who have consumed up to the legal alcohol limit. In light of this, an 
equally serious view should be taken of convictions for driving while using a mobile 
phone as for driving under the influence of drink or drugs. 

 
12.4 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 

an offence of driving under the influence of drink or drugs or while using a mobile 
phone. 

 
13 Insurance offences 
 
13.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle 

without insurance. An isolated incident in the past will not necessarily stop a licence 
being granted provided he/she has been free of convictions for 3 years, however strict 
warning should be given as to future behaviour. 

 
13.2 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 

an insurance related offence. 
 
13.3 An operator found guilty of aiding and abetting the driving of passengers for hire and 

reward without insurance will normally have their operator licence revoked immediately 
and be prevented from holding a licence for at least three years. 

 
 



 

44 

 

 
 
14 Other motoring offences 
 
14.1 As licence holders are professional vocational drivers a serious view is taken of all 

endorsements on the DVLA driving licence due to motoring offences. All unspent 
DVLA driving licence endorsements must be declared at the time of application and 
the Licensing Authority must be notified of any new offences while licensed as a 
hackney carriage or private hire driver. 

 
14.2 A licence will not normally be granted to new applicants with more than 6 unspent 

penalty points on their DVLA driving licence. 
 
14.3 Further information on motoring offences and penalty points can be found at Annex A.  
 
15 Licensing offences 
 
15.1 Certain offences under taxi legislation such as plying for hire, overcharging and 

refusing to carry disabled persons would normally prevent a licence being granted or 
renewed until a period of 3 years has passed. 

 
15.2 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction of 

a licensing related offence. 
 
16 Outstanding charges or summonses 
 
16.1 If the individual is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons their application 

can continue to be processed, but the application will need to be reviewed at the 
conclusion of proceedings.  

 
16.2 If the outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence and the individual’s 

conviction history indicates a possible pattern of unlawful behaviour or character trait, 
then in the interests of public safety the application may be put on hold until 
proceedings are concluded or the licence may be refused. 

 
16.3 The Licensing Authority may, at its discretion, revoke a driver’s licence where it 

considers it necessary to do so while awaiting an investigation by either the Licensing 
Authority or the police. This decision will only be taken where it is thought necessary 
in the interest of public safety. 

 
17 Non-conviction information 
 
17.1 If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged, but not 

convicted, for a serious offence which suggests he could be a danger to the public, 
consideration should be given to refusing the application. 

 
17.2 In assessing the action to take, the safety of the travelling public must be the highest 

concern. 
 
18 Cautions 
 
18.1 Admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued. Every case will be 

considered on its own merits including the details and nature of the offence. 
 
 



 

45 

 

 
 
19 Once a licence has been granted 
 
19.1 If a licence holder’s conduct is such that, were they to be applying for a new licence 

their application would normally be refused, they should expect consideration to be 
given as to the suspension or revocation of their licence. 

 
19.2 A suspension or revocation of the licence of a driver takes effect at the end of the 

period of 21 days beginning with the day on which notice is given to the driver. If it 
appears that the interests of public safety require the suspension or revocation of the 
licence to have immediate effect, and the notice given to the driver includes a 
statement that is so and an explanation why, the suspension or revocation takes effect 
when the notice is given to the driver [Road Safety Act 2006, s 52, 2A&2B]. 

 
19.3 A suspension or revocation of the licence of an operator takes effect at the end of the 

period of 21 days beginning with the day on which notice is given to the operator. 
 
20 Overseas residents 
 
20.1 If an applicant has spent six continuous months or more overseas the licensing 

authority will expect to see evidence of a criminal record check from the 
country/countries covering the period.   

 
21 Licences issued by other Licensing Authorities 
 
21.1 Applicants who hold a licence with one Licensing Authority should not automatically 

assume that their application will be granted by another. Each case will be decided on 
its own merits.  

 
21.2 Licence holders who are licensed by multiple authorities are expected to inform all 

such authorities of the authorities that they are licensed by and to advise each authority 
of any changes in this respect; and should expect those authorities to share 
information regarding their conduct and to take it into account as appropriate. 

 
22 Summary 
 
22.1 To summarise, a criminal history in itself may not automatically result in refusal and a 

current conviction for a serious crime need not stop an applicant permanently from 
becoming licensed. As the preceding paragraphs show, in most cases, an applicant 
would be expected to remain free from conviction for 3 to 10 years, depending on 
circumstances, before an application can be considered. However, there may be times 
when an application can be allowed before 3 years free from conviction have passed. 

 
22.2 Any person who has committed an offence and has to wait before an application is 

positively considered is more likely to value their licence and act accordingly. 
 
22.3 While it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, 

individually, meet the above guidelines, the overall offending history must be 
considered when assessing an applicant’s suitability to be licensed. A series of 
offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than a single 
minor conviction. Some discretion can be given if a single offence is declared with 
relevant information to explain the circumstances, but the prime concern is the 
protection of the public. 

 



 

46 

 

 

 Annex A 

1 Principles of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (as amended by the Legal 
Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012) 

1.1 Under The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, criminal convictions can become 
spent after a certain period of time, and once spent, for many purposes, can be ignored 
completely. 

1.2  The possibility of rehabilitation and the length of time before rehabilitation occurs 
depends on the sentence imposed, and not the offence committed. 

1.3 Despite the above, the principles of the Act do not apply to applicants for hackney 
carriage and private hire drivers’ licences. This is because the driving of taxis is listed 
as a “Regulated Occupation” in relation to which questions may be asked as to the 
suitability of individuals to be granted a licence. 

1.4 Although the Act does not prevent judicial authorities (inclusive of the Licensing 
Authority) from taking spent convictions into account; such convictions are only taken 
into consideration if they are relevant to the issue of whether the applicant is a fit and 
proper person to hold a licence. 

1.5 The determination as to whether certain convictions are spent, therefore may be a 
relevant exercise. 

1.6 The rehabilitation periods are set out below. For a detailed commentary on the periods 
of rehabilitation applicable to all sentencing options, reference will need to be made to 
a specialist textbook on the Act. 

 
2 Sentence Rehabilitation Period 
 

Custodial sentence over 4 years    Never spent 
Custodial sentence over 30 up to 48 months  7 years 
Custodial sentence over 6 up to 30 months   4 years 
Custodial sentence less than 6 months   2 years 
Community Order      1 year 
Buffer period for adults, this applies from the end date of the sentence. 

 
The following are the rehabilitation periods for sentences that do not have a buffer 
period and runs from the date of conviction: 

 
Fine        1 year 
Conditional discharge     Period of order 
Absolute discharge      None 
Conditional caution      3 months or when caution 

stops to having effect 
Simple caution      Spent immediately 
Compensation order      On the discharge of the order 
Binding over, Attendance centre and   Period of order 
Hospital order 
Once a conviction becomes spent it remains spent even if a person is convicted of 
other offences. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

47 

 

Annex B  
 
1 Motoring offences and penalty points 
 

1.1 The following is a guide to the number of penalty points a court may impose, it 
does not reflect the fact that some offences may lead to a disqualification. 
These codes are recorded from information supplied by the courts. 

1.2  
 
Code Offence Penalty Points 
Accident Offences 

AC10 Failing to stop  after an accident 5-10 
AC20 Failing to give particulars or to report an 

accident within 24 hours 
5-10 

AC30 Undefined accident offences 4-9 
Disqualified Driver 

BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of court 6 
BA30 Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of 

court 
6 

BA40 Causing death by driving while disqualified 3-11 
BA60 Causing serious injury by driving while 

disqualified 
3-11 

Careless Driving 
CD10 Driving without due care and attention 3-9 
CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for 

other road users 
3-9 

CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without 
reasonable consideration for other road users 

3-9 

CD40* Causing death through careless driving when 
unfit through drink 

3-11 

CD50* Causing death by careless driving when unfit 
through drugs 

3-11 

CD60* Causing death by careless driving with alcohol 
level above the limit 

3-11 

CD70* Causing death by careless driving then failing to 
supply a specimen for analysis 

3-11 

CD80* Causing death by careless or inconsiderate 
driving 

3-11 

CD90* Causing death by driving: unlicensed 
disqualified or uninsured drivers 

3-11 

Construction and use of offences 
CU10 Using a vehicle with defective brakes 3 
CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of 

use of unsuitable vehicle or using a vehicle with 
parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering 
or tyres) in a dangerous condition 

3 

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 3 
CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering 3 
CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of 

load or passengers 
3 

CU80 Breach of requirements as to control of the 
vehicle, such as using a mobile phone 

3-6 

Dangerous driving 



 

48 

 

DD10 Causing serious injury by dangerous driving 3-11 
DD40 Dangerous driving 3-11 
DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving 

a vehicle 
3-11 

DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving 3-11 
DD90 Furious driving 3-9 
Drink 

DR10* Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level 
above limit 

3-11 

DR20* Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through 
drink 

3-11 

DR30* Driving or attempting to drive then failing to 
supply a specimen for analysis 

3-11 

DR31* Driving or attempting to drive then refusing to 
give permission for analysis of a blood sample 
that was taken without consent due to incapacity 

3-11 

DR61* Refusing to give permission for analysis of a 
blood sample that was taking without consent 
due to incapacity in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive 

10 

DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above 
limit 

10 

DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink 10 
DR60 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in 

circumstances other than driving or attempting 
to drive 

10 

DR70 Failing to provide specimen for breath test 4 
Drugs 
DG10* Driving or attempting to drive with drug level 

above the specified limit 
3-11 

DG60* Causing death by careless driving with drug 
level above the limit 

3-11 

DG80* Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through 
drugs 

3-11 

DG40 In charge of a vehicle while drug level above 
specified limit 

10 

DG90 In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs 10 
Insurance offences 
IN10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party 

risks 
6-8 

Licence offences 

LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a 
licence 

3-6 

LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about 
fitness when applying for a licence 

3-6 

LC40 Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a 
disability 

3-6 

LC50 Driving after a licence has been cancelled 
(revoked) or refused on medical grounds 

3-6 

Miscellaneous offences 
MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position 3 
MS20 Unlawful pillion riding 3 
MS30 Play street offences 2 



 

49 

 

MS50 Motor racing on the highway 3-11 
MS60 Offences not covered by other codes (including 

offences relating to breach of requirements as to 
control of vehicle) 

3 

MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight 3 
MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test 3 
MS90 Failure to give information as to identity of driver  6 
Motorway offences 
MW10 Contravention of special roads regulations 

(excluding speed limits) 
3 

Pedestrian crossings 

PC10 Undefined contravention of pedestrian crossing 
regulations 

3 

PC20 Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations 
with moving vehicle 

3 

PC30 Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations 
with stationary vehicle 

3 

Speed limits 

SP10 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limits 3-6 
SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle 

(excluding goods or passenger vehicles) 
3-6 

SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road 3-6 
SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 3-6 
SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 3-6 
Traffic direction and signs 
TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals 3 
TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines 3 
TS30 Failing to comply with a ‘stop’ sign 3 
TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a 

constable/warden 
3 

TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding 
‘stop’ signs, traffic lights or double white lines) 

3 

TS60 Failing to comply with a school crossing patrol 
sign 

3 

TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic 
direction sign 

3 

Special Code 

TT99 To signify a disqualification under totting-up procedure. If the total 
of penalty points reaches 12 or more within 3 years, the driver is 
liable to be disqualified 

Theft or unauthorised taking 

UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle 3-11  
‘Mutual recognition’ codes 

An ‘MR’ code is included where a driver is disqualified while driving in Northern Ireland or 
the Isle of Man. The disqualification period will also be valid in Great Britain. 
MR09 Reckless or dangerous driving (whether or not resulting in death, 

injury or serious risk 
MR19 Wilful failure to carry out the obligation placed on driver after being 

involved in a road accident (hit and run) 
MR29 Driving a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or other 

substance affecting or diminishing the mental and physical abilities 
of a driver 

MR39 Driving a vehicle faster than the permitted speed 



 

50 

 

MR49 Driving a vehicle while disqualified  
MR59 Other conduct constituting an offence for which a driving 

disqualification has been imposed by the State of Offence 
 
All of the above must stay on the driving record for 4 years from the date of conviction. 
 
Those offences marked with an asterisk (*) for 11 years from the date of the conviction. 
 
 
Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring offences 
 
For these offences, the codes are similar, but with the number 0 on the code changed to 2. 
For example, code LC20 (driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence) becomes 
code LC22 on the driving record if they have helped someone to do this. 
 
 
Inciting offences 
 
For these offences, the codes are similar, but with the number 0 on the code changed to 6. 
For example, DD40 (dangerous driving) becomes DD on the driving record if they have 
encouraged someone to do this. 
 
 
Causing or permitting 
 
For these offences, the codes are similar, but with the number 0 changed to 4. For example 
LC10 becomes LC14. 
 
 
Non-endorsable offences 
 
Some offences are non-endorsable. No penalty points are attributed to these offences but 
they carry a period of disqualification. At the end of the disqualification (over 56 days) the 
driver will have to apply for a renewal licence together with the appropriate fee. Any queries 
about offences and endorsements should be directed to the convicting court. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

51 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

 

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver Code of Conduct 
 

 
The Council expects Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers to comply with the following; 
 
In this code of good conduct ‘the Council’ means West Devon Borough, ‘Driver’ means a 
person holding a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver licence issued by the Council 
and ‘Vehicle’ means a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle licensed by the Council.  
 
Notes: Failure to follow the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Code of Conduct may 
result in penalty points being issued, suspension or revocation of the licence pursuant to 
S.61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
Hackney Carriage Driver and Vehicle 
1. Identification of drivers 
 
a) The driver will at all times, while using a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle, wear or 
display their Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver badge in such a position and manner 
that is plainly visible. 
 
b) The badge must be shown, if requested, to the hirer of the vehicle or to any ‘authorised 
officer’ of the Council or Police Officer, as defined in the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
2. Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle 
 
The driver shall not use a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle unless it meets West 
Devon Borough Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle conditions. 
 
3. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licence (badge) 
 
a) The driver will be issued with a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver licence and 
identification badge. These documents remain the property of West Devon Borough Council. 
 
b) At the request of an authorised officer of the Council, the licence and/or identification 
badge must be returned to the Licensing Department. 
 
c) The driver shall upon the expiry date (without prior renewal to that expiry date), revocation 
or suspension of the licence, return the licence and driver’s identification badge to the 
Council immediately. 
 
4. Lost property 
 
a) The driver should carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have 
accidentally been left behind after each journey. Driver discretion will be required as to 
whether the item left behind is likely to have significant monetary or sentimental value. 
 
b) If the driver has found items of such nature accidentally left in their vehicle they must tell 
their operator where applicable. If the passenger contacts the operator or the Council, the 
driver must arrange for the passenger to collect the goods within 48 hours, or hand in to a 
police station as soon as possible 
 



 

52 

 

5. Licence plate 
 
a) The driver will make sure that the Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle licence (plate) is 
securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle at all times, whether working as a Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire vehicle or not. 
 
b) The driver will make sure that the Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle licence (plate) is 
not hidden or damaged and is kept clean so that it is clearly visible at all times. 
 
c) The driver must make sure that any additional signage as required in Part 2 of the 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire policy is displayed as specified. 
 
6. Convictions, cautions and fixed penalties 
 
a) Following any conviction or the issue of a fixed penalty notice which results in penalty 
points being endorsed on the licence holder’s DVLA driving licence, the licence holder must 
tell the licensing authority within 5 working days of the endorsement of the licence. 
 
A further taxi driving test may be requested by a Licensing Officer if there is a complaint 
about the standard/quality of their driving. 
 
b) In the event of a conviction before a court resulting in disqualification from driving, a 
licensed driver shall immediately tell the licensing authority and surrender their driver 
licence. 
 
7. Change of address 
 
a) The driver will notify the Council in writing of any change of address during the period of 
the licence within 5 working days of such change taking place. 
 
b) The driver’s DVLA driving licence must be registered at the driver’s current address. 
 
8. Accidents 
 
The driver shall inform the Council in writing or by telephone within two working days of any 
vehicle accident in which the driver is involved (while driving a Hackney Carriage/Private 
Hire Vehicle). 
 
9. Conduct of driver 
 
a) The driver shall at all times be clean and respectable in their dress and person and 
behave in a civil and orderly manner. 
 
b) The driver shall at all times take all reasonable steps to make sure the safety of 
passengers carried in, entering or leaving the vehicle. 
 
c) The driver shall not smoke in the vehicle or allow any passengers to smoke in the vehicle 
(this includes the use of electronic cigarettes / vaporisers). 
 
d) The driver shall not play any audio (other than for the purpose of sending/receiving 
messages from the Operator base) that is loud, offensive or that causes a nuisance to the 
hirer. 
 
e) While driving, the driver shall not use their hand-held mobile phone, PDA or any other 
device. 



 

53 

 

 
f) Drivers should not begin any conversations with a passenger that are likely to cause 
offence, for example topics of a religious, political, financial or sexual nature 
 
 g) Drivers should not possess in their taxis any item that could be thought of as an offensive 
weapon.  
 
h) Drivers may not begin any dialogue of a sexual nature with a passenger. Drivers must not 
become involved sexually or have sexual contact, even with consent, with a passenger while 
on duty or in a licensed vehicle. 
 
10. Passengers 
 
a) The driver shall not carry more than the number of passengers, including babies and 
children, stated on the Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle licence. 
 
b) The driver shall not allow any child under 12 years of age or under 1.35 metres in height 
to be carried in the front of the vehicle. 
 
c) The driver shall not at any time by calling out or otherwise pester any person to hire their 
vehicle. 
 
d) The driver shall not rank unlawfully. 
 
e) The driver shall not permit any person to be carried in the vehicle without the consent of 
the hirer. 
 
11. Written receipts 
 
The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide them with a written receipt for the fare 
paid. 
 
12. Carrying animals 
 
a) The driver shall not carry any animals which belong to, or are in the custody of, him/her in 
the vehicle when it is being hired. 
 
b) The driver must (unless in possession of an exemption certificate) accept bookings made 
by, or on behalf of, a disabled person who is accompanied by a guide, hearing or assistance 
dog. 
 
c) The driver must (unless in possession of an exemption certificate) accept a booking by a 
person who will be accompanied by such a disabled person. 
 
d) The driver must not make an additional charge for carrying the passenger’s assistance 
dog. 
 
e) A driver who has a proven medical condition that prevents him/her from carrying an 
assistance dog in their vehicle must obtain a Driver Exemption Certificate (from the Council 
on production of medical evidence of the condition). This Certificate must be clearly 
displayed at all times when driving the Hackney Carriage Vehicle. The driver is responsible 
for informing their Operator (if applicable) and the Council if they have a medical condition 
affecting their ability to carry assistance dogs during the period of their licence. 
 
 



 

54 

 

13. Health of a driver 
 
a) The driver must inform the Council without delay about the start or worsening of any 
health condition likely to cause them to be a source of danger to the public when driving, 
either now or in the future. Examples are contained in the DVLA Medical Notification 
Guidance and include, but not limited to: 
 
• giddiness 
• fainting 
• blackouts 
• Epilepsy 
• strokes 
• Multiple Sclerosis 
• Parkinson’s Disease 
• heart disease 
• Angina 
• coronaries 
• high blood pressure 
• Arthritis 
• disorder of vision 
• mental illness 
• alcoholism 
• drug taking 
• loss of limb or loss of use of limb 
• Diabetes 
 
b) Drivers who are in doubt about whether or not their health condition is one which should 
be reported should consult their Doctor and refer to the DVLA (Group 2) Medical Rules and 
Standards which are updated every 6 months. 
 
c) All applicants must submit a Certificate of Fitness which must be undertaken at the 
Council’s approved medical centre. When a driver reaches the age of 45, a further 
Certificate of Fitness is required and every 5 years until they reach the age of 65 and then 
annually. 
 
d) The Licensing Office may at any time request the driver be referred to the Councils 
approved medical centre for a further medical examination. 
 
14. Renewal of licences 
 
a) Applications to renew a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver licence must be made 
before the end of the current licence and must be submitted on the appropriate application 
forms. It is advisable to make an application at least 30 days in advance to make sure that 
there is no delay or break in licence period, but applications submitted more than two 
months before the licence expires will not be accepted 
 
b) All current Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers are required to have a DBS check and 
maintain a subscription to the ‘DBS Update Service’ for the period of their licence. Further 
checks will be carried out yearly and at any other time during the licence period where there 
is reasonable cause to do so. 
 
c) All current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers are to have their DVLA/EU drivers 
licence checked with the DVLA yearly and at any other time during the licence period where 
there is reasonable cause to do so 
 



 

55 

 

Note: Expired licences cannot be renewed. You will be required to successfully complete the 
new driver application procedure before a badge will be issued. 
 
15. Seat belt regulations 
 
Hackney Carriage drivers are exempt by virtue of Regulations 5(h) of the Motor Vehicles 
(Wearing of Seat Belts) Regulations 1982, providing they are seeking hire, answering a call 
for hire or carrying a passenger, and the vehicle is carrying a plate showing it is a licensed 
Hackney Carriage. 
 
16. Child restraints 
 
a) If the correct child restraint is not available then a child under 3 years of age may travel 
unrestrained in the rear of a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle. 
 
b) If the correct child restraint is not available then a child aged 3 to 11 and less than 1.35 
metres (approx. 4ft 5ins) may use an adult belt when travelling in a Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire vehicle. 
 
17. Certificate of insurance 
 
a) The driver will be responsible for making sure that they have valid insurance to use their 
vehicle for Hackney Carriage or Private Hire purposes. 
 
Note: The conditions concerning insurance of motor vehicles are contained in part 6 of the 
Road Traffic Act 1988.  
 
18. Obstruction of an authorised officer 
 
Any person who:- 
 
a) wilfully obstructs an authorised officer or constable acting in pursuance of this Act; or 
 
b) without reasonable excuse fails to obey any requirement properly made to him by such 
officer or constable; or 
 
c) without reasonable cause fails to give an officer or constable any other assistance or 
information which he may reasonably require of such person for the purposes of the 
performance of his functions under this part of the Act or the Act of 1847; shall be guilty of an 
offence. 
 
Note: The Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver’s licence is subject to the penalty points 
system and the licence holder is required to read and obey the provisions of the system at all 
times - see penalty points system at Appendix C. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

56 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

 
Penalty Points System 

 
 

Offence/Cause Penalty/Points 
Person 
Responsible 

Period to 
Stay on 
File 

1. Failure to wear or clearly display 
HC/PH driver licence 

3 Driver 12 months 

2. Failure to display HC/PH vehicle 
licence (plate) correctly 

3 Driver 12 months 

3. Failure to produce Insurance 
Certificate within 5 working days on 
request 

3 Driver/Proprietor 12 months 

4. Failure to produce Certificate of 
Compliance within 5 working days on 
request 

3 Driver/Proprietor 12 months 

5. Failure to produce DVLA Driving 
Licence within 5 working days on 
request 

3 Driver 12 months 

6. Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of a change of address within 
5 working days 

3 Driver/Proprietor 12 months 

7. Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of damage to vehicle within 2 
working days. 

3 Driver/Proprietor 12 months 

8. Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of vehicle involved in a Road 
Traffic Accident within 2 working days.  

3 Driver/Proprietor 12 months 

9. Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of a change of use of a motor 
vehicle within 5 working days 

3 Proprietor 12 months 

10. Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of a transfer or purchase of 
vehicle within 5 working days 

3 Proprietor 12 months 

11. Upholstery and/or exterior in an 
unreasonable condition 

3 Driver 12 months 

12. Failure to display no smoking 
stickers 

3 Driver 12 months 

13. Smoking or ‘vaping’ inside the 
Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
vehicle 

3 Driver 12 months 

14. Defective Tyres 

3 points per 
defective tyre 
and or stop 
notice 

Driver 12 months 



 

57 

 

15. Private Hire Vehicle parking in or at 
a Hackney Carriage stand 
 

3 Driver 12 months 

16. Hackney Carriage Vehicle leaving 
vehicle unattended in or at a Hackney 
Carriage stand 
 

3 Driver 12 months 

17. Charging more than displayed on 
the taxi meter (if fitted) 

3 Driver 12 months 

18. Failure to obey an Officers request 3 Driver/Proprietor 12 months 

19. Not displaying Tariff on Meter 
(where applicable) 

6 Driver 12 months 

20. Refusal to carry guide dogs, hearing 
dogs or service dogs (unless exempt) 

6 Driver 12 months 

21. Making a surcharge for the carriage 
of wheelchairs 

6 Driver 12 months 

22. No valid Insurance Certificate  

6 and or 
referral to 
Licensing 
Committee 

Driver/Proprietor 36 months 

23. No valid Certificate of Compliance 
(MOT)  

6 and or 
referral to 
Licensing 
Committee 

Driver/Proprietor 36 months 

24. Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of a motoring conviction within 
5 working days 

6 and or 
referral to 
Licensing 
Committee 

Driver 18 months 

25. Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of a criminal conviction or 
caution within 5 working days 

6 and or 
referral to 
Licensing 
Committee 

Driver/Proprietor 18 months 

26. Carrying excess passengers  

6 and or 
referral to 
Licensing 
Committee 

Driver 18 months 

27. Being aggressive, and or, using 
threating and abusive language towards 
Licensing Officers  

6 and or 
referral to 
Licensing 
Committee 

Driver/Proprietor 18 months 

28. Any other reasonable cause Section 
60 Local Government Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 1976 

6 and or 
referral to 
Licensing 
Committee 

Driver/Proprietor 12 months 

29. Failure to attend a Licensing 
Committee when requested to do so 

1 – 6 for 
Licensing 
Committee to 
determine 

Driver/Proprietor 12 months 



 

58 

 

30. Appearance before a Licensing 
Committee reference allegations of 
misconduct  

1 – 12 for 
Licensing 
Committee to 
determine 

Driver/Proprietor 12 months 



 

59 

 

APPENDIX D 

 
 

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver Licensing Application Process 
 
 
 

The information below details the Licensing Authority’s compulsory requirements for new 
and renewal of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire driver licence applications. The following 
is given as guidance only as to the processes followed and documents required. If an 
applicant has specific queries they should contact the Licensing Team. 
 
Please note that a driver's licence badge issued by West Devon Borough Council will only 
allow you to drive vehicles that are licensed by West Devon Borough Council.  
 
Please note that as an applicant or driver licensed by West Devon Borough Council, you will 
be required to visit our Totnes office in person during the application process and on 
occasion while you hold a licence for the purposes of inspection, production of paperwork or 
for any other reason.  
 
Applications for new drivers 
 
The application process will involve you meeting a number of requirements at an additional 
cost. The steps laid out below are a suggestion of how you may wish to continue to gain all 
documents necessary to make a valid application: 

 
Overview 
 

• Application form 

• One passport sized photograph 

• Taxi driving test certificate 

• Passport, birth certificate, or other proof of entitlement to work in the UK 

• Enhanced DBS check through our online service or permission to check the 
DBS Update Service if applicable 

• Overseas criminal record check (Certificate of Good Conduct) issued within 
the last 6 months – where applicable. 

• DVLA driving licence photo card (old style paper licences issued before 1998) 

• DVLA check mandate form 

• Group II medical certificate issued by the designated medical assessment 
centre or your own GP within the last 3 months 

• Completion of the Licensing Authority Knowledge Test 

• Required fee 
  
Step 1: 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire driver application form 
 
This form requires you to detail any previous convictions and medical issues that you may 
have that may impact on your ability to obtain a licence in agreement with the Licensing 
Authority’s policies. By submitting this information, before completing the other required 
steps, we are able to give you an early view of whether your application will be successful or 
not. 



 

60 

 

As part of our checks we will require you to provide identification to prove your right to work 
in the UK. As a minimum requirement we will need to see your passport or birth certificate. 
The Licensing Authority will operate its application procedures in line with guidance issued 
by the Home Office.  
 
Step 2: 
 
Sit and pass the knowledge test. 
 
The knowledge test assesses your knowledge of the local area, the Highway Code, 
numeracy and the legislation which is relevant to you as a licensed driver.  Tests will 
normally be held on one day per month at the Council offices in Totnes. Applicants may 
arrange to sit the test on an alternative day at West Devon Borough Council offices in 
Tavistock if more convenient. 
 
You will need to bring documents to show evidence of your entitlement to work in the UK 
(passport, birth certificate or other proof of entitlement) and proof of address, with you to 
your knowledge test. Without these documents you will not be able to sit the test. 
 
We only accept and process applications that have successfully completed these tests. The 
fee for the test must be paid before the test can be taken. The cost of the test is non-
refundable and the same fee is payable to re-sit a failed test.  
 
Step 3:  
 
Apply for Enhanced DBS check and DVLA mandate form 
 
Enhanced DBS checks are taken through an electronic checking service. You will need to 
provide us with the required identification documents as listed on the DBS website so that 
the check may be submitted.  
 
The DBS certificate must be presented to us within three months of being issued. You must 
sign up to the DBS Update Service within nineteen days of your certificate being issued. If 
this is not done, you will be required to submit a new DBS check, including payment of the 
full DBS fee. 
 
If you have any convictions, cautions or fixed penalty notices which fall within the Council's 
convictions policy, the application will be determined by the Licensing Committee.  
 
A DVLA mandate form must be completed and signed so that we are able to check your 
DVLA record at any time during your licence period. A licence will not normally be granted to 
new applicants with more than 6 unspent penalty points on their DVLA driving licence. 
 
Step 4:  
 
Provide Certificate of Good Conduct (where applicable) 
 
If you have lived outside of the UK for a continuous period of 6 months or more at any 
time since your 18th birthday, you must obtain a Certificate of Good Conduct which must be 
under 6 months old. A Certificate of Good Conduct (or equivalent) authenticated and 
translated by the relevant embassy is required.  The GOV.UK website provides information 
about gaining these certificates, or similar documents from other countries. 
 
Asylum seekers who hold a Home Office issued application registration document together 
with a positive verification letter from the Home Office's Employer Checking Service stating 



 

61 

 

that the named individual is allowed to work in the UK will be excused from the requirement 
to submit a recent certificate of good conduct. We will require to see any Certificate of Good 
Conduct that you may have regardless of the age of the document. 
 
Step 5:  
 
Sit the Taxi driver test as provided by the Licensing Authority approved provider  
 
A certificate showing successful completion of the practical taxi test must be provided. You 
do not require the wheelchair assessment. You can book your test online at the Devon 
Travel Academy (DTA) website. If you have any queries regarding this element, you must 
contact the DTA and not the licensing department.  
 
Step 6: 
 
Group II Medical Certificate 
 
Contact your own GP or the Council’s appointed medical assessment provider to arrange a 
Group II medical examination. Group II medical guidance can be found online at GOV.UK. 
You will need to provide the medical assessor with your medical record for the assessment 
to be completed. 
 
Step 7:  
 
Passport sized photograph 
 
Provide one passport sized photograph of yourself. It must be in colour and clear. If you 
wear glasses for driving, you must wear the glasses in your photograph.  Get your passport 
ready (or other proof of entitlement to work in the UK) as well as your full EU or UK driving 
licence, which you must have held for at least 12 months.  
 
Step 8: 
 
All steps completed 
 
We do not accept incomplete applications under any circumstances.  
 
Once all steps have been completed and information provided, we will contact you on the 
telephone number or email address given in your application to let you know when the 
licence has been issued, or if there are any issues with your application. If your application is 
approved you will be sent your driver licence certificate and identification badge by post. 
 
Applications for renewal of driver licence 
 
Applications for renewals must be received by the Council prior to the expiry date of the 
licence to make sure that the licence does not lapse, but no more than 2 months before the 
expiry date. 
 
If a licence lapses, the driver will be required to apply for a new driver licence by meeting all 
the criteria listed in the previous section relating to applications for new driver licences. If the 
licence renewal is submitted late as a result of exceptional circumstances it may be 
accepted. ‘Exceptional’ in this instance will only apply where failure to renew on time is due 
to unforeseen circumstances, for example, where the applicant has been unable to apply 
due to an emergency situation. 
 



 

62 

 

Overview 
 

• Application form 

• One passport sized photograph 

• DBS certificate processed through the electronic DBS check provider – 
unless signed up to the DBS Update Service 

• Overseas criminal record check (Certificate of Good Conduct) issued within 
the last 6 months – where applicable. 

• Copy of DVLA driving licence photo card (old style paper licence issued 
before 1998) 

• DVLA check mandate form (if required) 

• Group II medical certificate issued by the designated medical assessment 
centre or your own GP within the last 3 months (if required) 

• Required fee 
 
Further details relating to the above requirements may be found in the previous new driver 
application section. 
 
Unless a new Enhanced DBS check is required or where the driver’s ‘right to work in the UK’ 
check has not been completed, the renewal application may be submitted by post or handed 
in to the Council offices. If a new DBS check or ‘right to work in the UK’ check is required, 
you will need to contact the Licensing Team to make an appointment which will be offered 
on a Tuesday from 9am to 5pm at Follaton House, Totnes, or Wednesday at Kilworthy Park, 
Tavistock, from 9am to 5pm. 
 
If the documentation is complete, the application will be accepted. If any of the required 
documentation is not submitted then the application may not be processed. 
 
The successful completion of this procedure will be indicated by the issue of a Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire driver licence. 
 
Suspension / revocation / refusal to renew 
 
The Licensing Authority has the power to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a licence. 
 
If considered necessary in the interest of public safety, a suspension or revocation may take 
immediate effect. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

63 

 

APPENDIX E 

 
 

Spoken English Assessment Test Procedure 
 
 

(Guidance for Officers and new Applicants) 
 

1. It is a requirement of West Devon Borough Council that ALL new applicants for both 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver licenses can demonstrate an adequate 
and reasonable level of spoken English. 
 

2. The purposes of this requirement are: 
 

• Make sure that members of the public are safeguarded by ensuring licensed drivers 
can competently communicate and give and understand most instructions. 

• Make sure that applicants are safeguarded by making sure licensed drivers can 
competently communicate and give and understand most instructions. 

• Make sure impartiality and fairness in determining applications. 

• Accommodate all eligible applications. 
 

3. The criteria for all new applicants for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver 
licences are: 
 

(a) Applicants that do not have English as their first language may be asked to provide 
evidence of having gained a qualification that was taught and assessed in English. 

(b) Applicants who have some difficulty understanding spoken advice on the telephone 
or face-to-face and who have similar issues expressing themselves in English will be 
asked to provide a certificate showing the successful completion of a course of study 
or qualification in any subject or skill that was taught and assessed in English. 
(Examples are but not limited to, GCSE’s, ‘O Levels’ GCE, NVQ, BTEC, RFQ, City 
and Guilds or similar, Degree, HND, HNC etc. or a qualification equivalent to any 
previously listed issued by a recognised examining body in an English speaking 
country other than the UK). The weight given to the subject and grade achieved will 
be assessed on a case-by-case basis. 

(c) Applicants who cannot demonstrate an adequate or reasonable level of spoken 
English and/or a suitable qualification will be required to undertake an independent 
assessment of their spoken English. 

(d) Applicants who are clearly fluent English speakers will require no further assessment 
and may proceed with their application in full. 
 

4. The first assessment of all new applicants’ level of spoken English, whether on the 
telephone or in person will be made by a Case Manager. Where in the opinion of the 
Case Manager the applicant does not have an adequate or reasonable level of 
spoken English, the applicant will be informed of the spoken English requirement and 
procedure. 
 

5. Applicants who have difficulty in clearly expressing themselves and who cannot 
produce a suitable qualification listed above will be referred to the Licensing 
Specialist who will make a second assessment and if necessary inform the applicant 
of the requirement to take the spoken English assessment test. 
 

6. The Licensing Specialist’s decision is final. 
 



 

64 

 

TAKING THE TEST 
 

7. The spoken English assessment test is a pre-application requirement undertaken at 
the applicant’s own expense at a cost of £40.00 (payable before the test is taken) 
and must be successfully completed before proceeding with the full application 
procedure. 
 

8. The applicant will be required to submit a completed application form (no fee to be 
paid at that time) together with photographic proof of identification i.e. passport 
and/or driving licence. A photograph will also be taken of the applicant at the time of 
submission of the application form and the applicant’s identity will also be confirmed 
at the time of taking the test. 
 

9. Tests will be taken in a South Hams or West Devon Council building. (Totnes or 
Tavistock).  
 

10. If the applicant has a mobile telephone it must be switched off to avoid any 
interruptions. 
 

11. Applicants will be told that the tests are recorded by the test provider and any attempt 
to cheat, for example by using their mobile telephone to attempt to get a fluent 
English speaker to complete the test will be detected by the system and the applicant 
will be automatically failed and will not be allowed to take another test or continue 
with their application. 
 

12. Test dates will depend on demand and room booking availability. 
 
       

TEST PROCESS  
 

13. On the day of the test, the applicant will be escorted to the room by a Case Manager. 
The Case Manager will dial the number to the test provider and pass the telephone to 
the applicant and leave the room. 
 

14. The English test assessment consists of a 15 minute exercise, taken by telephone 
during which applicants will be tested on various aspects of their speaking and 
listening ability. 
 

15. The assessment is provided by a specialist education and testing company and 
consists of: 
 
1. Repeating back sentences that are read to the applicant over the phone. 
2. Answering simple questions asked over the phone. 
3. Constructing sentences from fragments read to the applicant over the phone 

(sentences divided into 3 or 4 parts) 
4. Answering open questions asked over the phone (speaking for up to 30 seconds 

per question). 
 

16. The test is entirely automated, and questions will be asked by a variety of voices. 
 

17. All of the questions will relate to normal life and the applicant’s day-to-day activities; 
there are no trick questions. 
 

18. The applicant will also be graded separately on sentence usage, vocabulary, fluency 
and pronunciation, all of which contribute to the overall score. 



 

65 

 

 
19. At the end of the test the Case Manager will contact the test provider via the website, 

access the applicant’s result, a report will be produced (a copy of which will be 
provided to the applicant) with a score indicating their overall ability. 
  

20. The test scoring will be set at CEFR Level B2. 
 

21. For licensing purposes, applicants will need to score at least 56 out of 80. This shows 
a good use of the English language, where applicants will be able to speak fluently 
on a range of everyday topics and be able to give and understand most instructions. 
 

22. When passed, the pass certificate will be downloaded direct from the test provider’s 
website the same day and provided to the applicant. 
 

23. Failure to pass the minimum CEFR level B2 (56 out of 80) will require a further test to 
be taken. 
 

24. There is no right of appeal where the applicant has failed to gain the minimum pass 
level of 56. 
 

25. Unsuccessful applicants should be given an information sheet with the contacts of 
local colleges and courses where they may take further study to improve their spoken 
English. All training will be done at the applicant’s own expense. 
 

26. No person may re-sit the test within 28 days of taking a previous test. 
 

27. Returning applicants may show that they have a reasonable standard of spoken 
English either through the production of a certificate following the successful 
completion of an accredited spoken English qualification at level 1 or above, or 
successfully completing the spoken English assessment test detailed above. 
 

28. Applicants choosing to re-take the spoken English assessment test will have to pay 
the required fee.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

66 

 

APPENDIX F 
 

 

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) 
 

 
 
The requirement for type approval for factory built WAVs became compulsory in April 2012. 
Before this date, certification was on a voluntary basis. 
 
There are four types of certification: 
 
EC Whole Vehicle Type Approval (ECWVTA) is based around EC Directives and provides 
for the approval of vehicles manufactured in large numbers. A Certificate of Conformity is 
issued and this is accepted throughout the EU without the need for further testing until a 
standard is updated or your design changes. 
 
ECSSTA (EC Small Series Type Approval) has been created for low volume car producers 
only, and like full ECWVTA will allow Europe wide sales but with technical and administrative 
requirements that are more adapted to smaller businesses 
 
NSSTA (National Small Series Type Approval) is a UK national scheme for low volume 
manufacturers who intend to sell only in the UK. Like ECWVTA, once the design is 
approved, individual vehicles do not need to be tested. 
 
IVA (Individual Vehicle Approval) is a UK national scheme and the most likely route for 
those manufacturing or importing single vehicles or very small numbers. Under IVA, vehicles 
have to be inspected by the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) in Great Britain or 
the Driver Vehicle Agency (DVA) in Northern Ireland. 
 
The above approvals are only granted after thorough vehicle testing and inspection.  
 
For vehicles already holding one of the above Type Approval Certifications after 
modification: 
 

• The ECWTVA (Full M1 or M1 Stage 2 Certification), ECSSTA, NSSTA or IVA 
certification must be provided. The document and the DVLA logbook (V5) must have 
been issued or updated after the changes were made.  

• Documents concerning the vehicle conversion should be obtained from the 
organisation that converted the vehicle where possible. 

• The proposed vehicle will undergo a physical inspection at one of the vehicle testing 
garages to identify and assess the condition of the changes made to the vehicle. This 
is in addition to the standard Vehicle Inspection Test and MOT requirement. 

 
For vehicles without Type Approval after modification: 
 

• Documentation concerning the vehicle conversion or change from the organisation that 
converted the vehicle must be provided. This is to identify what changes have been 
made and when they were made. 

• Certificate of Conformity from the original manufacturer (e.g. Citroen, Peugeot) this 
may be obtained by contacting the company directly or through a local dealership. This 
gives an overview of the vehicle in its pre-modified state and assists in identifying what 
modifications have been made. 



 

67 

 

• Voluntary IVA certification, this can be obtained through the Driver and Vehicle 
Standards Agency (DVSA.) In line with DVSA recommendations, applicants must 
obtain ‘Voluntary IVA’ certification under class P (Personal Import) and (if fitted with a 
Disabled access and seating positions) class D (Disabled persons vehicle). The tests 
have to be conducted under the Voluntary scheme because registered vehicles cannot 
be tested under a statutory test. Once Voluntary IVA certification is issued, the DVLA 
V5 logbook must also be updated to recognise the changes. 
 

• The proposed vehicle will need a physical inspection at one of the designated vehicle 
testing garages to identify and assess the condition of the modifications made to the 
vehicle. This is addition to the standard Vehicle Inspection Test and MOT 
requirement. 

 
Vehicle Passenger Lifts and Platforms 
 
Vehicle passenger lifts and platforms come in a number of styles and designs to suit 
different applications and types of vehicles, including motorised ‘tail lifts’.  
 
The vehicle operator should carry out a comprehensive risk analysis to establish any 
limitations that may need to be placed on the use of a lift. This risk analysis should take into 
account the wheelchair user’s requirements, the type and weight of the wheelchair and the 
type and capacity of the lift and vehicle. Liaison with users and wheelchair service providers, 
before journeys are taken, should provide the required details of combined weight for a 
wheelchair and user. A risk management plan should then be created to lessen and manage 
risks for all concerned. 
 
Vehicle passenger lifts are regulated by the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment 
Regulations 1998 (LOLER). Such devices must comply with statutory regulations. An 
appropriate and current LOLER certificate must be provided before the vehicle may be 
licensed. 
 
If such a device is fitted to a currently licensed vehicle, the vehicle shall not be used as a 
licensed vehicle until the above requirements are met, a Voluntary IVA will be required in 
order to assess the change to the vehicle. 
 
General safety guidelines for wheelchair/user transportation 
 

• Wheelchair users should transfer to vehicle seats whenever possible; 
 

• Wheelchair users should not travel with the wheelchair at an angle or facing 
sideways; 

 

• There should be enough free space around the wheelchair and user to avoid the user 
making contact with other vehicle occupants, unpadded parts of the vehicle, 
wheelchair accessories or WTORS anchor points; 

 

• Wheelchairs should have their parking brakes applied and their power units switched 
off during vehicle movement. Powered wheelchairs should not be left in freewheel 
mode; 

 

• Wheelchairs should not block gangways and exits for other passengers in the 
vehicle; 

 



 

68 

 

• A headrest should be provided for a wheelchair user when travelling in a vehicle 
where other seated passengers have headrests; 

 

• Grab handles must be fitted in appropriate positions in all passenger access door 
entrances to help passengers enter and leave from the vehicle while using any steps 
provided. 

 

• There must be no steps within the passenger compartment. 
 

• All floor areas and passageways between seats over which passengers will be 
expected to pass must be free of all steps, obstacles or trip hazards and have a slip 
resistant surface. 

 

• All passenger seats must be provided with a lap and diagonal 3 point seat belt. 
 

• The passenger(s) confined to a wheelchair must be provided with a lap and diagonal 
3 point seat belt. 

 

• All seat belts must be fitted to the vehicle with the number of anchorage points 
suitable to the type of seat belt, all anchorage points must comply with M1 criteria. 

 

• The vehicle must have a minimum seating capacity for 4 passengers with at least 
one passenger seated in a wheelchair and a maximum of 8 passengers with at least 
one passenger seated in a wheelchair. 

 

• In vehicles where passengers will be travelling in their wheelchair facing the back of 
the vehicle, a bulkhead/drivers safety screen should be fitted, and it should be a full 
width, full height screen fitted directly behind the driver’s seat. The upper section of 
the bulkhead/safety screen should contain a clear vision panel to allow the driver to 
be able to see a substantial amount of the passenger compartment, which must 
include vision of all access doors. 

 

• The bulkhead/safety screen should allow communication between the driving  
and passenger compartments. 

 

• The bulkhead/safety screen should have no gaps that would allow a passenger to 
reach into the driver’s compartment from the passenger compartment. 

 

• The vision panel section of the bulkhead/safety screen should be made of safety 
glass or any clear material with at least the same impact resistance and safety 
qualities as that safety glass. 

 

• A lightweight ramp or ramps for the loading of a wheelchair and occupant must be 
available at all times for use at the nearside rear passenger door for side loading of 
wheelchairs. 

 

• A ramp or ramps for the loading of a wheelchair and occupant should have a single 
continuous surface when deployed. For rear loading vehicles, the ramp should be 
available at all times for use at the rear door. 

 

• A Safe Working Load (SWL) test must be taken with the SWL prominently marked on 
the ramp. The ramp must be accompanied by documentary evidence of a SWL test. 

 



 

69 

 

• An adequate locking device must be fitted to make sure that the ramp/s do not slip or 
tilt when in use. 

 

• Provision must be made for the ramps to be permanently stored in the vehicle safely 
when not in use. 

 

• Where there are demountable seats which are removed for the purpose of providing 
space for wheelchair passengers, these will need specific approval from the 
Licensing Authority on a case-by-case basis. Fold away seats are allowed, providing 
they remain attached to the vehicle. 

 
  
Regard should be given to the BPG1 Transportation of People Seated in Wheelchairs (2013), 
Guidance on the Safe Transportation of Wheelchairs (2001) and where relevant the Guidance 
on the Safe Use of Wheelchairs and Vehicle-Mounted Passenger Lifts (2001). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



 

70 

 

APPENDIX G 
 

 

Euro NCAP Star Safety Rating 
 

 

Euro NCAP has created the five-star safety rating system to help consumers, their families 
and businesses compare vehicles more easily and to help them identify the safest choice for 
their needs.  
 
The safety rating is determined from a series of vehicle tests, designed and carried out by 
Euro NCAP. These tests represent, in a simplified way, important real life accident scenarios 
that could result in injured or killed car occupants or other road users. 
 
While a safety rating can never fully capture the complexity of the real world, the vehicle 
improvements and the technology brought the past years about by the application of high 
safety standards have been shown to deliver a true benefit to consumers in Europe and to 
society as a whole. 
 
The following provides some general guidance as to what safety performance the stars refer 
to in today's system: 

 

 

5 stars safety: Overall good performance in crash protection. 
Well equipped with robust crash avoidance technology 

 

4 stars safety: Overall good performance in crash protection; 
additional crash avoidance technology may be present 

 

3 stars safety: Average to good occupant protection but 
lacking crash avoidance technology 

 

2 stars safety: Nominal crash protection but lacking crash 
avoidance technology 

 
1 star safety: Marginal crash protection 

 
The Licensing Authority’s main duty is to protect the public from harm and therefore feel that 
it is necessary that all vehicles licensed by West Devon Borough Council must have a 4 or 5 
star Euro NCAP Safety Rating.  
 
Example vehicles that achieve a 4 or 5 star safety rating can be found below: 
 
 



 

71 

 

Euro NCAP Classification  Example Vehicle Makes & Models 

Supermini 
Nissan Micra, Suzuki Swift, Ford KA, Fiat 500, MINI 
Cooper, Vauxhall Corsa, Smart Fortwo 

Small Family Car 
Renault Megane, Audi A3, Honda HR-V, Niassan 
Qashqai, Volkswagen Golf, Volvo V40 

Large Family Car 
Ford Mondeo, Toyota Prius, Skoda Superb, Audi A4, 
Volkswagen Passat, Volvo V60, Vauxhall Insignia  

Executive 
Jaguar XF, Mercedes-Benz E-Class, Volvo V90, BMW 
5 Series, Audi A6, Tesla Model S 

Roadster Sport 
Audi TT, Vauxhall Tigra, BMW Z4, Mazda MX-5, 
Mercedes Benz SLK, Ford Mustang 

Small MPV 
Volkswagen Touran, Vauxhall Zafira, Peugeot Partner, 
Citroen C4 Picasso, MINI Countryman 

Large MPV 
Ford Galaxy, Chrysler Voyager, Volkswagen Sharan, 
Seat Alhambra, Mercedes Benz Viano 

Small Off-road 
Audi Q2, Volkswagen Tiguan, BMW X3, Land Rover 
Freelander, Kia Sportage, Ford Kuga 

Large Off-road 
Land Rover Discovery, Jeep Cherokee, Audi Q7, 
Volkswagen X5, Ford Edge, Suzuki Grand Vitara 

Business and Family Van 
Renault Trafic, Vauxhall Vivaro, Peugeot Expert, Fiat 
Scudo, Ford Transit, Volkswagen T5 

Pick up 
Nissan Navara, Ford Ranger, Volkswagen Amarok, 
Toyota Hilux, Mitsubishi L200, Isuzu D-MAX 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

72 

 

APPENDIX H 

 
 

Towing Trailer Requirements 
 

 
 
Licensed hackney carriage and private hire vehicles are allowed to tow trailers, providing they 
meet the following requirements at all times: 
 
Trailer requirements 
 

1. Unbraked trailers shall be less than 750kg gross weight. 
2. Trailers over 750kg gross weight shall be braked acting on at least two road wheels. 
3. The towing vehicle must have a kerb weight of at least twice the gross weight of the 

trailer. 
4. A suitable lid or other approved means of enclosure shall be fitted to secure the 

contents within the trailer when in use and to keep it watertight. 
5. The maximum permissible length of the trailer shall be 7 metres, including the drawbar 

and coupling. 
6. The width of the trailer shall not be greater than the towing vehicle, subject to no trailer 

being wider than 2.3 metres. 
7. The maximum length for braked twin axle trailers is 5.54 metres. 
8. The trailer must at all times comply with all Road Traffic legislation requirements. 
9. Trailers must have been manufactured by a recognised manufacturer and have not 

been structurally altered since manufacture.  
10. The trailer shall not display any form of sign or advertisement not required or approved 

by the Licensing Authority or Road Traffic legislation. All signage shall be in 
accordance with the signage approved in the attached Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy. 

 
Additional requirements 
 

1. The licensed towing vehicle’s insurance must cover the towing of a trailer. 
2. Trailers must not be left unattended anywhere on the highway. 
3. Trailers must not be used when plying for hire on a rank. 
4. Trailers may only be used for pre-arranged journeys where the passengers’ luggage 

cannot be safely accommodated within the vehicle and only while the vehicle is hired 
by a passenger in the vehicle. 

5. The speed restrictions applicable to trailers must be observed at all times. 
6. A spare wheel for the trailer and adequate tools to change a wheel must be carried at 

all times by a licensed vehicle while towing a trailer. 
7. The tow bar must meet with the type approval regulations. 
8. Drivers of vehicles towing trailers must make sure that they have the correct driving 

licence group to allow them to tow the relevant trailer. 
9. Before use with the licensed vehicle, an inspection of the trailer must be carried out by 

one of the Council’s approved testing centres as part of the specified vehicle’s 
Certificate of Compliance inspection. 

10. Approval must be given by the Licensing Authority, before the use of the trailer. Once 
approved, an additional licence plate will be issued which must be fixed to the back of 
the trailer whenever the trailer is towed by the licensed vehicle. There is an additional 
fee for the issue of a licence plate for a trailer. 

 



 

73 

 

Before using a trailer regard must be given to guidance produced by the National Trailer and 
Towing Association which can be found on their website: www.ntta.co.uk . 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

74 

 

APPENDIX I 
 

 

Limousines and Novelty Vehicles 
 

 
 
1 Recommended Conditions and Requirements for licensed Stretch Limousines 
 
1.1 The vehicle must have a valid Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) Certificate. 
1.2 A front seat for the driver only. 
1.3 A maximum passenger accommodation of 8 as stated on the V5C document (note 

for the purpose of calculating seating capacity the measure unit of a single seat shall 
be 43cm (17”) per person). 

1.4 All seat positions must be fitted with approved 3 point inertia seat belts. 
1.5 An overall minimum vehicle height of 135 cm (53”). 
1.6 An engine rating providing adequate power relative to the size of the vehicle.  
 
2 Appearance of Vehicle 

 
2.1 The owner shall make sure that the limousine is of a type approved by the Council. 
2.2 The maximum length of the vehicle “stretch” shall not exceed 3048 millimetres (120 

inches), with the exception of the Cadillac which shall not exceed 3302 millimetres 
(130 inches). 

2.3 The vehicle should be equipped with a minimum of four road wheels and one full 
sized spare wheel. The tyres shall be of an approved rating as specified by the tyre 
manufacturer for weight and speed of the vehicle e.g. 235/75R 15 108S (BF 
Goodrich Extra Load or equivalent). 

2.4 The front windscreen shall allow 75% light transmittance and the front driver and 
passenger windows shall allow 70% light transmittance. 

2.5 No self-adhesive material (tinted or clear) shall be affixed to any part of the glass 
2.6 There must be enough internal light to enable passengers to enter and leave the 

vehicle safely.  
2.7 The internal fittings and furniture of the limousine must be kept in a clean, well 

maintained condition and in every way fit and safe for public use. 
2.8 Facilities must be provided for the safe conveyance of luggage at the discretion of 

the driver / operator. 
2.9 The vehicle must have at least two doors for use of persons carried in the limousine 

and a separate means of entry and exit for the driver. Doors must be capable of 
being readily opened from inside and outside the vehicle by one operation. 

2.10 The outside of the limousine must be kept in a clean condition at all times. 
2.11 Facilities must be provided to make sure that any person travelling in the limousine 

can talk with the driver. 
 
3 Documentation Required 

 
3.1 The following documentation in original form or certified copies (not photocopies) 

shall be produced before licensing: 
a) Completed importation documentation 
b) A qualified Vehicle Modifier certificate – (QVM). This is issued by the Coach 

Builder, or A CMC (Cadillac Master Coachbuilder) certificate 
c) A valid Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) certificate issued by VOSA 



 

75 

 

d) A current MOT Test Certificate (issued by a VOSA garage) with further MOT’s 
to be carried out twice a year 

e) A current Certificate of Compliance as specified at section 25 and Appendix 
K of this policy. This test must be taken every ten weeks. 

f) DVLA registration document (V5C). 
g) Insurance documents covering Hire and Reward and Public Liability Insurance. 
h) Vehicles converted to run on LPG must produce an installation certificate from a 

LPGA approved UK vehicle conversion company – see section 23 of this policy 
i) Documentation to show the overall weight of the vehicle (as displayed on the 

vehicle). 
j) Up-to-date Vehicle Excise Duty (car tax). 
k) PRS, PPL and VPL licences if playing music or videos. 
 
4 Passengers 

 
4.1 Vehicles with a seating capacity of more than 8 seats plus driver will not be licensed. 
4.2 The limousine shall not carry a greater number of passengers than the number 

prescribed in the licence to a maximum of 8 persons (N.B. A babe-in-arms is classed 
as a person whatever age). 

4.3 Where the passengers in the vehicle include persons under the age of 14 years they 
must be accompanied by a responsible adult, other than the driver, who is over the 
age of 18 years. 

4.4 All passengers must remain seated at all times when the vehicle is in motion. 
4.5 All passengers must wear seatbelts while the vehicle is in motion 
4.6 Passengers will not be carried in the front of the vehicle. 
4.7 Passengers must not be carried in side-facing seats, regardless of whether the 

vehicle is fitted with or without seatbelts. 
 
5 Operators 
 
5.1 The owner of the vehicle: 

a) Shall make sure that the vehicle is at all times only driven by a person who 
holds a current Private Hire drivers licence issued by West Devon Borough 
Council; 

b) Shall not allow to be carried in the vehicle more than the number of persons 
for which the vehicle is licensed, regardless of the age or size of the 
passengers; and 

c) Shall not supply any intoxicating liquor in the vehicle unless there is in force 
an appropriate licence permitting the sale or supply of same. 

 
6 Driver and Operator Licensing Requirements 

 
6.1 In addition to the limousine/specialist vehicle being licensed as a Private Hire vehicle 

with WDBC the limousine/specialist vehicle operator is required to hold a Private Hire 
operators’ licence with the WDBC. 

6.2 All bookings for a vehicle licensed as a Private Hire must be booked through the 
licensed Private Hire operator. 

6.3 Once licensed as a Private Hire vehicle, the limousine/specialist vehicle can only be 
driven by a Private Hire driver licensed by WDBC. 

6.4 Details in respect of applications for Private Hire drivers’ licences and Private Hire 
operators’ licences can be obtained from the Licensing Section. 

 
 
 
 



 

76 

 

7  Rights of Appeal 
 

7.1 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 sections 48 and 77 
details an applicant’s right of appeal. In general terms where an applicant is unhappy 
with the Council’s decision to refuse to grant a Private Hire vehicle licence or by any 
conditions imposed on a Private Hire vehicle licence the applicant has a right of 
appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the applicant being notified of the 
Council’s decision. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

77 

 

APPENDIX J 
 

 
Vehicle Testing 

 
 

1.1 The inspection required for the Certificate of Compliance will be carried out in 
accordance with the Freight Transport Association: Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Vehicles National Inspection Standards Best Practice Guidance. 
Please see www.fta.co.uk for the full FTA Guidance document, it is also available 
on our website www.southhams.gov.uk or by contacting the Licensing Authority. 

 

1.2 The following aspects will be included in the test: 
 

i) Lamps, reflectors and electrical equipment 
- Electrical wiring and equipment 
- Additional lamps 

ii) Steering and suspension 
- Steering control – steering wheel 
- Steering control – steering column 
- Suspension spring units and linkage 

iii) Brakes 
iv) Tyres and road wheels 
v) Seat belts and supplementary restraint systems 
vi) Body, structure and general items 

- Vehicle body and condition (exterior) 
- Vehicle body, security and condition (interior) 
- Bumper bars 
- Doors and seats 

vii) Exhaust, fuel and emissions 
- Exhaust system 
- Fuel system – pipes and tanks 

viii) Driver’s view of the road 
- Mirrors and view to the rear 
- Windscreen – view to the front 
- Window glass or other transparent material 

ix) Additional requirements 
- Transmission 
- Oil and water leaks 
- Luggage/load space 
- Trailers and towbars 

x) Ancillary equipment 
- Wheelchair restraint and access equipment 

xi) Novelty vehicles 
- Seating capacity 
- Undue stresses 

 
1.3 The Licensing Authority has XX (TBC) approved testing centres where the vehicles 

may have the inspection. The approved testing centres are listed below: Vehicles must 
be inspected at a VOSA approved testing centre in accordance with the FTA standards 



 

78 

 

and a Certificate of Compliance issued. The certificate template will be provided by the 
Licensing Authority. 

 
1.4 Vehicles must be tested prior to the first licence being issued and then yearly up to the 

age of 3 years. The test must be taken no more than one month before the new or 
renewal licence application being submitted. 

 
1.5 After the age of 3 years, vehicles must be tested every six months. One of these tests 

must be taken no more than one month prior to the new or renewal licence application 
being submitted.  

 
1.6 After the age of 10 years, the vehicles must also be inspected yearly by a Licensing 

Officer before the vehicle licence can be granted or renewed. 
 
1.7 Limousines and other novelty vehicles must be tested every ten weeks. 
 
1.8 Vehicle tests must be arranged by the vehicle licence applicant/licence holder directly 

with the testing centre. It is the applicant/licence holder’s responsibility to make sure 
that the test has been completed and the certificate issued before the end of the vehicle 
licence. 

 
1.9 Should a licensed vehicle require repairs following an accident, the vehicle must have 

an additional test and provide a new Certificate of Compliance to the Licensing 
Authority to make sure that the vehicle is safe and continues to meet the required 
standards. 

 
1.10 If a vehicle fails an inspection for serious body damage or mechanical defects it will be 

given a written prohibition notice. The vehicle must not be used as a Private Hire or 
Hackney Carriage vehicle until the damage or defect has been corrected and the 
vehicle has been re-tested and issued with a new Certificate of Compliance. 

 
1.11 To allow a thorough examination of a vehicle, it must be presented for the test in a 

clean condition, inside and out and without excessive oil leaks. The vehicle 
presented will fail the test if, in the opinion of the vehicle examiner, the vehicle is so 
dirty that it would be unreasonable for the test to be carried out. 

 
1.12 Vehicles should be well maintained throughout the licence period with regular checks 

made by the licence holder. The vehicle tests should not be relied upon as the only 
time vehicles are checked, any issues should be rectified before the inspections. 
Licensed drivers found to be using vehicles which would not meet the required 
standard may be awarded penalty points, see section 40 of the policy document and 
Appendix C. 

 
1.13 Once a Certificate of Compliance has been given it should be sent to the Licensing 

Authority in addition to:  
 

a) The fully completed vehicle licence application form 
b) An insurance certificate / cover note which gives details of the insurance cover for 

Public Hire (Hackney Carriage) or Private Hire for Hire and Reward. 
c) Public liability insurance certificate / cover note which gives details of the insurance 

cover for a minimum of £5million. 
d) The vehicle registration document (V5C) showing the current owner’s name and 

address OR the ‘green slip’ from the V5C with a proof of purchase/bill of sale. 
 

 



 

79 

 

APPENDIX K 
 

 
Penalty Points System – Private Hire Operators 

 
 

Offence/Cause Penalty/Points Person 
Responsible  

Period to Stay on 
File 

1. Failure to display 
Operator’s Licence 

3 Operator 12 Months 

2. Failure to notify 
Licensing Office of 
any convictions, 
cautions or motoring 
offences within 5 
working days 

6 and or referral to 
Sub-Committee 

Operator 18 Months 

3. Failure to notify 
Licensing Office or 
any transfer in 
ownership/partners 
or change in 
company name 
within 5 working 
days 

1st offence 3 penalty 
points and 
subsequent offence 
6 penalty points 

Operator 12 Months 

4. Failure to notify 
Licensing Office of 
change of home 
address, business 
address or operating 
base within 5 
working days 

1st offence 3 penalty 
points and 
subsequent offence 
6 penalty points 

Operator 12 Months 

5. Failure to keep 
legible manual or 
computerised 
records of bookings 
for 6 months  

6 Operator 12 Months 

6. Failure to produce 
records of bookings 
for inspection for the 
last 6 months  

6 Operator 12 Months 

7. Failure to keep 
records of vehicles 
used under the 
Operator Licence for 
a period of 6 months 
after they leave 

6 Operator 12 Months 

8. Failure to keep 
records of drivers 
used under the 
Operator’s Licence 
for a period of 6 
months after they 
leave 

6 Operator 12 Months 



 

80 

 

9. Failure to produce 
records of vehicle or 
drivers for inspection 
for a period of 6 
months after they 
leave 

6 Operator 12 Months 

10. Knowingly 
allowing or 
permitting 
unlicensed drivers or 
vehicles to work  

Automatic referral to 
Sub-Committee or 
prosecution  

Operator 5 Years 

11. Any other 
reasonable cause 
under Section 62 
LG(MP) Act 1976 

Operators choice of 
3 penalty points or 
referral to Sub-
Committee 

Operator 12 Months 

12. Refusal to 
produce any 
documentation 
requested 

Automatic referral to 
Sub-Committee and 
or prosecution 

Operator 12 Months 

13. Failure to attend 
a Sub-Committee 
when informed to do 
so 

1 – 6 for Sub-
Committee to 
determine 

Operator 12 Months 

14. Appearance 
before a Sub-
Committee 
reference 
allegations of 
misconduct 

1 – 12 for Sub-
Committee to 
determine 

Operator For Sub-Committee 
to determine 

 


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	Minutes from meeting held on 28 September 2017
	Minutes from Meeting held on 8 November 2017
	Minutes from meeting held on 8 November (2) 2017

	5 Planning Applications
	Appeal Appendix

	6 Planning Appeals Update
	Appeals

	7 Approval of policy in relation to the licensing of Taxi drivers and vehicles
	Appendix


